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krt A i h ,  June and July, 19 75, Waggoner, I l l i n o l s  . 
Horace Waggoner, h t  erviewer . 

I was helping thresh on a place and w e  were out quite a distance 
from any buildings, but there w a s  a swamp right ahead of us fill of 
willows and in the middle of t h i s  s w a  an old crow had b u i l t  her 
nest up in the top of a cottonwood t r ee .  And t h i s  storm c a m  across 
forty acres of corn. It looked l l k e  a r o l l e r  had rol led through there, 
just  l i k e  exactly. Well, I had a load of wheat on and I s d d  t a  the 
pltcher,  'What had we be t t e r  do?" He says, "You drlve off  that w a y .  
That's agolng northeast, s t ra l$nt .  Drive southeast and you ' l l  be a11 
ri@t. " Well, I hopped off the load and drove It southeast. I could 
see what It was doing. 

[There were] som big  haystacks r ight  by the s ide of where I pulled 
of f  t o  and tha t  storm mlssed them by f i f t y  yards, at least, and a f t e r  
it was c lear  passed, looked t o  me like--the twlster ,  you know, was 
c lear  passed--the tops of those stacks just2piled off  and took off 
after t ha t  thing l i k e  they w a s  pald for  it. It headed r ight  Into 
tha t  s w q  where the  old cmw was se t t ing  and it picked her up--there 
wasn't any raln i n  this--it picked her off of tha t  nest and she went 
up and up and Y$ and up, and aflying as hard as she could. You could 
see tha t ,  and a l l  at once it just  dashed her  t o  the pound Eke tha t ,  
and broke her wlng. One of the r r m  went out and picked her up. 

Now, that  was jus t  a big whiirlwlnd. No rafn  In it. No thmder o r  
l i&tning.  It was out of a b ig  cloud, of course. That ' s  the closest 
I was ever t o  anything tha t  whi rkd  lFke tha t .  

Q. Kind of a smZl tornado, then. 

A. Yes , It was . 
Q. Have you ever seen a tornado i n  this part  of the country? 

A. We had one go thmu@ here one time since I lived here. It w a s  go* 
by us a half  rd l e  nofih and I thought It was passed. We were standing 
watchhg out of these wlndows, and a l l  at once it jus t  t m e d  around and 
come back here, just  l i ke  tha t .  Tnis yard was surrounded with great large 
maple t r ees ,  I e x p c t  f l f ' ty  years old, and they were only ten  feet apart. 
It was a t e r r i b l e  mss of tirrber up there.  It h i t  that  m d  it tom off  
those 1Inbs. H@t here by the s ide of the h~use ,  outabout  twenty steps, 

'Mr. A l b m  volunteered additional narration before s t m i n g  
review of thils sesslon. See addenda item 103. 

2~ee  addenda Item 104 .  



was a sugar m p l e  t r ee ,  o r  a hard mple ,  and it brought all those limbs 
and stacked them around that  thing. It saved the house by s t a c k b g  
them mound tha t .  You could walk rI&t around tha t  tree like you was 
in a t en t  af'ter it got by. Limbs s e t  up in It and down i n  the pound, 
you know. Tnere was a large t r e e  ri&t south of the ce l l a r  there,  a 
large mple .  Oh, it w a s  over s1.x fee t  throu@. I went t o  look t o  see 
i f  it had broke, I fipyred it w a s  hollow. 

You'd see a lirrSs and then you wouldn't see It. I never seen a 1hb 
blow off .  You'd just see a l i r r S 3  and then it was gone.3 I hauled loads 
of 1lrhs out of nly pasture down there .  Brought them up here md burned 
them a f t e r  it waS, over. It shot one of them thmu@ that  wllndow, r imt  
i n k 0  the room, about a ten-foot l i m b .  

&. Rf&t in to  the l iv ing  mom, then. 

4 A. Yes. That 's the  only damage It done, t o  speak o f ,  outside of 
ba l l ing  up t r ees  f o r  ITE t o  chop (lams) for about a week. 

Q. D i d  you ever have much cmp damage f r o m  heavy rains, or haill, o r  . . . 
A. No, I ' ve been unusually fortunate i n  tha t .  Chinch byg was  the biggest 
destroyer I ever had. A s  7: t o ld  you, tha t  one year I had twenty acres of 
corn jus t  about like t ha t ,  a l l  l a i d  by and geeen as the corn is now, and 
i n  three days there wasn't a s t a lk  i n  siat. Not a stalk1 They cleaned 
the whole thing and went on over Into a clover madow. O f  course then 
they took wing and flew fo r  green s t u f f .  That was n ~ y  worst expertence 
here. But I never shucked an ear of corn tha t  year. Not an ear. 

Q. You wntioned the Farrr~ Bureau tha t  cam over and helped you with 
culling the chickens. Were there any other t h i n g  tha t  the Farm Bureau 
was doing i n  those days? 

A. Well, they would help you with anything tha t  you'd ask them t o .  That 
was one of the things--really, I think tha t  was one of the biggest things 
tha t  that fellow ever put over, because there was a b ig  crowd here, I ex- 
pect f S t y  people, fo r  that culling. Tney got the  idea, then, of how t o  
pick laying hens and everybow profited by it, oh, a l l  wound. A l l  over 
the townshlp. Proflted by tha t  culling, and it did ITE no h m .  It did 
me a l o t  of good because it took out a l l  the old deadheads, you know, as  
I sald.  Well, af'temard I read everything I could, then, on how t o  cull 
chickens. I culled rqy own af'ter t ha t .  I. never had t o  c a l l  on hlm any more. 

The f i r s t  t lm I called him up, I called him UQ about a proposition on 
s o w  rough w u n d  I had. Corn ground got a l i t t l e  too dry and It was 
PO@. And I didn't  qurlte how what t o  do wlth it and I called h i m  up 
here. I took him r ight  in to  the f l e l d  and I says, "Now, what am I t o  do 
with th is?"  And I thoup$t he would give IE some expl ic i t  direction, but 
he says, "Well now, M r .  So-and-so, down here, bad the sam proposition 

3 ~ e e  addenda item 105. 
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and he dld t h i s .  M r .  So-and-so, way out here, had the s m  proposition 
and he did so, cer tain things. " He never recomnded a single tlxlng. 
He jus t  t o ld  what others had done. Well, I was t o  draw QJ own conclu- 
sions f r o m  the bunch, you see, and. go ahead and do the work. So, it 
helped UP out a l o t ,  because I found what those b ig  f m r s  w e r e  dolng 
and I did likewise. 

&. What do you rean the ~ u n d  was rough? 

A.  Oh, you couldn't reduce clods. Big clods, Too dry when we plowed 
it. You couldn I t  reduce clods. That was before I had an Iron r o l l e r .  
The next yeas, why, I got an i ron ro l l e r .  If I ' d  had tha t  i ron  r o l l e r ,  
I needn't have called him, because they had the i ron rollers t ha t  were 
corrugated and they would cut as well as mash, and I could have fixed 
tha t  very nicely.  

Q. What did you do that  year? 

A. I don't r e ~ r r b e r  par t icular ly,  any mre than that I double disced. 
Went In with a d isc  and double cut it; cut It both directions and then 
put the harrow on behind the disc,  with f ive  horses on it, the last time, 
That leveled it up and I could plant, then, Porn tha t .  I got a good 
stand of corn. 

Q. Was the Farm Bureau orggnlzcd in to  groups? Did you belong t o  the 
Farm Bureau? 

A. It was organized by counties. Yes, I joined tha t .  Gne of the first 
wrrbers, I expect, t ha t  they had there,  at tha t  time. &cause it appealed 
t o  me. I had been takl.ng Wallace F m r .  I don't know whether you ever 
rcad Wallace F m r  o r  not. 

Q. No, sir. 

A. The old man Wallace tha t  s t a r t ed  tha t  paper was a Presbyterian preacher, 
but a f m r  . He was the most hear%-to-hemt talker you ever saw, through 
the pr in t .  HE could just make you see it, throue;h prilnt. He adv;lsed a l l  
the new f m r s  , and everybody e lse ,  what t o  do. Readlng hl_m made me anxj.ous 
t o  be i n  such an organization as the Farm Bureau. So, when they came-I've 
belonged t o  it now f o r  fo r t y  o r  Tlfty years, I don't know how long. I missed 
one ye-. I w a s  away. I sold OIL arid travelled fo r  one ycar and I missed 
out on the F m  Bweau. That was the only year I w a s  ever out of It. 

&. Did they have regular meetings tha t  you attended? 

A. Yes, they had a reW:Lm sne&j.ng t o  e1.ec.I; officers every yew, a t  a 
cer tain t h e  of the year. Thcn thcy provided refr.eshmnts, and families 
and a l l  came. Course, by that tim, the woren had a n  or  zatlon too, 
that they worked In. It w a s  v e ~ y  educatfonal and, as I F ;old you, t h i s  mn 
was a wonderf'ul m. And then, there was a m l l v d  southeast of Fiaymmd. 
S m  Sor9rels. - R - R - - 1 .  T want hl:; r i m  on there because he was so 
h e w t  anci soul with tha t  :arid. he wis ca.lled M r .  F d m  Burem. (laughs) Roy, 
he d i d  convurt rnorc farmers, because he w a s  an honest Christian rran and 



they belleved 

He had a very 
acres tha t  he 

him. ' 
good farm, or  rather  h i s  wife did, two hundred and twenty 
f m d .  I-Ie and I had grown up together so  tha t  he always 

wanted t o  help re any way he could. He'd invi te  me down t o  see h i s  seed- 
lngs of a l f a l f a  and h i s  seedings of Sweet clover. He began g~?owlng sweet 
clover, the first tha t  w a s  ever grown in this neck of the woods. The 
p m d  up here was a l l  sour, most of i t ,  and I t  wouldntt grow sweet clover. 
But as soon as 1.t was l l m d ,  It would g r o w  it t a l l e r  than yom head, you 
know; and they began growing it, plowing it under fo r  
was the ins t iga tor  of t ha t .  

Well, then, In order t o  enhance the sa l e  of the seed, 
binder, o r  got par t s  of old binders, and b u i l t  a seed 
tha t  he drove through h i s  f ie lds  and it stripped--did 
cotton s t r ipper? 

he tore  up an old 
gathering m c h k e  
you ever see a 

&. No sir. 

A. You never seen them work? Well, t h i s  stsilpped all the seed. It 
went along and just--it w a s  a bar of s t e e l  and it wasn't sharp enough 
t o  cut it but s h q  enough t o  scrape on It. He had a yeel tha t  would 
press [the  clove^] back against it and then [the bar]  would scrape those 
off and then [the r ee l ]  would rrmh it down, you how. He harvested, oh, 
just  an awrul l o t  of seed and drled i t .  Then be made a thresh- machine 
of h i s  own t o  h u l l  the s t u f f ,  r5&t  there on the fm. He had mney t o  
buy gas englnes. That w a s  ahead of t rac tors .  

He put the sweet clover i n  the county. [Refore] tha t  [It] would grow 
along creeks but that was the only place you saw it. He put sweet clover 
in, and then they followed that  with a l f a l f a  because sweet clover inoculated 
the land. They had t o  lime it t o  get sweet clover, see, and then It 
inoculated the land fo r  a l f a l f a ,  and they could g m w  sow b q e r  crops of 
alfalfa. 

It takes about f ive  years fo r  anything of that kind t o  soak t h r o w ,  you 
know. This fellow wl l l  watch the other fellow and he does so-and-so. 
Well, h e ' l l  watch h i m  the next year and i f  he does [ a l l  r igh t ]  then: 
"Well, 1' 11 t r y  it. I t  F a m r s  were very cautious people. 

&, Where diid they hold the Farm Bureau r w e t F n ~ ?  

A. In Hlllsbom. Usually in the hi& school. They had a b ig  gym and 
we'd have It in the urn at the h l @  school. Have a box dlnnes. Usually 
a State  speaker, an agronomist fk.om out of the university, would corm 
there and @VE a l e c t u w .  

One year we had a m Porn England. Oh, I could have l ls tened t o  tha t  man 
a l l  day. He was a f m r  here, now. He says, "The hardest thing t o  buy, 
anywhere, was bralns." He says, "That's the hardest thing t o  buy. You're 
lucky if you can buy them." So, he was a lecturer  over the country. Herd 

5 ~ e e  addenda item 107. 
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e x p e r h n t e d  In Ellgland some before he e m  here. IIP came here as a 
man of s ixty,  I guess, and went t o  fayming here and he pew phenonmal 
crops. And he would take them simt-seeing over h l s  fm. I don't 
rernerrber where it was. It was north, thou*, of Champaign somplace. 

He was Fn the t h l r d  glaciation. That w a s  another thing. He was  smut 
enough t o  get i n  the th i rd  glaciation. He  hew about tha t .  I never 
heard of glaciation un t i l  a f t e r  I had been on the farm two o r  three 
years. We're only i n  the second here. And tha t  is the reason tha t  
Chanp3al.gn had us beat,  jus t  a l i t t l e ,  because the t h i r d  extended down 
over Champaipp but It plqyed out shortly below. 

. Were you an off icer ,  in any way, of the Bureau? 

A. No. They invi ted rn but I wouldn't serve* I had hay fever so bad 
those days it just pret ty  n e w  run me crazy a d  I couldnlt drive over 
the country and interview farmers and go out in the farm f ie lds  and 
wheat f l e lds  and so on. It would just  drive IE wild. And so I resigned 
Prom it. The Farm Bureau manager, he didn't  want t o  l e t  m go at al l .  
He thnu&t I ought t o  doctor for  it. Well, he didn 't mow how much 
doctoring I had been doing. I f ina l ly  got so I le f t  the s t a t e .  A 
nutrber of years I l e f t  the s t a t e  t h r o a  tha t  season. So, I never served 
as a--but I was a booster f o r  it and helped a l l  I could and when they 
got t o  where they needed sombody t o  talk, I was ready t o  t a l k  t o  people. 

Q. What were your duties as secretary of the elevator co-op? 

A. Just =rely keep track of the business. Most of duties was t o  
keep t rack of the annual meeting, see tha t  off icers  were p rope~ ly  elected. 
We had a president, vice-presldmt, secretary-treasurer, and a wribership 
of probably fif ' ty,  you know ,6 and you had t o  watch tha t  they were duly 
elected because the State  was watching those places, trying t h e i r  best t o  
s t i ck  taxes on them. I f  you had f lve  mrrbers that  drew a salary, they 'd 
t ax  you an incow tax, and a heavy one. And we had t o  watch very carefhlly 
and stay within the three l i m i t .  

&. Who were s o w  of the  off icers  I n  the co-op? 

A. Well, I think every one of them are  dead but re. A l l  of them tha t  I 
can rerrmber, ever, are dead. They were young, younger f m m ,  or  my age 
farmers, and they've been p n e  qul te  a while. 

Q. Who were some of them? 

A .  Well, one of them's nam was Derby. He lived down here on the southeast 
corner of--or on the northeast comer--of the next section. 

Q. Was tha tFrank Derby? 

A. Yes. You h e w  him, dldn't  you? 

b ~ e e  addenda item 108. 



Q. Not w e l l ,  but I: h e w  of him. 

A. I bet  your m t h e r  h e w  him well. 

&. Yes, sir. 

A. Frank Derby was president a long t h .  Then he was followed by a 
rran m d  Weitekamp. W-E-I-T-E-K-A-M-P. He f m d  over a d j o h h g  
Hamel Township, but h i s  in te res t s  were a l l  In thls township. He was 
the presfdent fo r  a n h e r  of y e a s ,  and then, l e t ' s  see, who did We 
have besides--and then he los t  h i s  mind. It was the awntlest thing. 
He w a s  as smart as a whip and a well-balanced fellow and not a boozer, 
but he got t o  t r y l n g t o  learn money. He sent and got the books h m  
Washington, as far back as he could on money, and bro@t it up t o  
the  date and he t r i e d  t o  learm it and he just studied himself crazy. 
We did hate the worst t o  lose tha t  rran, rqy goodness! 

And h i s  brother took his place then. Sam n m ,  jus t  a younger m9.n 
than him. One was Frank and the other, Lee, or  one was . . . No, the 
first mayl w a s  Ed, and the next mn, Leo. 'Ihey were strong Cathollcs 
but it didn't  rmke a b i t  of difference i n  aur meetin@. They worked 
just the s m  with us and they would vote a@bst Catholilc men that 
t r i e d  t o  get sorrethlng they were not en t i t l ed  to.7 They'd vote rT&t  
s t ra ight  thro@ wlth us Protestants. So, I: t h o w t  an awful lo t  of 
those three men. I don ' t think . . . Oh, the f i r s t  m, 1 guess, w a s  
Herb Street .  You knew Herb? 

Q. I didn't  know hh. I 've  heard an awful l o t  about hlm. 

A. I think he w a s  the f i r s t  president of the  elevator assocltatlon, 
8 

and served a nmber of years. 

When I f i r s t  moved up here, why, I had worked for  Tom Richardson out here. 
I don1 t know whether you ever heard of h i m  or not,  but he was an old man 
tha t  worked on h i s  knees. He had rheumatism so  bad he couldn't stand up, 
and he worked on his b e e s .  And I worked as W s  hired man two seasons 
out there and I got t o  know practicalqy all the--he'd w r i e d  Al, uh, . . . 
We 1, what was tha t?  . . . You'd know i n  a minute, i f  I could think of 4 - 
it . . . So, people from west of town a l l  v is i ted  them. I got to how 
Max and Reed, they were l i t t l e  tykes about t h i s  hi& at tha t  tW, and I 
h e w  t h e i r  mother. Their dad was dead, you Imow. Oh, I learned t o  h o w  
Herb Street  and he had a brother who ran f o r  county superintendent of 
schools; I forget h is  name now . l o  

,- 

'see 

9 ~ r .  
addenda item 
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Alkman l a t e r  ident i f led t h l s  person as Alice WLlZiamson. See 
111 Tor vwbatlm tex t  and some discussion of the Williamson family. 

ilil.anan l a t e r  i d m t l f i e d  t h i s  pemo1'1 as J a s p e ~  Street .  See addenda 
vcrbat l rn  tp xL . 



Then, we had. a man In the township named Tom Taylor. You probably mew 
him, d ldnr t  you? 

Q. Yes, slr. 

A. Well, Tom was  active In the Farm Bureau, too. He didn't hold an 
off ice that  I can rermher of ,  but he was always a booster and would 
do aqythhg you asked h h  fo r ,  QQ a cormittee. I t h o u h t  an a w f u l  
l o t  

Q. 

A. 
run 
and 
N Y Y  

Q. 

A. 

- .  
- 11 of Tom. He was a f ine m. 

Were you ever involved with the  school board i n  the township here? 

( laums)  I ' d  had tha t  one experience as a school director and they 
a f t e r  QI every year, but I would not take it ! They jus t  begged me 
begged me. (lau&s) I wouldn' t take another school, d i rec tor ' s  job. 
t h a t ' s  the mst thankless Job on ear th.  

Where were you a director? 

Honey Bend. I w a s  rimt where they could brlng all t h e i r  pievanccs 
t o  m, just walk across the mad. I had t o  settle-more spa ts . -  

Q. What types of spats  did thcy have? 

A. Oh, the teachers would issue a cer tain rule and the  mothers wouldn't 
want the kids t o  obse~ve  it. One teacher tha t  I had t o  c a l l  In and give 
a good strong lecture and she didn ' t  take it kindly at all, she wouldn't 
l e t  the kids s e t  t h e i r  overshoes under the stove. She wanted t o  keep them 
In the h a l l .  And one of the women who had two kids tha t  walked a mile and 
a ha l f ,  she cam t o  ITE and she says, "Bert, those kids have got t o  have 
those overshoes so they can put them on of an evening when they go horn. 
They're froze stlff and they can't  get In them." And she says, "And I 
want you t o  see tha t  tha t  ' s taken care of .  " And I says, 'Well, I think 
It. . . . I 1  So, I to ld  the  teacher t o  corn over. She cam ove'r and I t o ld  
her what she'd have t o  do and she didn't  know whethes she would or not. 
"NowYt' I says, "listen, you do just what I t e l l  you. You'll have to .  '' 
And she went off md as hops, crying. (laughs) But she did. She straightened 
out. men, we had a ne'er-do-well famlly i n  the neighborhood that had a 
l i t t l e  kid tha t  never had been bossed and he made a l l  m e r  of trouble 
in the school. We had t o  keep ca l l ing  In the directors and s t rai@tenlng 
t h a t  out. So, I had plenty of it. 

Q. You indicated tha t  you had done some speaking. 

A. No, I just talked, l i k e  I ' m  talking t o  you. No, I never mde but one 
speech i n  QI l i f e .  They had an awful t h e  af'ter they orgadzed the Parent- 
Teachers Assoclatllon down here a t  Waggoner, and Cap Williarrsonfs wilfe- 
you knew her, too, didn't  you? k l a ?  

Q. Ve ry  vaguely. 

** A t  t h f s  point i n  the review, a discussion ensued not pertinent t o  
the mmir u n t i l  Honey Bend was mzntloned. See addenda Item 113 Tor the Honey 
Bend discussion text. 
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A. Well, I thlnk she was the president of it, and she harped at r r ~  
fo r  a temperance t a lk .  Wanted IIE t o  make a tcrperance t a l k  and I put 
her off  and put her off  and put her o f f .  Pinally, they couldn't get 
anyone t o  t a l k  for one me t ing  and I says, 'Well, I'll come down md 
t a lk ."  But I didn't promise t o  t a l k  on temperance. I sdd, "I'll do 
the  best I can in t ha t  respect, but I can't W e  a temperance talk 
alone. I says, "1 'rn going t o  just t e l l  you some of nly experience. 'I 

So, I gave them some of rr~y experience as a hired man working i n  various 
families. A l l  of them had children. The influence tha t  I t r i e d  t o  
exert over kids. I always t r i e d  t o  exeri; a good Influence over the kids 
i n  a farnilg. 

One man I worked for  had a brothcr-in-law i n  S t .  Louis, and while I was 
working f o r  him, h i s  [the brother-ln-law I s  ] wife died with TB. She had 
a l i t t l e  five year old boy tha t  she had been able t o  jus t  see hlm at 
m a 1  time, i f  then, for  a year, I guess. He  was i n  saloons wd al leys 
and a l l  the worst company he could get i n  because he liked d i r t y  Jokes. 
M t t l e  as he was. Well, when she diled, why, q boss went down and took 
him in ,  bm&t him home with him, to ld  him be was going t o  keep him 
and put him through school.. 

END OF SIDE ONF 

A. Well, he had the d i r t i e s t  mouth that I ever saw on a f ive  year old. 
I never had seen h i s  equal. He knew every s e l l  there was and he took 
r ight  up following E. He wouldn't follow his uncle; held follow rw, 
you know. Well, he ' d t r y  a s e l l  on IIE . I always b i t  on every one, 
just  . . . (laughs) You oust t o  see tha t  l l t t l e  bugger laugh. He'd 
lay down and jus t  roll and twnble. ( l a w t e r )  It was rea l ly  funny t o  me. 

But he'd swear so  mch, and the folks whipped him f o r  it. And one 
mmihg at breakfast, they s a d ,  "Now, Bert, i f  he swears out wZth you, 
you're t o  t e l l  US, and we're going t o  give h i m  a l i c k h g  for  it. He's 
going t o  stop tha t  swearing. Now, you're t o  t e l l  us." 7: dldnl t  say yes 
nor no, I* just  sat there and l e t  them ta lk .  

So, we went out t o  work and we hadn't been WoPkiing but a l i t t l e  While 
when somethFng didn ' t  go t o  s u i t  him and he l e t  loose and the air got 
blue . I l e t  him rant fo r  about a minute and I says, "Now, you heard 
what they to ld  me at the breakfast table .  I' And then he cussed me, turned 
on E. He says, "Tell them! Just  gc t e l l  them!'' And called rw everything, 
you !mow. And I says, "You never heard your uncle o r  me use such language 
as that  a s ingle  t lm. Now, did you?" Well, he didn't answer m. I says, 
" A l l  I w a n t  i s  f o r  you t o  yuZt tha t  ." I says, 'Why don't you qui t  i t ? "  I 
says, "I 'm not agohg  t o  t e l l  them. Dont t glory about tha t .  I'm not going 
t o  tel-I. them any of It, but I want you t o  qui t  for  ITJ sake. You qui t  swem- 
h g . "  And you know, i n  a m n t h t s  time, he quit  it ent i re ly .  Made as f ine  a 
l i t t l e  fellow as you ever saw. (laughs) And hls uncle educated h h ,  and 
the last I heard of him he was one of the m e r s  f o r  one of the b ig  banks 
i n  S t .  huls ,  t o  go t o  where they made the exchange of a morning, you laow. 

So, tha t  ls what I to ld  them instead of a temperance speech. I said, "I 'm 
nei ther  a father  nor a teacher, and 1 don't thlnk it is proper f o r  me t o  
try t o  advise people on rafs lng children, any more than that  I t h h k  they 
should be disciplined enough t o  do what's r imt.  



Q. Where did you glve t h i s  ta lk?  A t  the grade school? 

A. Yes, In the p a d e  school, but the high school w a s  a l l  there,  too. 
Tnat is, the teachers were and the  merrbers of the Parent-Te8cher. . . . 
They never bothered m? afterward. (laughs) I lmm it wasn't much of a 
speech o r  they Id abothered rn artewwmd but they didn't. 

Q. rnother wrote rre  about i t .  I n  a l e t t e r  I received yesterday, she 
mntioned it t o  me. 

A .  She a d ?  

Q. She remerrbered hearing you speak in school. 

A. I used to .  Those days, the Bible was allawed In the school, you how,  
and every t h e  we had a t ravel ing mlssionawy , o r  anything of the klnd, I 
stood in with the prlricipals with an understanding tha t  I could bring over 
whatever I wanted t o  and Introduce t o  the school; of those people, you h o w .  
'They had I n t e r e s t k g  talks. 

I ~meIrber  I took an Indian over one t k  . Ful l  blood Indian, but he ' d 
had a university education. Claimed he was called t o  preach. He went 
over t o  rrakc them a speech and he was atalking t o  them about a fellow 
tha t  was In t h e i r  neighborhood, named John StlnZc. He wasn't an Indian, 
he was a white m, but he had for ty dogs and he hunted and he and the 
dogs l ived t o g ~ t h e r .  They a l l  l ived i n  the s m  house and people were 
about half  a f ra id  of him and he had epileptic fits. And whenever he d 
have an epi lep t ic  fit, why, the cowboys would f ind  him, dead t o  the world, 
you know, and they'd go notify the Indians. He was par+, Indian. They'd 
go notif'y the  Indians and t e l l  them they Id have t o  bury hirq. Well, there  
i n  Oklahoma at tha t  tirre, they sat a rran up against a plle of rock, then 
just piled rock a l l  over him, s i t t i n g  up. And those do@ would dig him 
out every time and held come to .  Another week o r  two he'd be hunting with 
his for ty  dogs. They buried him twlce. 

I how I was back In the anteroom when he was telllng that s tory  and I 
said t o  the teacher tha t  was back there wlth m, a young lady and she 
was from Oklahoma, and 1 says, "I thlnk tha t  fellow is a s p i f f h g  us. I 
don't belfeve tha t  story." And she says, "No, he 's  not!" She says, "That's 
the gospel trmth. I know tha t .  I' Sald, I1That actually happened. 'I 

So, the th i rd  tiw tha t  he had a f l t  and they found him dead, why, the 
Indians wouldn't plck him up. They'd got superstl t lous of hlm m d  they 
wouldn't pick him up. So, it was up t o  the coroner t o  go out arid get 
him and he took him down t o  the undertaker and they errbawd him and bwled  
him and he ( l a m s )  didn't  come to .  

Q. Not once e r rbahd ,  I guess. 

A. But I used t o  go t o  a school a l o t  with those kind of people, you know, 
and of course, it was up t o  me t o  introduce them. 

Q. That rmst have been what she was speaking of because she mentioned I n  
the one-room schools. 
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A. Yes, that  was the grade school but they had the hi@ school. Why, 
a t  t h i s  tire, t h i s  fellow was W i n g  a t a l k  i n  the hi& school. He 
t o ld  the kids tha t  he'd show them how t o  make arrowheads If they'd come 
amund a f t e r  he got throum talking. I never went over t o  see it. I 
talked with the  teachers and ones tha t  gathered around me. The kids 
claimed he did show them how it w a s  done. But I never credlted it 
because I think tha t  was  pract ical ly  a los t  mt. Don't you thl.nk it is? 

Q. Well, I don't know. They s t i l l  teach it t o  Boy Scouts, you how.  
Pressure points and a l l .  When dfd the high school star'c i n  Waggoner? 

A .  That's a date, agaln. 

Q. I think it was 19211. S o m t k  i n  the 1920's. 

A. Yes, It was t ha t  or a l i t t l e  l a t e r .  It was voted In. We had t o  
issue bonds t o  get it. I remrber  being on the election bomd when It 
w a s  voted in .  George Fo&s and John Waggoner both got out and took In 
a l l  the terr1.tol-y tha t  they could so as t o  reduce the taxatlon on the 
rcst of us, on those bonds, you know. The bonds carried and the school 
was b u i l t  and served as  a high school fo r  a rimer of years. 

My wife and I always attended a l l  of the basketball g m s  there, while we 
were younger and could stand up. They didn't  have a b ig  e n o w  for  
seats ,  so we always had t o  stand up and t h a t ' s  qui te  tireswe. 

I was very much interested In education and anxlous t o  See them do well. 
I had a rimer of nephews and nieces tha t  were I n  there,  you know, and I 
was anxious t o  see them get the best  they could. Dorothy was one of them 
md I pushed her as hard as I could. 

Q. That- was Dorothy Ihrpton, you man? 

Q. What types of things did you do f o r  the school? 

A. Oh, about the only thin@ I ever done--at that tlme, there waS the 
three churches but none of thern had a resident pastor and they always called 
on me for  an invocation and the benediction, That's the extent of my work 
in Pant of the school. I did tha t  f o r  a n&er of years, both schoo1.s. 

One t i n e  they had a resident preacher here. 1'11 t e l l  you t h i s  for-shut 
that  thing off  fo r  a minute. 

Q.  A l l  r i@t .  

(tape turned off and on) 

A. I refused t o  go on the election board, a f t e r  they got organized e n o m  
that  they could handle a l l  r ight  without my help, I wasn't too much help 
 way - 
The different  supervisors, of course, had t o  oversee the elections. The 



women got t h e i r  vote along about tha t  t lw and they Insisted tha t  I 
be on the election b o z d  for  that  because they had t o  swear in every 
worn  tha t  voted. You had t o  rernerrber the oath and give it t o  them 
and have them sign t h e i r  n m  , you know. Well, I worked on tha t .  
And I took a fellow tha t  was pret ty  hard up, a carpenter there In town, 
pret ty  hard up, as a c lwk .  Well, I thought a carpenter should be 
pret ty  good i n  f1e;ures. Wouldn't you s m s e  tha t  he would? 

Q. I would think that  he would. 

A. And tha t  n i@t  I never had such a time In nly l i f e .  1 had t a  stand 
ri@t over tha t  fellow and watch every figure he put down. He couldn't 
add, he cou.ldnlt get them down i n  the right place, and, oh boy, tha t  
cured r r e  of ever just accommodating s o w  Tellow tha t  you didn't know 
too well. 

So, I don't h o w .  I served on the elect ion board u n t i l  they got well 
organized at it and then I said,  "Now, I don't need tha t  money half as 
bad as l o t s  of these fellows here i n  tawn tha t  are just a capable as  1 
am of a dayls w o ~ k . ~ ~  I says, "You give It t o  them,lt Arid so, I never 
served any mre. 

Q How about the county board? Did you have any association wfth I t ?  

A. No. 'They wanted t o  run me f o r  supervisor but I I d n t t  w a n t  It. I 
wasn't interested i n  tha t .  

Q. You h d l c a t e d  at one time tha t  you helped bring Pn the 011 for the  
roads here. Get tha t  s ta r ted .  

A. Well, t ha t  was done t h r o w  the h i e w a y  c o d s s i o n e r ,  yes. There 
was three conrmlssioners a t  tha t  time on the hi@way, you h o w ,  And 
then they hired a mad boss. Paid him a salary and he did the work, Well, 
the Baker boys, Ira w a s  one of them. I thWc Tmn Taylor was one of the 
comlssioners , and Herb Street  w a s  another one ,I2 They wanted t o  bow i f  
I would carry a pe t i t ion  f o r  the northeast corner of rely township, And 1 
carried It enough tha t  people got t o  bow rw and I could get their signatures 
without too much a r v n t  . At f i r s t  they 'd say, "I '11 s i g n  fo r  it i f  y o u v l l  
o i l  i n  front of house. I t  Well, I Id say,  'Well, what good w i l l  tha t  do? 
Youtv~ got t o  st& somplace and the place t o  start is  at town.'t Well, 
som of them you could convince and some you couldn't. But, before 3.t was 
over wlth, they were a l l  glad enough t o  sign up because we  got a mile and a 
half  st&ed and they seen what a change tha t  mde i n  the  road amd they 
began t o  come across. 

Q. How &id they go about oi l ing  the mads i n  those days? 

A. Well, the road c o d s s i o n e r  went wlth a l l  of them iyl the county mound. 
All. the c o ~ s s l o n e r s  would get together, if they could, and then the o i l  

12see addenda item 114. 



people would come and put i n  bids.  They'd ask, "How m n y  mile$ do 
you have tha t  you 're golng t o  o i l  t h i s  yem?" You know, we had t o  
o i l  what we could by the taxes we had every time. We couldn't o i l  
the whole township at once. I think we were four years oiling the 
township. They would come and submlt bids.  Well, then the cormis- 
sloners would accept sombody's bid tha t  was the most reasonable, 

They gave you the low-down on the o i l ,  the specif ic  g a v i t y  and 
those thing, you know, tha t  we d idn ' t  know anythirlg about. ( l w s )  
Nevertheless, they came with it, loaded, because they expected us 
t o  have an attorney on the job. We never did, t ha t  I remrrber of,  
have an a t t o r n ~ y .  They jus t ,  the E n ,  foxed it themselves. 

Then, the o i l  would be supplied t o  the townshlp i n  tanks s t i l l1  boil- 
1%. They'd draw it out of a r e to r t .  They got It a t  P a m  most of 
the  time. It would be shipped over here in a tankcar, or  they would 
bring in b ig  tarktrucks, and It would st111 be boiling. Well, they d 
run It Into the dis t r ibutor .  There was a mn at Morri nv i l l e  n m d  . . . 
hum . . . I dldnf t think I would ever forget his name .'? He oi led 
roads so long . . . Well, he f i t t e d  h b e l f  t o  o i l  the county and 
the other counties. He boumt the equipment t o  do It with. Tanks, 
on trucks, you h o w ,  and t o  spread it properly. 1 can't think of h i s  
name; mybe I w i l l  before we're through. Arid, he would always be there 
and bid at  the sane time on what he would get out of spreading it. And 
they had t o  make two payments at the same t*. 

Well, there was one place tha t  I had t o  be ready t o  take some notes t o  
keep t rack of what we agreed t o .  Usually the town clerk did, but If he 
couldn't be there, why, he'd turn over h i s  books t o  m. 

Q. How about bridging i n  the township? Were you involved i n  any bridges? 

A. No. The s t e e l  bridges were beghning t o  come i n  and so was concrete. 
The l i t t l e  culverts they began pu t the ;  i n  wi l th  just concrete. Take a 
b l g  t l l e  and l ay  It thmu& there and then cover it with concrete so it 
wouldn't break through.. And they did qulte a l o t  of pret ty  good-size 
streams that  way a l i t t l e  l a t e r  on when they could get big  t i l e  1Zke so, 
you know, and they'd just bu i ld  on up above them. 

The conmissioner had t o  levy enough mney out of taxes t o  take c z e  of 
such thlngs as tha t .  He t r i e d  to .  I f  he could see it acoming. 'Ihese 
brldges would be applled for ,  a year ahead usually. I-Ie would know what he had 
t o  do and about what they'd cost. There was a man m d  Challaconls, 
C-H-A-&&A-C-0-WB, i n  Hlllsboro, who was J_n the s t e e l  bridge busbess 
and wherever t h e p  was a s t e e l  bridge l e t t l ng ,  he was always there,  and 
he seldom fa i led  t o  get It. I never saw hlm b d b e  anybody but  T Mow tha t  
he did. I ' m  s a t i s f i ed  tha t  he did, because he almost always got It. 
There 'd be other s t e e l  n m ,  but they had t o  haul it too far. See, be just 
brought It from Hiillsbom . 

'he. Alkrmn l a t e r  ident l f led  th f s  man as Louie March. See addenda 
item 115 f o r  verbatim t ex t .  



And Challacorrb put In a rimer of bridges, He had, well, l e t ' s  see . . . 
Well, I can't t e l l  you how many he had i n  t h l s  township. They were single  
span, mst of them. Just  b u i l d  up a concrete wall and put steel gLrders 
across, but we called it a s t e e l  bridge. Well, a l i t t l e  l a t e r  on, they 
put floors under those girders and poured compete In there and done away 
with the s t e e l  bridge business, had concrete brldges. 

I 've  seen the country develop pret ty  near fiom the corduroy days. Djld 
you ever r ide  on corduroy? (lams) 

Q. No, sir. 

A. Where they took poles and put them In the mud holes, cross wws. Put 
them about t h l s   fa^ apart and tmp them down in the mud and you'd go drlv- 
In@; over them. aRUaRUaRU. (laughter) 

Q, Really bounce you along. 

A. But you could get through places tha t  way, a swale of some kind. You'd 
get two@ them tha t  you couldn't get through t o  save your l i f e  i f  they 
didn't  do it.  

Q. I understand tha t  one of the f i r s t  pavLn@;s on the west end of Waggoner), 
as you go out of town, was corduroy at one tlm. 

A. Yes, t h a t ' s  ri&t. That was. The fir& oi l In@ s tar ted  at the edge 
of Waggoner and corn t h i s  way and went west, each way a ha l f  a mile. F i r s t .  
That was the f i r s t  thing. Then of course, they began spreading out a l i t t l e  
farther, and a l i t t l e  far ther .  Well, then Wamner don't go too far and 
they h i t  Macoupin, you know. Well, then they got in cooperation with Macoupin 
and got them t o  m e t  at the county lilne, and we oi led t o  the comty l lne .  
So, that  helped clear  across t o  Carllnville and Nilwood, and over t o  [hI&way] 
nuxrber 4. 

Q. Were there any large corduroy roads put i n  i n  P i t m  Township tha t  you 
how of? 

A. No, not large. They wouldn't be over, oh, say, two hundred yards long. 
Just through a l i t t l e  place. Of course, when tha t  dried up dyld you dmve 
over those logs ( l auas )  a l l  s m r ,  It was worse than going . . . ( l a m s )  
But we were so glad t o  have them I n  there when we needed t o  get across. 

You know there  used t o  be a catty-comered mad went in to  Liltchfleld from 
this direction. D i d  you ever t rave l  it? 

Q. No, sir, 

A. Well, it did and I saw It one t b  dug out with t rac tors ,  a f t e r  they 
got t rac tors ,  that  a t r ac to r  wouldn't h u d l y  show above it. It just  dug 
that  c lear  out. And tha t  was one place tha t  had always been corduroyed 
and they t r i e d  t o  find a so l id  foundation someplace there.  But it wasn't 
there, it was jus t  seepy and, as keep as they went, they s t i l l  was i n  a 
seep. And there was one t r ac to r  stood there the whole blessed winter, right 
In the d d d l e  of the road. He w a s  stuck t lgh t  as a jug and none of the 
others could get in near him t o  p u l l  him out. He l e t  the water out of It 
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and It stayed there a l l  winter. 

Q The Street  Gate Cornpamy i n  Litchfleld used t o  provide a l o t  of gates 
around here. D i d  you ever own aqy of the Street  g t e s ?  

A. Never did, but I h e w  about them and lmew about the factory. Had 
been out there different times and watched them work and they were a 
good @tc. I wondered that; there weren't mzle of them used, but fellows 
could take planks--those days you could buy cypress lwnber In  the lwrber- 
yard and cypress is  very las ty ,  as you probably how,  and they would 
build t h e i r  own gates out of that  much cheaper than they could buy. Then 
they learned t o  put them on a s l ide  so they could open them easi ly  and 
swlng them around any direction they wanted t o ,  pret ty  near. Most of the 
gates i n  the township were wooden gates; only the Street  gate, a few fellows 
had them. 

And there was a--the old man that  l ived r i @ t  at the end of the Waggoner 
mad, s e t t l e d  there.  His naw was Westerheid. He went t o  the fair one 
year and bought a c a t t l e  gate, l i ke  they used i n  the West. You know what 
they were l ike .  Ties, o~ t m e r s ,  se t  about tha t  far apart and that  high 
f r o m  the bottom and c a t t l e  wouldn't go across them a t  a l l .  You drove right 
across them with your automobile. 

Q. Laid out Into the gruund, se t  i n to  the ground. 

A. Yes. Yes, you jus t  drove ri&t across them. Well, there w a s  a fellow 
I n  Springfield at the  f a i r  that  year tha t  had them tha t  you could spread 
i n  your own gate. They were bevelled s t e e l .  Mke t h a t ,  you know, come up 
here. You jus t  laid them so f a r  apart .  You dldntt have t o  dig under them. 
Cattle wouldn't mnkey with it. They woulCnlt get on them. They didn't  
l i ke  tha t  sharp pa.rt, you know. And, he b o w t  one. I seen it i n  h i s  gate. 
You'd drlve r lght  over it with anythlng you had t o  drive over it, you how.  

It was at his barn l o t  and he had s ix ty  head of milk cows and when he 
could drive them over it, I thought it was a wonderm thlng. So, I went 
down t o  see hlm and 1 said,  "I cam down t o  see your c a t t l e  @te here. " 
'Well, 'I he says, " I ' m  @ng t o  t e l l  you r ight  on the start tha t  J wouldn't 
buy another one. I woulc3n1t have one I f  they grlve It t o  me." And I says, 
"You wouldn't?" And he says, "No, I wouldn't." He says, "They're not mde. 
They won't l a s t  a year. The f i r s t  thing you know, those p o h t s  f l a t t e n  out 
and c a t t l e  go r ight  over them." So, he says, ''Stay off  of them." And I 
took h i s  advice. (laughter) 

I wanted one r ight  here a t  the mad because I kept sheep amund the place 
here and it wou.ld have been so nice t o  have kept sheep out of the Wdy and 
l e t  people drive i n ,  too. As It w a s ,  I had an eighteen foot gate and (laughs) 
Doc Hayes, he used t o  give me a cussing every t lme he had t o  cross it. He 
sald tha t  w a s  the worst a t e  he Id ever run  Into. 

Q. L e t t s  see, you were a director  of the bank fo r  a while, then, were you? 

A. Yes, I served I don't know how many yearn, but qy wife got t o  o b j e c t i w  
t o  being lef't alone so rrruch. When the bank fa i lures  were taking place all 
over the country, well, I was i n  u n t i l  rmldnlght four d&ts  a week, at leas t ,  
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fighting those fellows. That was awf'ul crooked. They had a bmch of 
real robbers up In  Springfield. Nothing else. They closed banks tha t  
didn't  need t o  be closed at a l l .  

One of the fellows they sent down here. We hgd some good mrtgpges on 
this Wnd of land. Not overly heavy. He took our case and come to those 
mortgages and sald,  "Throw them outdoors . I 1  I Says, "Young man, that land 
w i l l  be here long a f t e r  you're dead and gone." And I says, "It'll be 
worth just  as much then as it is now. That ' s  the best thing that you can 
put your money in .  " 'Wasn't wor%h a d m , "  he sald, "couLdntt cash it. 
Couldn't tu rn  it Into cash. " I says, 'We don1 t want t o  turn it h t o  cash. 
We want it as an investmnt ." L fought with tha t  fellow every n5.@t fo r  
three n l@ts .  He was detemnlned t o  throw them out.  Well, i f  he had, he'd 
of taken them, see. He was just a crook Porn the ground up, 

END OF TAPE 

A. He caused the two m n  t o  shoot themelveg in Famwrsville. Took a l l  
t h e i r  good paper and just  l e f t  them flat.  The d l d y  bugger ought t o  have 
been i n  the pen. But he w a s  a pol i t ic ian .  

Q. When was th i s?  I n  the early days of the Depression? 

A, Well, no, it was i n  1918, i f  I ~rnerrber r ight .  When the banks were 
a l l  c l o s h g .  Waggoner was the only bank tha t  stayed open between Litchfield 
and Springfield. 

Q. Oh, Is that  r ight?  

A. That I s  the truth. Only one tha t  stayed open. We had a good p ro f i t  
reserve pi led and sore good mortgages, as I t e l l  you, by f i@t ing  f o r  
them and we jus t  fou@t  them out u n t i l  they gave it up. So, Wammer 
went through it. Divernon had a bank; and F a m m v l l l e ,  two banks; an 
Glenann, up there,  had a bank. Every one of them tha t  b w e r  shut up. P4 

Q. And t h l s  was ri@t at the end of World W a r  I, was i t ?  

A. I Wess it was because f t  was i n  the deepest pa r t  of the Depression, 
you mow. You couldn't borrow mney anywhere, The b ig  banks were a l l  
holding it. In S t .  Louis, Chlcago, and e v ~ ~ e r e .  They wouldn't take 
anything. They jus t  were saving t h e i r  own hldes is what they were doing. 
And they were smart; t ha t  they did because they had t o  be the  p~~undwork 
when we s t a r t ed  off agaln. They had t o  be the groundwork, or? the backing 
of it. 

1 ~rrm&er  one t lm. Cap Williamson was the president of the bank and I 
kept wanting him t o  put out more money, loan It out, get somc in teres t  on 
It. He says, "How would you l ike  t o  go down t o  our bank tha t  we trade with 
at the stockyards, the Stockyard Bank of S t .  Lmls, and talk t o  them fellows?" 

"Mr. AilmEUi l a t e r  agreed tha t  t h l s  would have been i n  the 1930 Is. 
See addenda Item 116 f o r  verbatim t ex t .  
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I says, "I 'd  love to ."  And he sqys, "Haw about the rest of you directors ,  
w i l l  you go If I shut up the bank tomorrow and take you down there?" 
They all agreed, so he l e f t  It In the hands of the cashler, you know, 
and we got In hls car and he took us down there.  That's the first tW 
I ' d  ever gone thm@ a bank and knew what they came up against in the 
blg banks. 

I went t o  a s k h g  tha t  p e s i d e n t  questions and he was l i k e  the Farm Bureau 
m. He w a s  smrt enoum tha t  he wouldn't say yes or  not t o  anything. 
He Id say, 'Well, l e t  I s  go i n  that  department. I '  I asked him about bonds. 
'Well, l e t  's t o  tha t  departmnt . " Well, we went- over t o  tha t  depaY.tmnt. 
'lNow,ll he says, ' 'this marl wants t o  know about what youf ve got in bonds. " 
Well, he'd lay out a wapnload there, r ight  in f'ront of me, you h ~ w ,  
and says, "That s what I m dealing i n  right now, but I 'm not s a y h g  tha t  
I rn ping t o  keep them fo r  a t im . 'I He had school bonds, municipal bonds, 
and a l l  klnds, and the  president turned t o  me and he says, "I 've got a 
man in Texas buylng every school bond tha t  they issue, ri@t now. If I 
can do it.'' And so, he took us throu& that .  bank u n t i l  I ' d  seen what it 
looked like and what they were up against. He says, "You're n o t t h e  only 
one that  ls hunting a place t o  loan your money. " He says, 'Wetre hmting,  
too. " So, we d l b ' t  get anythhg out of the t r i p ,  only experience . Nothing 
m r e  . 
Q. Who were some of the other people involved with the bank at tha t  time? 

A.  Ed F i t e .  You h e w  Ed, d idn  ' t you? 

Q. No, sir. 

A. There was  . . . Oh, what's tha t  fellow's name? He jmt  died . . . 
Q. That I s n ' t  Doc F l t e?  

A. Doc! It was h i s  father.  And he was a fine, honest man. And then 
there was Nick Boehler, Old Nick, and . . . Ed Browning. I expect you 
knew him. 

&. Yes, sir. 

A. Ed Browning . . . Oh, who e lse?  We had fZve directors . . . Oh , 
yes. Walter Klaus. I don't suppose you h e w  him. He l ived over toward 
Nilwood. He was a very successf'ul f a m r  and a mod bwhess head. He 
made a good man on the board. We had a worklng board, tha t  worked together. 
There wasn't any hee-hawlng o r  see-sawing about It. We a l l  worked together 
good. 

Well, I s t a r t ed  to t e l l  you why I got out. I had ten  shares of stock. You 
had t o  own tha t  much t o  bc e l ig ib le  t o  be a &rector. i'Q wlfe began t o  
complaln so  b i t t e r l y  about being l e f t  alone of a nl&t so  much of the t h e .  
She wasn't afraid.  She wasn't timid. But she just  got so lonesome, you 
mow. I ' d  be gone all day a t  something, o r  i n  the f i e l d  o r  out away from 
here, and she hardly saw m, jus t  a t  the table  Is about a l l .  And she corn 
pl.ained so b i t t e r l y .  She says, "You've jus t  got t o  get out of it. 'l And I 
says, "Wc11, I'm g o h g  t o  make a t r y . "  Well, election t lm c a m  up and I 
to ld  them I didn't want t o  serve any more. 'They never paid no m r e  a t ten t ion  
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t o  it than i f  I hadn't said anything. Just  went r ight  ahead and put 
IE i n .  

So, there was a fellow c a m  Into the country ri&t about t ha t  time 
ase l l ing  coal o i l  burning ref r igwators .  Did you ever see them? Or 
hear of them? 

Q. No, sir. 15 

A. They were a posit ive success. B m e d  coal oil1 and they were a 
perfect rcfr ipprator  and the two Griff i th  boys, there,  took the agency. 
They caw rigbt out t o  see i f  I didn't--I was wanting a ref'rigerator 
but didn ' t  f e e l  like paying the prices they had on them, you knoW. But 
I said,  t o  the boys, I says, "Well., I 'll t e l l  you what 1'11 do. I'll 
buy t h i s  thing i f  you ' l l  take a share of stock In here at what I gave 
for  It. Bank stock. 'I "Well, they says, ' h e ' l l  do t h a t .  I' So, I only 
had t o  pay out a l i t t l e  blt of cash, you lo?ow. 

Brought that  how. And, when I went In and demanded tha t  stock t o  turn 
over, they jus t  threw a f i t .  Oh, yes. Cap got plurrb mad. I says, "I 'm 
resiplnp;. I t  I-Ie says, "You can't  do it. I' I says, "Yes, I 11 s h m  you. 
You bring tha t  stock out here and I'll sign it over t o  these boys and 
then I ' m  writ ing out my resignation. I 've  l is tened t o  my wife as long 
as I ' m  going t o  and I ' m  qui t t ing.  I '  I says, " I ' m  not sore at any of you 
o r  got anything a m s t  you. 1'11 help i n  m y  way I can but I ' m  q u i t t h g . "  
I says, "1 asked you t o  not e lcc t  m. " Well, oh, they were peeved. Emmtt 
Brubaker kind of holds it against me yet.  He was cashier. Cap was president. 

So, I got out of it. And the Gr i f f l th  boys hung on t o  tha t  stock and 
H e m  t o l d  me, last f a l l  I was i n  there one day and he says, "You how 
that  share of stock we bou@t of you f o r  tha t  refri&rator"--that was the 
only refrigerator they sold. He says, "You know that  shase of stock we 
got fmm you?" And I says, "Yes." He says, "You know, we got $916 out of 
tha t ,  all to ld .  Dividends and all ." He says, "The best hvestmnt  we ever 
made. I' 

So, w e l l ,  I hung on t o  the other stock un t i l  Dorothy b e p  wanting t o  work 
i n  the bank. I was detemnined she should because she was plenty capable 
and. I wanted her i n  therbe. So, I went down . . . jus t  give her an optlon 
on the stock and sold 3.t at l e s s  than It was worth. I sold her the nlne 
shares. No, I had ten  shares by tha t  t lm because they'd issued y h a r e ,  
one share f o r  ten  shmes . They'd issued a new share, 1 had ten. So, 
I sold her the ten  sh-es and I says, "Now, I want Dorothy In  here as one 
of the mubcrs of the bank." And they l is tened t o  E. They put her r ight  In. 

&. mat other businesses were there i n  Wa@;@;oner i n  those days? 

A. Well, there was the two stores  and the elevator. The famn bmlness 
was the  m a h  thing. There was an awful l o t  of mney loaned t o  famners. 

15see addenda item 117. 

''see addenda item 118. 
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They bomwed mney t o  buy c a t t l e  and they borrowed money for,  oh, 
l o t s  of thlngs. I w a s  astonished when I went in and sat in on the 
f i r s t  d i ~ c t o r s '  me t ing  and seen what they were borrow- mney on 
and how much they bomowed, and so on. Even Tom Taylor, with all the 
].and he w a s  famdng, he was borrowing mney, They'd borrow it and 
have it a year and then pay i f  of f ,  don1 t you see? If they d2drivt 
need it the  next ye=. 

Q. Who was mnnhg the two stores? 

A. A t  that  t k  there w a s  Charlie Norvell. Well, Bob Rice was at the 
time I went Into the bank--because he was a director  and he mde them 
take him off of the board so that they 'd have t o  put m in. And, they 
put IE i n  in h l s  place. Bob w a s  a hardware man and a r e a l  good one. 
And then, Charlie Norvell ran the grocery s tore  and he was a p o d  grocery- 
rran. I think your mother worked in M s  s tore  some, at one t b ,  clerked 
there.  I ' m  p ~ t t y  sure she did, when she was f h s t  out of school. She 
made a dandy clerk.  She was wide awake, 1'11 t e l l  you. 

There w a s  a lmberyard there at that time, too, but It belonged t o  . . . 
Oh, the Baker chain of luheryards  and they were t rying t o  get out f'rom 
under it. They couldn't s e l l  enough lwrber there,  i n  the l i t t l e  yard 
of tha t  s ize,  t o  pay fo r  keeping the man. They had t o  pay a m a hundred 
or  be t t e r  a month t o  s tay there,  you bow. So, they c m  t o  the elevator 
people and proposed that  we  buy the lwberyard. Well, that  buildlng a- 
long the railroad, you how, was the lwberyard. 

Q. Yes, sir. 

A. Well, it rather  appealed t o  r~ because it w a s  so handy t o  m In  
there and get lwrber when you needed It. Derby was the c h a i m  of the 
bowd and I was s e c r e t q  of the elevator bomd and we said that we would 
c a l l  the ent Ire mrrberhship in and they had t o  decide it. We wouldnl t decf de 
it. We wouldn't take tha t  b ig  a responsibiLllty. And so w e  called a special  
me t ing  and called In the en t i re  board. Every f a m r  tha t  had any In teres t  
there at a l l ,  he come, because they diidnlt wan t  t o  get i n  the lwx3ser bushess. 
DeAy and I, I guess, wcre the only two tha t  wanted it .  (laughs) 

Tney cam i n  and Derby mde a t a l k  t o  them In apenlng the meting and they 
voted on it. They voted. secret ba l lo t  and 1 took the ba l lo ts  up and t a l l i e d  
them and then they asked t o  hem from E. So I got up a,nd to ld  them tha t  it 
suited me a l l  r igh t .  I says, "Now, there I s  no 111 feelings, whatsoever. " 
I says, "Derby and I wanted the vote of the entiire merrbership and what you 
decided i s  what we ' re  going t o  agree t o  and we '11 go accordingly. So, " I 
says, "you fellows don1 t need t o  f e e l  tha t  we're offended I n  m y  way f r o m  
your voting it down. I says, "Suits me a l l  r l @ t .  " 
Well, then they mved the lmrberyard e i the r  t o  Farmrsvi l le  o r  Morrisonvllle 
and mved it out. 

Q. Where did you hold tha t  rreetlng? 

A. In the  town ha l l .  
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Q. The same town h a l l  that they ' re  using now? 

A. Yes. It w a s  b d l t  at tha t  tire. It was a f t e r  the f i r e .  

Q. Who was nmnlng the post office at tha t  tlw? 

A. Well, I ' m  pret ty  sure Raymond Bmwning was. He Is been there a long 
time. k w n d  went in to  the bank. When he cam out of school he wanted 
t o  get Into something, and Ed Browning and I were good filends and I 
said,  "I don't see why Raymnd wouldn't be a good sran t o  put in t he  bank." 
I sa id  tha t  t o  Browning. Well, tha t  t ickled him t o  death. Re wanted him 
there. And I says, "Well, l e t  Is see what we can do. '' So, we went t o  work 
and the r e s t  of them didn ' t  f ind any fault. They needed the t h l r d  m, 
you how, and they voted it i n  and took him r imt in. Well, Raymnd 
learned banking and he worked there mt i l  he got up t o  the cashier% job. 

Then the post off ice job cam . . . B i l l  . . . B i l l  Lewis was the post- 
master a t  tha t  t im. And B i l l  dled and the post off ice was t o  take over 
and so Raymnd quit  the bank and went over w d  @t tha t .  And he 's  made 
a very wealthy rran out of h i m e l f .  (laughs) 1 expect he's the richest 
rmn i n  Waggoner. 

Q. Oh, i s  tha t  sl@t? 

A. Oh, I'm satlsffed of it. 

Q. From the post off ice business? 

A. Well, from his Investroents and then he hetred. He heired fmm Ed 
Browning, h i s  grandfather, you how, and Ed Gerlach, too, h i s  m t h e r ' s  
fa ther .  He hcired from two of them, and so, I don't have the l eas t  
idea . . . Tnea, too, he took on the treasury of the schoolbomd When 
they got a hi& school, why, he took that jab and it p d d  a salaryi7 and 
he 's  been iln tha t  job every since. I think he 's  the t reasurer  of t ha t  yet.  
I don't know. I haven't paid any at tent ion l a t e ly ,  but I rather  think he is. 

So, Raymnd was a good man. He's sober and industrious. His wlfe ta&t 
school all tha t  time. I can't  see any reason why they're not the r ichest  
people i n  Wagoner. And he ' s  s t i l l  q j  friend. ( l a m s )  

Q. Didn't Bill1 k w l s  run a grocery s tore? 

A. Yes, and a post off ice corrbined, and he had Sadk as a clerk and she 
was a s t m .  My, she was good. He had H a n y  Wagnes as a butcher. Bill 
run it as long as he w a s  able to .  There was something wrong with t ha t  
family. They both had kidney trouble. He and Bmdy both died of kidney 
dilsease. Both Tlne E n .  I t h o w t  an awful l o t  of both of them. And 
Brady did l o t s  of work f o r  me. When he came back f r o m  the service, he 
took hls mney and bought som trucks and be did trucking for the f a m m  
mound here. Anythhg he could get t o  do, you know. Finally he got so,  

17see addenda item 119. 



i f  they were baling hay and needed it picked up r ight  off of the f i e ld ,  
he'd go and take a job of tha t  kind. He put up hay f o r  r r ~  a n@er of 
tines up t o  midnimt i n  the night.  He'd clean the f i e l d  so tbat it 
wouldn't get wet, you know. He was A l .  I t h o a t  an awful l o t  of Brady. 
That was a nlce famlly, the  L e w i s  family. 

Q. Didn't the Kessler Red and White Store e a s t  about tha t  tim, too? 

A.  Yes. They Were going, too, at  that  t irw . . . Well, they Were p i n g  
when I moved up here in 1910. They had a s tore  there,  and they ran it on 
t h e i r  m, Mr. Kessler and Mrs. Kessler and FJlnfield, and they dld very 
well. Then, when the old folks died, Winfleld took over and then he took 
Harry Wagner as a butcher. Kept him i n  there.  Winfleld did TE l o t s  of 
favors, l o t s  of favors. 

And he worked--he went i n  the bank. We put him i n  the bank t o  l e m  it 
and he learned it and got up t o  the cashier 's  job, and ran the  stol'e, too. 
His mother and father ,  of course, were livlng then. They could take care 
of It, except the books, and he took care of the books. 

Q. Didn't he run a delivery truck? 

A. Then, he had Penny N a l l  on a wagon tha t  run all over this camtry. 
Ed Gerlach had a grocery store there,  too, at tha t  tim, when I f i ~ t  
mved here, and he m a grocery wagon over the country, too. m e r e  
w a s  two of them went around over the country. And they were q d t a  a 
help when you were very busy i n  the f i e l d  and didn't  want t o  go t o  town. 
They brought out bread, m a t ,  anything they could haul on the wagon. 
They couldnlt haul f ~ s h  mat, unless you'd cal led in an order and they 
just brought i n  r lmt out and handed it t o  you. They had no refYlgeratlon. 

Ed G lach had tha t  bullding tha t  i s  r f&t  under the shadow of tha t  b ig  
bin.'' He had a s tore  i n  there f o r  years. He was going when I mved up 
here. In  f ac t ,  I guess he s ta r ted  it just  about the tlm we mved off  of 
his fm because the town was building up at that the, I think. He and 
G i l  Parrott--not G i l  Parrott  . . . Alec Parmtt, s ta r ted  s tores  about the 
saw tim. Grocery s tores .  G i l  Parrott  ran the elevator for  George Fooks. 
He had had s o w  experience and George took him In until he could l e m  it. 
George jus t  had a c o m n  school education and be wanted t o  be able t o  
handle the books when he took it over. 

There's one thing tha t - rn  you about throug$ or2 tha t  par t  of it? 

. Well, yes, sir. 

A. If not, why, go ahead unt i l  you r in ish  and then there's one thing 
tha t  I w a n t  to tell you. 

&. Well, we're about down t o  the end here,  We've been going a m s t  an 
how and a ha l f  now, so  . . . 

18T.he laPge dryleng shed on the  south side of the Waggoner business 
block. [Ed.] 
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A. Well, I wanted t o  t e l l  you an experience I had on the railroad. 
You asked UP t he  other day about som of the experiences. When I 
was working there at  Honey Bend, I had one dai- who shlpped i n  
c a t t l e  feed f'rorn the brewery, and tha t  was &led brewery gain .  I 'd 
ncvm heard of such a thing, but they could sprout gmln and make a 
mlt of It, and mke beer out of the m a l t ,  and then dry tha t  grain 
and s e l l  it f o r  feed. And he shipped up a ton, about a ton a week. 
He had qui te  a bunch of c a t t l e  and one day he come In--he bo@t it 
thmugn a feed s tore .  He says, "The fellows at the s tore  down In 
St .  Louis t e l l  m~ t ha t  your r a t e ' s  too hi& here. mat they c m  get 
a be t t e r  r a t e  out of S t .  Louis and they want t o  prepay thls s tu f f  up 
here and stop paying the k .e ip ;h t .  " I says, 'Well, t h a t ' s  flne. 
Go ahead. I won't have t o  handle the  mney. 'I So next week, why, he 
says, ' W e l l ,  I ' m  gohg t o  gLve an order i n  a week o r  two now and 1'11 
t e l l  them t o  send It prcpald." 

Came in ,  though, it was b i l l ed  col lect .  Jus t  l i ke  it always had been, 
three dol lars  and a ha l f .  And I safld, when they came i n  I s a d ,  "That 
stuff cam f o r  you t o  pay fo r .  'I 'Well, 'I he said, "that I s  all rI&t. 
I 've got a l e t t e r  from the people at S t .  Louis saying they had paid for  
It. So, I' he says, "1 '11 pay you and then I 11 deduct It out of my check 
t o  them and, 'I he says, "we '11 be a l l  riat. " Well, I took the quarter,  
or,  yes, three dollars and. a half  was what it was. I took that mney 
and I went t o  t ry ing  t o  get rld of it, and I couldn't get r i d  of it. 
They wouldn't have it at the audftor ts  office.  They'd say, "No, tha t  
was a prepald shipment. Give tha t  mney back t o  the  shipper." I says, 
'Well, he's an honest man and he won't take 1.t because he knows tha t  
he ' s already deducted it from h i s  feed b i l l  and he won't accept it. " 
He wouldn't. He said, "I'm not agolng t o  take it." Says, "1 don't cme 
what you do with It. I' And he to ld  r~ tha t .  

I t r i ed ,  oh, 1 guess f o r  f ive mnths t o  g ~ t  them t o  take tha t  money and 
they wouldn't do it and f lna l ly  I got mad and I stuck It i n  IQI pocket. 
I says, "I've got the money. Whenever they call f o r  It, t h e y ' l l  get It." 

Well, I went on two yems there,  and worked, and then they checked rw out.  
Clean b e l l  of health.  Didn't owe a cent t o  the railroad, and I s t i l l  had 
the three dol lars  and a ha l f .  So, I went t o  Litchfleld and worked. Worked 
there two years o r  be t t e r  and they checked me out a@h--the auditor,  out 
of the auditor's office--and everything a l l  m e .  "You're cleasl. Clear 
of the rallroad." 

Well, I cam up here when I l e f t  Litchfleld and s ta r ted  farmhg and I guess 
I ' d  been farming here f ive years. I t d  got pret ty  well  acqualnked with the 
agent d m  these by call ing; just  t o  keep In  touch, you how, with the  rail- 
road. One day I come in -om the f l e l d  and q~ wife says, "The agent at 
Honey Bend has been t rying t o  get you a l l  mrning." I says, '%at does he 
want?" and she says, "I don't know but he w a n t s  t o  talk t o  you." 

And so, I just  rung hlm up, it didn't  cost anythiW.l9 I says, 'What's on 
your mfnd?" And he to ld  r~ tha t  clrcwrstance and he says, "Do you remrheli 
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that?" I said,  "Sure I remrrber." I says, "I've got the mney here i n  
pocket. I said when I put it I n  pocket [ that]  when the pailmad 

woke up and found out t ha t  it was owed to them, I'm ready t o  pay It." 
He says, "You are ready t o  pay It!" He says, "I went five y e a s  back 
In the old books t o  find where you made tha t  deal and you've been checked 
out, twice. You don't have t o  pay that. l1 I says, "I know it but I ' m  
golng t o .  Yout 11 get a check i n  the mrming. l1 So, I wi l ed  hlm a check. 
(lams) And I think the auditor of a great concern like the Wabash Rail-  
road would-took him five years a f t e r  I was gone t o  find t h a t .  (laughter) 
Well, that  was a funny experience. 

I wanted t o  ask you another thing. Did I t a l k  t o  you, Ln the beglmdng of 
harvesthg rmterial ,  about a cradle? Did I rention a cradle? 

Q. No sir, perhaps only i n  passing. You dldnlt explain what it was. 

A. Well, t ha t  was the early way of harvesting g a i n .  Even i n  Chris t ' s  
tim they used cradles. It was a long scythe blade, longer than m ordinmy 
scythe blade, and then it had a crane that  reached off  of the handle here, 
about tha t  high . . . 
Q. About t h x e  fee t .  

A. . , . and there was four fingers went along there that went out the 
length of the  blade and you took tha t  and you swung It l&e a scythe into 
the  wheat and when you cut It down, it fel.1 a m n s t  these fingers and they 
l a ld  it down. When you took it back, your back swath, you jerked your 
scythe out f r o m  under it; took another swath, jerked It out f'mrn under it; 
u n t l l  you had enough t o  those l i t t l e  pllles t o  m e  a bundle. 

A. Then you stepped on and s t a r t ed  another one and tha t  was the  way they 
hasvested wheat. Well, then they had t o  go wound and-they dLdnt t have 
s t r i n g  o r  anything to t i e  it wlth. They had t o  t i e  It. So, they perfected 
a knot tha t  they mde out of the g m l n  I t s e l f .  You'd take about twenty-four 
straws-rraybe you've seen tha t  done. 

Q I 've  seen it done with r i ce .  

A. Did you ever see them bind a bundle tha t  was broken? Well, you bad to 
learn tha t .  Had t o  learn t o  rrake those bands a d  then bind your bundle and 
s t ick  it in .  

I remrher  when I c a m  up here. My wlfe had an uncle down south here. The 
two brother-in-laws were on his land. And we tl'aded work together. We was 
cutting wheat one t b  and he cam out t o  the f ie ld .  The binder t h r e w  of f  
a bundle tha t  It didn't bind, you know, and he says, "Can you bind that?"  
He was a funny spoken old fellow-Hen Burnet, I don't suppose you ever remmber 
h h .  

Q. No, sir. What was h l s  f i r s t  m? 

A.  Hen. H e n r y .  He says, "Can you bind that?"  I says, "Sure I can blnd it. " 
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He says, " I ' d  like t o  see you." And I picked up a band and throwed it 
over and put It around and on. "Well, I t  11 be dogged, " he says, "I don't 
believe there ' s  one mn i n  twenty-five can do that  now." My dad had 
tau@ me good while I w a s  a kid because he worked when they had it all 
t o  bind, you how. 

&. When they were uslng the scythe? 

A. Yes. Yes, using the old cradle. Well, I never used t o  cradle, nor 
qy dad never used a cradle, but there w a s  an old fellow tha t  lived within 
a mtle of us tha t  moved on f ive acres of scrub tirrber and he cut tha t  off during 
the wlnter. It w a s  just  stove wood s t u f f .  He cut it off and got rLd of L t  
and he had an old team and he plowed tha t  ground tha t  year and let it stand 
and then sowed It t o  wheat tha t  f a l l  and the next year tha t  old boy took a 
cradle and went i n  there--there w a s  s t w s   lo^, oh, it was so f u l l  of 
stwnps, couldn't hardly walk t h r o u a  St-and he went i n  there and cradled 
that  five acres and hand bound It and shocked It and he and his wife stacked 
It. He asked the threshing machine m, who w a s  a nel&bor t o  him, i f  he 
would t b e s h  it and he says, "You betcha. I'll come over and thresh it fo r  
you. A l l  the work you've done, you're en t i t l ed  t o  have tha t  threshed." 

Well, I helped thrcsh it. That stack of wheat tha t  was cut with a cradle 
and bound by hand, the band cut te rs  had t o  get up there with a lmife and 
cut them s l x  or ei@t straws i n  two, you bow, and (laws) it was a job 
t o  cut bands. I was I n  the rmasuring box. I was amasur lng ft out. It 
mde good wheat, too. He had a good crop. 

Q. Was this down In the timberland? Down by Honey Bend? 

A. Yes. Yes, t ha t  was southeast Porn the home place. The old fellow was 
jus t  t ickled t o  death t o  get it threshed. But t ha t ' s  the only deal I ever 
had with a cradle. 

Q. Sir, I was wondering--you mentioned sheep a while ago. Around here, 
did you keep them on the lawn t o  keep the lawn cut down? 

A. No, I couldnl t put them In the yzd. They'd ea t  flowers first. (laughter) 
My wlfe kept flowem. She always had l o t s  of flowers and I had t o  fence the 
ymd ti&t but I had a l l  the r e s t  of tha t ,  around here, fenced, too, and I 
could turn them In. By the way, they were a wonderf'ul help-I a s h  I had 
them here today. We've got an apple t r e e  down there that's dropphg apples-- 
P want you t o  ~t a sack and go down and get you some apples. 

Q. Oh. Appreciate tha t .  

A. And I would let the sheep I n  of a night and they would clean up every 
ro t ten  apple that  would fa l l  under tha t  t r ee .  The next rnodng,  I ' d  shut 
the p t e  on them, shut them away from it. People could c o w  here and get 
apples and they were plumb clean of . . . 
a. The rot ten ones. 

A. . . . the  ro t ten  o r  anything else ,  you know. YOU take a sack and go 
dawn these, now, before you pul l  out . . . 



Q. A l l  ri@t, SIP- 

A. . . . and pick you off  a-they make a good sauce. 20 

END OF TAPE 

Q. SIP, you mntioned basketball here in  Wapgoner a while back. Could 
you describe a t t e n d h g  a basketball gam i n  Wagoner? What was it l ike?  
Who was playing there? 

A. C h ,  they ' re  all E n  now, you how, mound here. I don't expect I 
could even n m  a t h i r d  of them. They m i e d  and mved away and I never 
see them. I just lose track of them. 

I was over at Raymnd t h i s  morning get t ing a haircut and a fellow come 
i n  the barbershop there and sa t  down. By the way he talked, I mew he 
knew all about ms and a l l  about what I w a s  adoing. And I kept alookllng 
at, tha t  fellow and I couldn't put a nam on hlrn t o  save lf fe. Finally,  
I says, 'What's your m?" He says, 'Weitekamp," I says, 'Well, you're 
not one of the t w i n s .  "No, " he says, "I ' m not of that crowd. " He says, 
" I ' m  Henry's boy." Well, I never knew Henry's boy but he was Fn those 
gams, see; and he mew m, well enoua .  He says, "I've always kept track 
of you. I have a famn nodheast of you. I pass your lace every now and 
then. So, " he says, "I ve always kept t rack of you. 'I2? Well, he s a young 
man yet, you h a w .  I think he sa ld  he was fYf'ty-seven. He and another m 
were ta lking ahead of tha t  and one was flf'ty-seven and the other was  f i f ty -  
nine. The b&er looks a t  rn and says, "They're both kids, aren't they?" 
And I says, ''Yes, they're right i n  the prime of l i f e ;  and yet," I says, 
"they're i n  the dangerous period. That f i R y  t o  s ix ty  is  the dangerous 
place for  heart failures." It is.  You read the s t a t i s t i c s .  There's more 
E n  die In them ages than pret ty  near any.  

So, well, I had never mt this fellow before but I knew h i s  father  well. 
W a s  a t  t h e i r  place. Probably he was a kid there tha t  I &&It, pay any 
at tent ion t o  while I ' d  be at the place, but  he r e ~ m b e r e d  It a l l ,  you see. 
I h e w  he knew too much about me, I'd be t t e r  f ind out who he was. 

Q. You sa ld  you had several nieces and nephews tha t  went to school there 
at the hi& school. 

A. Well, yes. FranZc and Larry Burnet and--or not LaYlry . Yes, Larry and 
. B t h  were Albert s boys. Well, hold on . . . How is tha t?  Larry 
i s n ' t  E&rls boy. E-5's boy is i n  the service yet .  HIS nanr's . . . 
Well, I can ' t  t e l l  you. Well, those were the ones. The B u m e t  families. 
And then, the Lams t ha t  l ived rimt here by me, t h e i s  boy w a s  I n  it. 
The Harbed boys were in it. Oh, I don't thlnk any of the bngs  played. 
I don't believe there w a s  ever any of the Long boys in any of the games. 

2 0 ~ e e  addenda item 121. 

21~ee addenda item 122. 

22Mr. Ailoran l a t e r  ident l f led this person as Paul. See addenda Item 123. 
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The beginning of the basketball, they had a teacher there tha t  was an 
exceptional man and he rea l ly  wanted t o  introduce it t o  the country. 
So, he proposed tha t  they have a basketball @m down here at the 
Bumet school. No room at a l l ,  just out in the ymd. He l e t  It be 
mown by the kilds and every kid was t o  invl te  his parents t o  be there,  
you know. Well, Lo- invlted me and wife and we went down there. 
We'd never seen a g m .  Didn't have no idea about it at  all,  you how. 
So, I called tha t  fellow out t o  one s m e  and I Says, " I 'd  l i k e  t o  h o w  
just  what theyt re  doing. Explain it t o  us a l l t t l e . "  So, he told us 
then. There was three men of us--Lohman, ke le r ,  and me--&Ll interested,  
but we didn't  know a form thing about It. We knew baseball but that  's 
a l l .  So, he explained it. 

And then he chose up s ides  with 1;he Wagoner school and the Bumet school 
and they played agalnst one another, you know. And they never had played. 
(laws) If tha t  wasn't som game ! I 've thought about tha t  more t h e s .  
The mothers and dads would get excited, you know, and ye1.l a t  t h e i r  klds. 
(laughter) Oh, it w a ~  just  too f'unny. 

Q. What were they using f o r  hoops? 

A. They had p a t  b ig  b w ~ l  hoops m i l e d  on posts. P e d  Idhman fixed 
tha t  part  up for  them. He had som tall posts and he'd taken them down 
there and s e t  them i n  the ground, nailed the hoops on. He wasn't a 
director,  e i ther .  He jmt volunteered t o  do It. 

Q. Did they have bankboards behind the hoops? 

A.  No. 

Q. Just hoops? 

A. (1-aughs ) That w a s  some g m .  Well, then the next game was called In 
the gym where they had the proper equiprrent, you know, Well, we a l l  crowded 
up t o  see tha t ,  too, you how. And then we hardly missed any of the g m s  
from then on t h m w  the serason, of course. We took and i n t e re s t  i n  it. 

And then they be- playing other schools. Harvel played them. Raymond 
plqyed them, and so on. They got t o  having some real good E n  at Waggoner. 
Paddy B o m  was in it. 

Q. Who was tha t ,  sir? 

A. Dayton Bowman. Ile was one o the p o d  players. Oh, l e t ' s  see . . . 
Charlie Norvell's boy was In it.'3 Tney had a r ight  good basketball team 
there, but a l i t t l e  li&t In wei&t; when it cow t o  crowding them, you 
know, they could crowd them, too hard. But, We had l o t s  of games. Got so 
the schools would corn every t im.  If Hwvel puyed us, the whole neighbor- 
hood would be there,  you know, and the parents, and f i l l  up the house. 

Q. They m u s t  have f i l l e d  up the  house. ?"nerets not much room there, is  there? 

2 3 ~ e e  addenda item 124.  
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A. No, there wasn't much, but we stood mound everywhere we could t o  
see it, you know. So, they developed be t t e r  and be t te r ,  of course, 
every tern.  They begin starting down then in the grade school and cor~Ing 
u$ t o  hi& school and the high school players were pret ty  good. 

Q. What about baseball? 

A. I never went down t o  any of t h e i r  baseball, at a l l .  I had had a 
selge i n  the hospital  with what they t e m d  pye l i t i s .  I had a blg 
abcess In my r i @ t  kidney. Put m in the hospi tal  f o r  twenty-elght 
dqys, t o  drab tha t .  They had t o  drain tha t  kidney and I was af'raid 
of baseball. I wouldn t go m u n d  it at a l l .  1 stayed clear of it. 
If a b a l l  had of h l t  IE there,  1 would have been back in the hospi tal  
again, see. So, whlle I like b a l l  very much, as I to ld  you we always 
played ball, but we played town b a l l .  I never played baseball In my 
l i f e ,  real baseball. Oh, I say 1 never did; I did,too. I played soft-  
b a l l  one gam. I take tha t  back. Softball .  

Q. Where was tha t?  

A. That was over at a church gathering i n  the western part  of' Macoupln 
County. I don't even remrrber the church now, but i n  the ar ternam, why, 
the  church had got some fellow tha t  w a s  a th le t ica l ly  Inclined, you how. 
Went m u n d  and picked out people out of the different churches and put 
on a game. Just  f o r  an hour's tirnc, and I played through tha t  garre. That's 
the only one I ever played in. 

&. mat place did you play? 

.A. Oh, I jus t  batted and tried t o  run It. (laws) I got put out of the 
@.E pret ty  shortly.  When you got put out, you w a s  out. You dldn7t get 
t o  corn t o  bat anymore. 

Q. What about any plays or  ac t iv l t1 . e~  of tha t  sort In high school? 

A. Well, they had som good entertainment down there.  The teachers went 
together md put on e n t e r t a h m n t s ,  a f t e r  we got it i n  the hlgh school. 
n e y  would have a dialogue o r  what I would ca l l  a l l t t l e  play. Sore of 
them as good a s  you see on TV now, o r  be t te r .  (laughs) b t s  of music 
and. we enjoyed them very much. 

Q. What types of music did they play? 

A. Pianos. They'd have two or  three planos there,  and pLanlsts, and play 
altogether o r  singly o r  whatever. They didn't have the band a t  that time. 
That was before they developed bands. In f a c t ,  they d ldnl t  develop bands 
around here, tha t  I knew very mch about, un t i l  B h r  Bumet was going t o  
school. Then he was i n  a band. Larry, then, followed In a band. 

Q. What instmunents did they play? Do you ~merrBer? 

A. Well, I don't rcmmber what Elmer  played but I know Larry played a 
trumpet. 

&. Did they present concerts there at the school? 
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A. Well, they would have an evenhg of music and Invi te  the patrons 
In,  you know. That was a l l .  Maybe the teacher would &e a talk about 
what he t h o u a t  ou&t t o  be done arid so on. They didn't have outsfde 
speakers or  entertainers of any kind at them. 

Q, Did they have any band contests i n  those days? 

A. No, not i n  my t k ,  tha t  I attended. I don't know whether they did 
l a t e r  on. I p r e s m  they did l a t e r  on, because Utchf i e ld  developed a 
pret ty  good band and I guess Raymond did. And I believe Hillsborn had a 
pret ty  good band. So, I think they competed qui te  a b i t .  Those schools. 
But those were b ig  schools, you know. Rayrrwnd had a n u d e r  of buses, and 
Lltchfleld did and so did Hillsboro. Arter the buses begin c o d ~ l p ;  In, 
why, they had pret ty  b ig  crowds. 

Q. How about track? Dlld they used t o  play track at the  Waggoner high 
school? 

A .  No, not there.  They hadn't developed tha t  at  tha t  time. But they a d  
l a t e r  on, at Raymond. They'd compete over at Rayrmnd. I never saw one of 
t h e i r  t rack m e t s .  

&. Do you r e c a l l  when Wild Row Park  s tar ted,  out west of Waggoner there? 

A. No, it w a s  golng when I first cam up in t h i s  c o m t q  t o  work fo r  
M r .  Richardson. A s  I to ld  you, tha t  was 1898. It was s i n g  strong at 
that  time, because I went t o  the picnic out there t ha t  yeas. D i d  you 
ever attend one of t h e i r  picnics? 

Q. No, sir. 

A. Well, they had quite a b i t  t o  show there,  you lonow. Mrs. Burford was 
a Rogers and she had some brothers tha t  were i n  the  saloon business i n  
iWnneapolrls and, I guess, got pret ty  wealthy. They f l t t ed  up a musewn of 
stuffed a n l m l s  down here. They had a l l  m e r  of s tuffed anhmls there.  
Built a house and put a glass front i n  it and had It there.  Then they had 
a t i a t w i r e  across the lake. There was a Lake there, at tha t  t lm, you 
know. A t i a t w l r e  across the lake and you'd take a handhold and rfde a- 
cross on a wheel, you how. It w a s  downgrade s i n g  t h i s  way and downgrade 
going t h i s  way. You could r ide  it both directdons. 

Q. You man anyone could get on. i t ?  

A.  Well, anyone that wanted t o  could, yes. Boy, it was abwzhg mst of 
the time, 1'11 t e l l  you. Kids ppt a great kick out of tha t ,  r id ing  across 
that  pond, you know. The pond w a s  pret ty  deep, them days. That was a great 
e n t e r t a h m n t ,  t ha t  pond. 

Well, then they'd have a l o t  of stands l i k e  they used t o  at plcmics, you 
how. Ice cream and popcorn (laughs) and so on. All of tha t  junk was 
out there. I have an Idea there was some three-shell @m?s and such as  
that  out I n  the  corners, too. I d ldn l t  know anything about them and w 
dad had always to ld  re never t o  put a dime on them. So, I didn't. 

Q. Were these mual picnics they held? 



A. Yes. Fach year at a certain date. They had what they called a 
wagon yard out there,  a t  t ha t  time, that  was well shaded and people 
would corn i n  t h e i r  b i g  wagons f r o m ,  oh, quite a distance, f'lft;y or  
s ixty miles, you know. Cow there and camp through. There would be 
two o r  three days of tha t  picnic and they would camp thro@ It. Have 
t h e i r  horse feed and t i e  the horses t o  the wa@m and feed them. You 
had t o  go in a horse-drawn vehicle i f  you got there,  those days, be- 
cause there w a s  no other way of get t ing there.  

Then, after I ' d  got In  t h l s  country and got t o  how the  Burfords, why, 
he Id  gone in to  buylng stock. Feeding c a t t l e  and buying hogs and shipping 
them. People had to ld  me t ha t  he was a very suspicious rrm. They says, 
"You've @t t o  pmve t o  him tha t  you're honest o r  he don't want mythbe;  
t o  do with you. 

So, I had an old sow here I wanted t o  s e l l  one t im.  I ' d  sold him hogs 
two or three tims and had an old sow tha t  was a great b ig  thfng and 1: 
wanted t o  get r i d  of her.  It w a s  coming hot weather. I drove out there 
one mming and asked when he could take her ,  He wouldn't take them only 
when he got a load enough t o  ship out, you know. So, he says, ' W e l l ,  I 
can take her t h l s  evenlng. Mat  w l l l  she wef&t?" And I says, "Four 
hundred. " And he says, ' W e l l ,  I ' l l  give you seven cents a pound. " And I: 
says, " A l l  rlght . 1'11 be back over with her.  " 

So, I cam back over with the  old sow and I m her out of the wagon and 
onto the scales.  I seen there w a s  somethbg wrong lrrmdiately, soon as 
she h i t  the scales.  He says, 'What did you sw t h i s  sow would weight?" 
I says, "Four hundred. " He says, "She weigns exactly five hundred. " 
And that cut the price,  see. And I says, 'Well, M r .  Burford, I: made an 
honest mistake." I sald,  "I 'd  have sold her  t o  you fbr four hundred this 
morning and l e t  you take her without w e i a i r g  her. " "You would?" he says. 
I says, "Yes, I would. 'I 'Well, I t  he says, "1 '11 take her, then. " (laurns ) 
So, a f t e r  that  I never had trouble with T e m l l .  He was my M e n d  
from t ha t  time on. 

He se t t l ed  some of the R o ~ ; e r s ~  e s t a t e  and I b id  in one for ty acres of land 
out west there that belonged t o  the Rogers. I says, 'When do you want the 
money?" "Oh, 'I he says, "there I s  no bother about tha t .  We'll get together 
some day." He was the administrator, says, 'We'll get together; don't worry 
about tha t .  " I guess it was two months before I got t o  catch him at the 
bank and pay him o f f .  

So you see, I had established myself, now. Well then, IW, B w n e t  used t o  
have r r ~  crib h i s  rent corn here and T e m l l  found out he dld. He bought 
corn wherever he could t o  feed, and he found out tha t  they were cribbing 
it here. He would ask rce about how much there was In a crib and I ' d  t e l l  
him what I figured it was. And he 's say, 'What does he W a n t  for  i t ? "  and 
I ' d  t e l l  him. Held say, "Well, you count tha t  sold." He always nodded hls 
head thls way. "You count tha t  sold." He says, "I'll be out and get it." 
Well, the flrst thing you know, there d be a fellow come in .  "Where 's 
Terre l l  ls corn?" And they 'd load up a great wagonload and away they'd go. 
Says, "I dXdn t how them, a t  a l l .  " 
One time there was f ive  fellows tha t  hauled off  great loads of corn here 
and I didn't know them, but I knew the time they g o t i t .  So f ina l ly  I 



Bert; A l l o n a n  30 3 

called him up and I says, "Terrell, tha t  corn's just  about all gone. 
They've throwed back ro t ten  ears here. A l l  of them have picked them 
out and thmwed them back. What a re  you going t o  do wZth tha t  ? I 1  'Well, " 

he says, " I f l l b e  out there and clean things up clean, I'll p&y fo r  it." 

And 3: says, "Well, now, I don't know who those m n  was. Do you?" 'IYes," 
he says, "I know them, but, " he says, " 2 ; h e ~ ' s  one fellow I ' m  not qul te  
sure of .  'I And I says, "Well, that  fellow had a pecul iw wagm. " I says, 
"He had a brand new wagon and he had a double sidebomd on it and he had 
standmds on the outside tha t  he could s l i p  up t o  even the top sideboard." 
.And I ' d  never seen tha t  on a wagon before, so J took notice of that when 
he loaded up, you how. He put on a big load, He says, 'Well, I think I 
know who tha t  fellow Ls and you know, I t  he says, "I think it I s  funny he 
hasn't  come and said sowthing t o  re." And I says, 'Well, I thlnk so,too. 
All t h i s  t im. He I s  had time t o  feed tha t  corn. I t  So, went on another 
mnth o r  so. Re called m, wanted t o  know i f  I'd corn in to  the bank and 5: 
said,  "Yes. And he says, "You bow, I f ina l ly  f i g u ~ d  out tha t  fellow by 
tha t  wagon. I found out and he owned up t o  getting the  corn. He had the 
weimts wlth him and," he said,  "we s e t t l ed  up without trouble." There 
w a s  a lot of them never did t e l l  hilm. There was a l o t  of them got away with 
h i s  corn. 

Q. my is  tha t  r Q h t ?  

A. Yes, I h e w  they did. T e r r e l l  was the grand-uncle f o r  tha t  past of 
tha t  country. Tnatls al l .  He Jus t  helped all of those t imer rats. 
A l l  of them. He helped them every way he could. 

Q. Why do you term them t l r b e r  rats? 

A. Oh, t h a t ' s  what they called them, you know. That was the mw of a 
fellow that  l ived i n  the t M e r ;  he was a t h b e r  rat. The others w a s  
p ra i r i e  suckers, you bow. 

Q. So, west of Waaoner being a l l  t m e r ,  they were tirrber rats. 

A. Yes, they were timber rats. Some of them were pret ty  c o m n  fellows, 
too. They'd pretend t o  be an awful good frlend of T e m l l t s ,  you bow. 
Drink h i s  hard cider and everything and then beat him out of h is  corn. 

Q. Were there any other picnic areas o r  park areas, l l ke  Wild Row Park, 
a m m d  In t h l s  viclnl ty? 

A. Yes, Harvel had a grove. They called it the Dutch picnic. W y  had an 
annual picnic; like F m r s v i l l e  had the Irish day, you b o w .  You knew of 
tha t ,  but those d w s ,  Harvel had a Dutch day. The gwve was three-quarters 
of a mlle northeast of I%n-vel and it g ~ w  out there i n  the pralrile and it 
w a s  a l l  hickory t rees ,  the whole thlng, and there was five acres of it. 
Just  the thickest tirrber. Nice timber and there 's  where they would have 
t h e i r  picnlcs. That; would just be f u l l  of stands and wagons and so on, you 
know, and they had a place f o r  a band, and so on. And especially, they had 
a dance platform always, and had a dance mti l  about ddnlght, 

Some fellow would be enterprising, you lanow, and he'd run a bus back and 
for th from town. They'd got t o  having some cars by that time. He' d haul 
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people out there Tor so  much. I think he charged them a dol la r  t o  haul 
them out there.  Then, he 'd get them at a certain time, i f  they were 
sober enough t o  get In. (laughter) 

I got such a kick out of--one t lm A l b e r t  Davis rode with him, one t i r e .  
You never knew Albert Davis. He  was quite a boozer h i m e l f .  A great 
f r iend of mine, whlle he w a s  growing up, and he w a s  z ld ing  that out t o  
the pask one day and he says there w a s  a fellow i n  there had had enough 
in town--you know, before he left--that he w a s  slck,  you how. Said he 
hung out of a window and puked a l l  the . . . 
Q. A l l  the way out. 

A. And he said h l s  parlxer punched him and he says, 'mat z e  you dohg?" 
And he says, "Splttlng. " (laughter) I t h o e t  tha t  was too good. He 
was just sp i t t ing .  

Q. Did they ever have my speakers at those . . . 
A. Yes, the pol i t ic ians took advantage of a l l  of those, Ham1 and F m r s -  
v l l l e ,  both. ?"ney nearly always had one or  two poli t ic ians there tha t  were 
running for  off ice,  o r  had recently been elected a d  wanted t o  thank the 
people and t e l l  themwhat they hoped t o  do and so on. They had saw very 
good ta lks .  

Q. Do you remenber any o r  them i n  part icular?  

A,  I remcrrber Mike Bray and . . . Oh, there w a s  an attorney down there.  
Hil l !  Vene H i l l ,  an attorney a t  Hillsboro. He ran f o r  s t a t e ' s  attorney 
about tha t  tlm. He was there and S i  Bullington talked s o m t b s .  He 
and H i l l  b e c m  partners i n  the l a w  of f ice  l a t e r .  I knew both of the m 
quite well. They were l ikable men. 

And, by the way, tha t  makes m think of another joke . Bullington had been 
ralsed by a pret ty  s t r l c t  dad and he 'd  been taught tha t  c e r t a h  things were 
honest and certain things were dishonest, you know, and he had a. l lne .  Wen 
he got ready t o  study l aw ,  he went; in with an old lawyer over there-I heard 
him t e l l  t h i s  myself, now. He went I n  with t h i s  old lawyer and s t m t e d  t o  
study law. He says, "1 w a s  around these about three days and there was S o w  
things that  went on there tha t  didn't  t a l l y  with my ideas. So," he says, 
"when everybow got out that  t h i rd  day, I sa id  t o  the old judge, says, 'Can 
a mn be a lawyer and be honest ? I' And he sald,  "The old judge sat there,  
(laugf~s) and he says, 'Well, I don 't know. I never saw q b o d y  t r y  it. I t  

( laughter) 

END OF SIDE ONE 

A. I t h o m t  tha t  was the best joke. Well, SI, went ahead and mde a lawyer, 
and he says, "And I'm s t i l l  t rying t o  be an honest oneUtt ( l awte r )  

Q. Down at Hillsborn, did you ever go t o  Old Set t le rs?  

A. Yes, I did, once o r  twice, I think. That was much the sarne as these 
other places, you know. Only they favored the old ones. 
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Then, there w a s  the Farm Bureau; they had one day at Hlllsbom, too, 
as I to ld  you. They had the merrbership corn In and gave them a dinner 
and had a good speaker. I heard some rni&ty fZne agricul tural  talks 
a t  those met in@.  I hated t e r r ib ly  when I had t o  quit going ta them, 
because they had E n  t ha t  mew what they were talking about and had 
proved a l o t  of things and t h a t ' s  what counts i n  farming. If you can 
prove It, why, well and good; and i f  you can't prove It, you better not 
t e l l  somebody t o  try i t .  Another thing I learned pret ty  e n l y  i n  l i f e  
and farming: You see a fellow doing a thing tha t  looks s l l l y  t o  you, 
don't condemn hlrn mt11 you f ind out what he knows, because he my know 
something that  you don't how, you see, and he's putting it i n  and you 
m y  get a good lesson Wrn that  fellow. 

Q. Did they have displays of farm products at these picnics i n  those days? 

A. Not a t  the picnics, but therve was at the  HZllsboro Old Set t lera Dqy. 
They did then because they gave prizes fo r  different exhibits,  you how. 
There was a women's p a r t  as well as the mnls.  Canned goods and c q e t s  
and rugs and qu i l t s  and kni t t ing  and crocheting and a l l  of that had t o  be 
j udged. 

Q. Did they have livestock displays? 

A. No, they didn't a t  the Old Set t le rs .  That corn i n  the 4-H past ,  when 
the Farm Bureau got the 4-H dcvcloped. ?hen they began having that out at  
the Butler park. Tney have that  every y e w  now. I never have attended 
any of them because I jus t  can 't hack it -re, you know. But they do 
have some good metings,  I know, and have som very good stock, too. In  
other words, the boys are afiguring on going t o  the  state fair, i n  a l l  
probability, and they show there f i r s t .  They have some r e a l  judges there 
and, If t h e b  stock w i l l  pass there,  then they have coura$e t o  go ahead 
t o  Springfield, you how. 

Q. When did the 4-H come in? 

A .  Well, a f t e r  the Farm Bureau was organized. I don't remen'ber wh8t year 
tha t  was. It w a s  . . . Oh, I judge it was i n  the [19]201s. The F m  
Bureau cam In and tha t  was one of h i s  thlngs that  he wanted t o  develop, 
was the boys, you know; make f m r s  of them and tha t  was a p a t  help. 
Great help. I bet there ' s  a whole l o t  of fellows tha t  a re  on the farm 
to&y tha t  wouldn't have been there but fo r  the  experiences that they had 
down there In the 4-H, what they learned. 

You know, l o t s  of boys hated famLng. There is  too much work about it. 
They seen t h l s  fellow I n  town quit  at f ive  o'clock and put on good clothes 
and stmt the sidewalk and they w a s  afollowlng along after a mule ye t ,  you 
mow. 

Q. Well, it was pret ty  hasd work, wasn't i t ?  

A. Yes, there l s  an a w r u l  l o t  of hard work about famrdng but it was work tha t  
I l iked, and always did l ike .  Fact of the matter is, I think I was cut out 
t o  be a f m r .  While I wasn't no great exarrrple, I was  able t o  m k e  a l iv ing  
at it. 
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Q. Did you ever see Dwi&t  S t r ee t ' s  horses perform? 

A. Yes. I did. We were ta lking about tha t  in the barhershop thls 
mrnhg. One t i r e  the h i @  school wanted t o  put on an e n t e r t a b m n t  
and they asked Dwight i f  he would b r i n g  a couple of h i s  horses--he had 
them trained--and put them on the stage. He said,  "Yes, held be glad 
to ,"  and he brought a couple of s ta l l ions ,  now. You know they are  
natural  enemies, and he turned them loose on tha t  stage without a ha l t e r  
or  br idle  o r  anything on them, not even a rope around t h e i r  neck. Nothing. 
Turned them loose and, by word of corranand, he put them through a l l  of 
t h e i r  stunts. They a t e  out of a pan about tha t  big; a t e  corn, together, 
shelled corn; never even l a ld  back t h e i r  ears. Then they'd take apples 
out of h i s  pocket, and crusts of bread and so on. They'd s l i p  up and do 
tha t .  Theyt d s l i p  behind hlm and take them out.  They'd done it at horn, 
you know. But, of course, he had them there fo r  them t o  do, He just  put 
on a r e a l  good show and there wasn't a b i t  of bother about it anywhere! I 
was scared when he corn in there with those two horses, on the stage, and 
nothing on them t o  r e s t r a in  them. But he had several gpod horsemn. Did 
you ever know Perry Eliason? Or h i s  brother, Lee? 

Q. I knew of him. Yes, sir.  

A. Well, they were p a t  horsemn and he had those two in the t o  
help him and I think he had two other fellows and I can't  recall sight  
now. He had about f ive  E n  there.  So, the horses were pret ty  well sur- 
rounded. They could have gabbed them around the neck i f  it was necessary, 
Tney were used t o  being led tha t  way. So, he rea l ly  didn't take any 
chance and yet It looked t o  r r ~  l i ke  it was awrul, dangerous. That house 
full .  of people. Kids, you know. 

Q. This w a s  i n  the hi@ school, was it? 

A. Yes, i n  tha t  b u l l d h g  t h a t ' s  there now. 

Q. What other types of thin@ did he have them do? 

A. Oh, I can't  rerrmber. He had them lay down and change sides.  Held 
l e t  them lay down on one s ide and say, 'Well, I think you o a t  t o  l ay  
on the other sfde," and they'd flop ovep and lay on the other slde. Then, 
he'd say, "Now, l e t ' s  see you get up, and they'd put t h e i r  front feet  and 
start t o  get up. "Aw, that  ' s  enough," he ' d say, "just  stand like tha t .  'l 
They1 d stand there, you know. He had those horses t r a h e d  u n t i l  they dld 
anythlng he said.  

&. Did you ever watch him i n  a t ra in ing  session out at h i s  place? 

A. Oh, I was  out t o  h i s  place different  t-s. I went out there one day 
and he says, " ~ e r t ,  come on and go down t o  the barn.'! And I says, "Yes, 
I want t o .  " So, we went down t o  the barn and one of these s t a l l l o rn  was 
sbandlng with h i s  front fee t  i n  the manger. Held mlsed  way ~ t p  and put 
h i s  front feet  i n  the mnger. He'd stand there.  Dwight seen him and he 
says, ltAinlt you ashamd? Putting your fee t  on the table! 'I Well, that  
home took them fee t  out. (laughter) That was so funny t o  m, and he 
took them out one at a t k  . He didn' t rare up and take them both out .  
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"Aw," h i g h t  says, "if you f e e l  be t t e r  with them in there,  jus t  put them 
back. " And he put them back. 

So then he says, 'Well, I'm p i n g  t o  ride hlm out in the  l o t . "  Says, 
"Go around there and open tha t  door. " He got on h h  and he didn l t have 
anything on hlrn, at a l l ,  you know. No ha l te r ,  no br idle ,  no nothing. 
He clirrS3ed on hlS back and he had t o  duck way down t o  get thPouQ;h the 
door. That horse went throw as caref'ul, didn't mk him. Got out i n  
the l o t  and there was  an empty o i l  bar re l  laykg there  i n  the l o t  and 
he says, "Hand me tha t  barrel." Well, most horses would have run clear  
across the l o t  f r o m  it when I came at h i m  with tha t  b m l  over up head, 
you h o w ,  but tha t  horse dldnl t . He didn't  pay any at tent ion.  bight 
took It In h i s  hand. He Id put it between h i s  ears and he1 d rub i t  up 
and down--mll it up and down his  neck. Held IT& it a l l  over his hips 
and down hls sides and eve rywhe~  and the home would t r o t  mound. You 
wouldn I t  ever have t o l d  tha t  that  b m e l  was tbere , at a l l .  He was jus t  
that  well trained, 

Q. How many of those horses did he have? 

A. Tho s t a l l i ons  and then, of c o m e ,  he had a saddle horse tha t  he 
thought the world of .  I forget what he cal led hlm. He W a s  a bright 
s o m l  and he had him trained u n t i l  he was a real saddler, You know, 
there i sn ' t  everybody tha t  can train a saddle horse but he had him 
trained t o  a saddle horse. I heard Arthur G o d h y  say one time that 
the trainer had more tmublc  training him than he did the home. (laughter) 

So, hi&t just naturally had tha t  saddle horse so he didn't-he'd leave 
him just  l i ke  a cowboy would, only he never t h r e w  the  relns down. You 
see, a cowboy, they always threw down the reins so they'd s tep on them, 
you know. D w i m t  didn't. He lefi the reins on the saddle horn. C W  
out of the saddle and go off  and t ha t  horse would stand rI&t there u n t i l  
he came back. 

Q. Did Dwight t r a i n  any other klnd of an2mals? 

A. Not tha t  I bow of .  No, just--oh, you h m ,  I never was out there 
very much a r t e r  he got h i s  ponies. Both of these s ta l l ions  died. He 
los t  both of them, and 3Qen he got i n  tha t  pony buslness and @& out of 
the big horse business. Just qui t  them ent l re ly  . Had nothing: but ponies. 
I never went out and watched him perform with them. I should have, but 1 'd 
jus t  keep put"cg It off and wouldnl t get out. 

I was passing there one day. My wife and I had been d m  fn the c O U n t r y  
south of there and we w a s  comlng along up past h i s  place, I wanted her 
t o  see h l s  place. There w a s  a fellow f r o m  the lurrS3eryd corn down there 
with some mlls of fencing i n  the truck. Evidently he never had seen a 
farm befom because he opened the gate wide open, went back and got, i n  his 
truck, and drove In,  and out went two ponles. So, he le f t  h?.s truck set-  
tlrig wher~ it was and he was 1;rying t o  run those ponies in .  He flagged 
me down and with a l l  h i s  might. He says, "Don't hit one of those horses. " 

L 4 See addenda I t e m  125. 
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He says, "Tney got out on rn and 1 can't get them back. I' I says, 'Well, 
I 'll not h i t  them. 1'11 stop and help you." So, I backed the car up 
and got out. 

Well, as  qulck as I got on the ground, why, the horses s p l i t .  They 
were together when he was ta lkhg t o  m. But they s p l l t ,  one went t h i s  
way and one went tha t  way, and they were a hundred yards aparrt tkne I 
got on the ground. And I says, "I think youllX have t o  wait mti l  
M g h t  gets horn. Just don't l e t  -re of them get out.  " Well, he 
got i n  the gate then so  the^ couldn't a n p ~  get out. 

Pretty soon I seen b i g h t  acomlng down the hlll. He cow to the bottom 
of the hill and there ' s  where tha t  north pony was. So, he just  got out 
and put his amn around i t s  neck and they walked down the road together 
t o  the  gate and he walked it inside and t m d  It loose and It went on 
about i t s  business. Didn't try t o  go back. He turned and he looked down 
the road at tha t  other one and he called it by nam. He says, "Now, you 
get in  here and get In here quick. " And tha t  horse jus t  mu? as hard as 
he could run t o  get in tha t  . . . (laughter) "You get I n  here and you 
get i n  here quick l I t  That Is the only time I ever seen him pepform wlth 
the ponies. 

But t h e ~ e  was a bunch of fellows went out there hunthg one t k  and took 
a b i rd  dog and one of them to ld  r r e  t ha t  he believed they'd have all been 
k i l l ed  if It hadn't been tha t  the wire fence w a s  high e n o w  f r o m  the 
p u n d  tha t  they could roll under i t .  He sa id  the ponies discovered tha t  
d o e t h e  dog was atrylng t o  s e t  quail ,  you know+-discovered tha t  dog and 
they took a f t e r  him and the dog natural1.y ran t o  h i s  owner, you know, and 
the boys were a11 I n  a bunch, three of them. He says, 'Why, those ponies 
carre with t h e l r  muths wide open; they just was vicious lookJn@;." And he 
says, Itwe a l l  mlled under tha t  fence. 'I Tne dog went under and then they 
stopped, when the dog mt  out of the  way. But he says, "I believe they 
would have killed us i f  we hadn't of got under that fence." 

Q. Sir ,  d ld  they have any Lkautauquas or revivals In th i s  area? 

A. In the churches, you man? 

Q. Yes, the Chautauqua organization, you know, tha t  held revlval so r t  of 
picnics o r  ga ther ing  ? 

A. Well, we had them i n  the churches. They called them ~ e v l v a l s ,  you know. 
They'd have a week o r  two of preaching eveyy nlght, and s b g l n g .  mat was 
f o r  the whole nei@borhood, of course, and a l l  three churches. Anybody 
could go tha t  would. Then, nearly always, each church would have one a year.  
Then, theye was a long time tha t  we had one day i n  the year that a l l  three 
Sunday schools went t o  one church, together, and had a mass S d a y  school 
l i k e  tha t ,  you mow. A l l  of those w a s  very enJoyable and you got acquainted 
with people that  you wouldn't m e t  otherwise. Tnere was a Dunkmd church. 
I guess you knew where .it used t o  be. 

$. Yes, sir. 

A. They never had anything t o  do down here. They never had anythrLng t o  do 
In Waggoner, tha t  I knew of ,  but they had a good strong church at one t;im. 
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I think they m i e d  off and died off  u n t i l  they f b a l l y  had t o  s e l l  
the bulldlng, give It up. 

4. That was quite a large church, as I remeher.  

A. Yes, It was. I went there one t h e  t o  one of t h e i r  meetings when 
they had a . . . What did they c a l l  them, anyhow? . . . Well, they 
had a ma1 that  they cooked on the ground and jus t  the mrrbers of that 
denomination p m o o k  of It. The nel@Slborhood $athered In, but we  were 
Jus t  spectators. They bolled beef and noodles and potatoes and so on. 
They had a nice real and they had a table  arranged fo  tha t ,  you h o w ,  
and the rest of us was amund out of the way of that.'5 They had one 
day a year tha t  they did tha t .  

Q. Was it a ceremny of some so r t ?  

A. Yes, a preaching service afterward. The= w a s  some awful nice people 
i n  that  church, too. The Brubakers belonged, you know; a l l  the old Bm- 
baker t r ibe .  Oh, I guess t h a t ' s  all I can think of now, t ha t  I Mew be- 
longed there,  but there w a s  a pret ty  good church the first tlme I went out 
there.  I went out there with the Richwdson girls when 1 wntorked for him. 
They had attended these feasts  before and they wanted to go. 

Q. Were the Carpbells involved with the Dunkay.ds? 

A.  The what, you say? 

Q. The Campbells. Harry Campbell's dad. What was h i s  name? 

Q. Yes, Arch C m b e l l .  Wer~ they . . . 
A. No, i f  he was a church ~ r r b c r ,  7: never h e w  it. Nelther was the  next 
boy--your father.  He was a pret ty  roum one, I'll t e l l  you, tha t  boy w a s .  

Q. Herbert? 

A. Yes. 

Q. In what way? 

A. Oh, he drank and caroused and he didn't  work very much. He l lved off 
the rest of them p ~ t t y  much. (lau@s) He was considered a pret ty  wild 
one. I shouldn't t e l l  you a l l  of tha t ,  I guess, because . . . 
Q. I 've  heard t ha t  before. 

A. Oh,  I expect you have, from your mother and f m m  your dad, too, probably. 
But, I always thought well of Skinny. We called your dad S k h ~ y ,  you know. 
I always t h o u a t  a l o t  of Skinny and when he g ~ t  t o  be myor of the tom, Why, 

2 5 ~ e e  addenda item 126. 
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I went t o  him and I says, "Now, Skinny, I wan"c t o  ask a favw of you," 
and he says, What ?" I says, "Don I t  ever l e t  them put a saloon in here " 

He says, "I w ~ n ~ t . ' ~  And so, I took hls word for it and he stood by it. 26 

&. Now, tha t  was step-father. Do you remrrber rr~y father, Horace 
Waggoner? 

A. Oh, yes, t h a t ' s  r3.&t, your father  was Horace. That was your step- 
father .  That was--that's r ight .  Well, I mew Horace 8s a schoolboy. 
He was another one tha t  was i n  those basketball t eam.  1 mew hlrn as a 
schoolboy, and he was always fYlendly with m. You know l o t s  of boys 
won I t  talk t o  a m. You knaw tha t ,  don't you? 

Q. Yes, sir. 

A. They think a fellow looks down on them, I think. I don1 t know what 
they do think, but they won't t a l k  t o  a man very much, but Horace would 
always t a l k  t o  m. That's r i @ t .  That was your father.  I was athhkin$ 
about Sklmy. Skinny was your wife 's  father . . . No, her f l r s t  husband, 
wasnf t he? 

Q. Well, Estel le  and I wilth Horace Waggoner, dad, and then nly m t h e r  
remarried a f t e r  nly father died. 

A. Yes. Well, that I s  r igh t .  I kind of lo s t  track of it. 

Q. You mntioned eas l i e r  having bown John Waggoner pret ty  w e l l .  Dld 
you how Henry Waggoner very well? 

A. Yes, I knew Henry. They always called him Sport, you know. 

Q. No, I didn't  know t ha t .  

Q. No, sir. 

A. Oh, yes, t ha t  was h i s  n lcknam.  When I flrst cam up here, why, Sport 
cam around and introduced hemself and wanted t o  be acquainted because I 
knew John. I ' d  Mown John when he b o m t  c a t t l e  down there,  as I to ld  you, 
tlm I w a s  workbg for him. So, I wasn't a stranger t o  John when I moved 
up here. Then, as I worked for  the Rlchasdsons, too, Why, I knew the 
Waggoner farrdly. I knew the one t ha t  s ta r ted  the bank, at the time he 
s t a r t ed  it, but I can't remrher  h i s  glven name. 

Q. George? 

A .  That don't somd right. 

Q. John w a s  . . . 
A. John, l a t e r ,  but t h i s ,  t ha t  s t m t e d  the  bank . . . There was a . . . 
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Q. It wasn't Horace, too? Horace Greeley? 

A. Yes, tha t ' s  who it was. Horace. Yes, He was the one that started it. 2 7 
He had one daughter, I think. He  didn't have any boys, I don't t h W ,  at a l l .  

Q. I don't rcmnber offhand. I donlt  believe he did.  No. 

A. No, I don't t h h k  so  because he died emly. He died shortly after 
I mved up here. I didn't  much m r e  than get acquainted with h b .  I 
don't remrrber what k i l l ed  him but  he died. There was a man n w d  Knotts 
tha t  had banking experience, tha t  went In with hlm t o  start the bank. So, 
Knotts c m i e d  on. Tnen he took i n  John and Hen Bwnet and Felix Richardson 
and Bob Rice and . . . Oh, l e t  ' s  see . . . mere 's another one tha t  I 'rn 28 missing of those old fellows. Who was he? . . . Well, I can't think now. 
There was f ive  E n  tha t  were fx l r ly  established citilzens of the comity 
tha t  went In there,  too. 

Then they sold stock and got some stockholders, you know. But, at first, 
the stock was pret ty  much held by those f ive or s ix .  They didn't  branch 
out rimt on the start. Then they found that it p a d  t o  have a fellow own 
a l i t t l e  stock, you know. He'd do business with the  bank be t te r .  They had 
som p r ~ t t y  s t i f f  competition with Raymond because Fmwtt McDavid was In 
there and he w a s  a go-getter when it c o w  t o  q l n g  and get t lng sombody . 
He didn't  take no for  an answer, e i ther ;  he was 13ke a good agent. So, 
they had t o  build ug gradually. 

Tnen, Knotts m r i e  Ripley's daughter-oh, I guess the old man Ripley was 
the other director.$ I imglne so. I'm not posit ive of tha t  but I guess 
he was because Knotts married h i s  dawter .  

That ls a long time back, you know. See, that goes away back there t o  . . . 
in the [19]301s. 

Q. Well, the bank, of course, w a s  s t a r t ed  i n  what--1895, I believe. 

A. Yes, it w a s  going when I carre up here but I ' m  thinking about the E n  
tha t  were at the head of it when I corn in to  $he comunlty. 

I got acquainted with it when I was workllng at Rlcha~dsons because I went 
up there and cashed checks from him, you know, and Fel ix Richadson wouldn't 
stay In it. He sold his stock. H e  t o ld  me, he says, "Bert, they 're making 
too much mney." He says, "They can't be honest and rr&ke the mney they're 

I t  He says, " I ' m  ge t t i rg  out .'I 1 says, 'Well, I wouldn't get out If 
they were makfng mney . What did you go i n  for?" "Well, " he says, "they 
can l t be honest and make tha t  much money. So, " he says, ''1 'rn g e t t b g  out. 
Donlt you say t h l s  t o  qybody else, but  I ' m  t e l l i n g  you why I'm quitting. l1 

And he did. Sold h i s  stock. Got out. 

21~ee addenda item 128. 

2%. Aikrran l a t e r  ident i f ied the other merrber as Ed Fite. No verbatim 
text transcribed. 

2 9 ~ e e  addenda item 129. 



Ber t  Aikmn 

Q. Did you f e e l  they were dishonest in my way? 

A. Why, land no, they 3vn I t  a shones t  . They had a good paying bank, 
at tha t  t-, you know. There was l o t s  of c2~'ctle fed In thls country 
and l o t s  of E n  borrowing mney t o  feed out a &ove of c a t t l e  and so on. 
And then there was a l o t  of land t ha t  was mar%.ga@;ed, you know, early. 
They had ~ a l  legLt-te paper, I h o w .  Wasn't any question about it. 

END OF TAPE 

Q. m e r e  was only the one bank in Wawner? 

A. That's all, but there w a s  a National and a State bank i n  Famersvi l le .  
O l d  man Ball, who owned about nine hundred acTes of land around F m r s v i l l e ,  
s ta r ted  the National bank. I to ld  you the other day about h3sn buying cat t le  
fo r  everybody tha t  wanted it, putting up his own mney out of the bank, you 
know. Buy them, take their note, and he never bad any trouble mt l l  they 
got tha t  crooked examiner i n  there tha t  came down out of Springfield de- 
temlned t o  bust everything he could. And he Bid. That felluw ought t o  
have been shot. 

Q. Sir ,  when did you buy your first cm? 

A.  1917. It wasnt t an autombile . It was just  a thing on wheels. (lau@s ) 

Q. What klnd was it? 

A. An old Sbxon, It was an assembled car. They had bought par t s  fmm 
al l  factor ies ,  I guess, and put them together. I: wanted a Dodge, but the 
owner wouldn't promise r r e  a h d g e  under s i x  months t 5 . r ~  and I wanted it 
for t ha t  s m r  because I had the mney t o  pay for  it at tha t  th ,  and I 
wanted it. And he says, "This i s  jus t  as good a cas as a Dodge. I' Well, it 
wasn't any ca r  at a l l .  I paid eleven hundred dollars fo r  it and I ' m  s a t i s f l ed  
I paid a thousand the next year keepkg the thkg amnnlng. Oh, it was awful. 
There were different t b ~ s  I w a s  t e r r ib ly  tempted t o  jwt get out of It and 
leave it beside the  road. 

Q, What klnd of trouble? 

A. En@e trouble. You couldn' t drive from hem t o  m n d  and back but- 
it was a slx cylinder--but what thereld be three spark p l q p  tha t  wouldn't 
be firlng when you got how. 

Q. Then what would you do? Did you clean them yourself? 

A. Yes, I l e m e d  t o  clean the spark plugs and I also learned t o  take the 
top off of the block and clean the block because there 'd be a p i l e  of soot 
on the  top of tha t  block. Oh, It was a Jonah. I sold it fo r  a hundred 
dol lars ,  o r  traded It i n  on a Ford, and rr~y troubles ended. RLght there. 
When I got a Ford, no more t mub l e  . 
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Q. How dld you l e m  t o  Wlve? 

A. I learned ri@t on tha t  thing. I drove it home when I bo@t it, 
drove it from Raymnd. He drove r ight  ahead of me so as to-no, rZ&t 
behind me so as t o  help me i f  I was t o  need It. I drove it home- I 
was sa t i s f i ed  I could drive because I had steered a thresh* mchlne 
engine a l i t t l e .  I knew how t o  s t e e r  things. I never had any trouble 
with It, at a l l ,  i n  tha t  respect. 

Q. Did you have any trouble with the tires In those d q p ?  

A. No, the tlres weren't good a t  a l l .  Tne t i p s  tha t  were on that--I 
had t o  retire It the flrst s i x  months. Had t o  r e t i r e  c lear  around. Well, 
I went t o  SpringTleld t o  bqy tlres and I went t o  Firestone and be put some 
t i r e s  of f  on re tha t  were no earthly good. He mew I was a p e e f i e  and 
he put tlres on. So I bought t i r e s ,  t l r e s ,  t t r e s ,  t l r e s ,  Finally I got 
t i r e d  of it and I went t o  the Goodyear people and I said t o  the Cfoodyeal' 
man, "I want you t o  t e l l  sre why I can ' t  keep a tire on t h i s  cm. "  He says, 
'What does it wei@?" and I says, "It weighs 2600 pounds. f 've weighed 
it . I '  He says, "That's your tmuble .  That c w  1s a load fo r  any of the 
t i r e s  tha t  you've been putting on. When you put anything above tha t ,  you 
took a chance on a blowout. " And they would blowout. So, oh, I spent 
an awful l o t  of money on t i r e s  arid havlng it In the shop and so on. 

Dwlght Street  helped me out on It. He was a good mchanic, you know.  Some 
things, I' d just go out t o  &i@t  and have hlm help me because he would show 
rn what he done and why he done it and he helped me a l o t  about leamlrg t o  
keep the thing m v l n g .  So, I thoumt a l o t  of Dwignt Street. 

Q. Was he l iv ing  on the farm a t  t ha t  time? 

A. Living with his folks.  Yes, they were on the fm. 

Q. When you went t o  Springfield or  t o  Raymnd, did you w e  the Black 
D i m n d  trail over here? 

A. No, as a general thing, w e  went r ight  out hcrc on wliat  I s  66 now and went 
unt i l  we got up even with G i r H  and then weld cut thrclu@ the country and 
hlt rimer 4. N d e r  4 come as far as Gimrd and then branched off  southwest. 
It didn't come straiat down. So, we1 d go over and get on nwrber 4 and go 
on Into Springfield on it. But, i f  the dirt, road was good, why, we'd pp 
r ight  on In  on the dirt, but If It was a l i t t l e  muddy o r  anything, why, we'd 
t r y  t o  go t o  n m e r  4. 

Q. What was it; paved with? 

A. It w a s  paved with c e ~ n t .  It was one of the  f i r s t  roads tha t  was put in, 
I guess, down below there. Old rran Caldwell, who l lved 
s t a t e  senator. 'Ihe s t a t e  senator, now, and he had p u l l  
t ha t  road b u i l t  t o  h i s  house. To h i s  town, rather .  It 
tha t  came south out of Springfield. 

Q. So, it missed t h i s  area here, went west of us? 

A. Yes, ent i rely.  It was w,ay over there.  D i d n ' t  even 
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c lear  west of Nilwood, yet,  down through the country. Went t o  Jersey- 
v l l l e  and tha t  was the end of it. Then it was &st mad from then on, 
i f  you went on far ther .  But he had a concrete road t o  go i n  on, t o  go 
t o  Springfield; and I guess they had a road t o  Chicago, by that t h ,  I 
don't know. Anyhow, he'd take a t r a in ,  I p r e s m ,  always t o  Washirq$on, 
anyhow. 

Q. Are you farriLlia with the Black D i m n d  nam? How did it get t ha t  name? 

A. Well, they got State  help a f t e r  a whille for roads, and tha t  was the 
f b s t  road in thLs part  of the country, t ha t  I hew of,  tha t  got S ta te  help. 
So, they n m d  It the Black Diamond t o  dcslgnate It fo r  t h l s  help, you how, 
and it just  went t o  Pawnee. Well, It s ta r ted  at Hillsboro, as you know, 
and went on up t o  Pawnee. It was rocked f i r s t  wlth just gavel and then 
the gravel got p i t t ed  and everythhg and when they got t o  having the o i l ,  
why, they began leveling it up and o i l ing  it. They got help f r o m  the State 
t o  do tha t .  These other roads out here, we  couldnl t get any o i l ,  you know; 
we coulrlnlt get o i l  t o  o i l  the roads on the side. 

So, it was  a p a t  help t o  go u p - s o m t l m s  I'd go tha t  way. Co out here 
and h i t  t ha t  and ,p t o  Pawnee and then go across t o  hit nmber 4. 

Q. Otherwise it was dirt road a l l  the way in? 

A. Yes. We used t o  go up when we crossed what's Springfield lake now. 
Thc road went ri&t through tha t .  Wasn't any bridge there--yes  the^ was, 
a bridge over the creek. Sugar Creek, there,  had a brfdge on It. But they 
b d l t  t ha t  lake and condemned the land and took it .  They had one old fellow 
tha t  s a t  at h4s house with a shotgun f o r  a long tim and they didn't  go near 
hlm. He swore he'd k l l l  the f l r s t  rran tha t  cam on hls  place and they were 
a long time agetting somebow tha t  could reason with the old fe11ow. They 
f ina l ly  ~ a s o n e d  him out of It. Paid him for  h i s  land and got hlm out of 
there. I don't know h i s  nam o r  anymore than tha t .  I just heard them t e l l i n g  
about It. It held up the lake, though, for q d t e  a little while. 

Q. Do you remrrber when they paved Route 66, OL. 1-55 now, I guess, i s n  It i t? 

A.  Yes. I t ' s  s t i l l  66 par t ia l ly .  I think south of Mtchfield is  66 yet ,  
t o  go down t o  Edwardsvllle and so on. 

Well, l e t ' s  see. I think tha t  was bu i l t  i n  . . . about . . . 1922. No, 
hold on. I guess &out 1928 bccaux I had a Ford by tha t  tim. I 'd got 
r i d  of that other thing, m d  I b o u a t  .i.t i n  1917 md T: wax using For&, 
at tha t  time. 1 think- it was somewhere close t o  1928 tha t  they built t ha t .  
'Ihcy put a little milroad out r lmm Waggoner along slde t ha t  and hauled a l l  
t h e i r  material out there t o  build tha t .  

Q, Oh, i s  tha t  ~ l a ; h t ?  

A. Yes. Little narrow-gauge engine pulled a string of concrete oars; 
d q  on tha t ,  you know. A l l  the gravel, t ies,  and things tha t  they had 
t o  have fo r  the road was hauled by the l i t t l e  railroad. Quite a cute l i t t l e  
tmh.  
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Q. Jus t  mmhg *om Wap-goner out along the road? 

A. M&t along there. It had a whistle on it. (laughs ) 

Q. What did they do, mix the concrete In Waggoner? 

A. Yes, and hauled it out, at tha t  time. They had the mixer, and the 
gravel and al l ,  unloaded f'rom the railroad, you how. Tnen in to  the 
mixer and then they ran it In these cars and hauled it out along the w a y .  
I don't know how they d ed it, but they had a way of dumping it where 
they wanted it, anyhow .F They could take a bunch of m n  and sllde tha t  
track over, you know, with crowbars; they could move it back and for th 
where they-wlthln reason, you can ' t  bend the sail, but you could mve it 
wlthln reason. h d  they had it fixed so they hauled a l l  that m t e r l a l ,  
builldZng 66. North and south, both. 

Q. Dld they put tha t  concrete road that p e s  in to  Waggoner f'rom 66 i n  at 
tha t  time? 

A ,  Yes, 

Q. So, it went rl&t up t o  the railroad then? 

A. There's where the supervisor was a power. He says, "If  you're going 
t o  put all of t h i s  junk here In our town, you're going t o  b d l d  a concrete 
mad in to  it ." So, they did. When they got 66 b u i l t ,  they turned r ight  
around--they had the track l a i d  along s ide of It--turned r ight  around and 
bu i l t  the concrete in to  there.  

Q. Who was the supemrisor then? 

A.  John Gerlach. And he got the Waggoner concrete put In. He never took 
any credi t  f o r  It. I never dld hear him say tha t  he had anythbg t o  do with 
it, but I mew he did because I h e w  w e l l  enough t ha t  somebody with pu l l  was 
adoing It pol i t ica l ly ;  and he was the man tha t  had t o  be. Then, John Wagoner 
was the president of the bank and he was backing him, too, you mow. 

Q. Who was  working at the bank at tha t  t i m ?  

A. Well, a t  that t h e  John Wawner w a s  the head of I k h d  oT believe 
they had one of the Ripley boys i n  there as cashier. Seem to E m e  it was. 
Maybe Knotts was still there. I can ' t  remrfber when Knotts l e f t  tha t  bank. 
Probably Knotts was i n  there at tha t  tim because he was an experienced banker. 
pret ty  shrewd fellow, as  well; and a l lkab le  fellow. 

Q. D l d  Cap Williamson take over from John Waggoner? 

A. Cap w a s  a cashier under John. He went In under John and I think he 
followed whoever it was was i n  with John ahead. I think he followed them 
in, alearning the business and being the cashler. Wcll, he was cashier 
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until John threw it up. John got t i r e d  of being a director md he said 
he w a s  agoing t o  qdt, he wouldn't take the presidency any longer, t ha t  
they had t o  e lec t  a new president. So, then we elected Cap as president 
and took Winfleld Kessler i n  as cashier. 

Wlnfield Kessler and Cap and Raymnd Browning and Dayton Bowman and . . . 
Dorothy a l l  were in ~QJ time, and I ' m  t ry ing  t o  think, a f t e r  I l e f t  they 
had . . . Crabtree. Young C r a b t ~ e .  J h l s  boy. He wet; i n  there 
learned it. I t h h k  he ' s  s t i l l  working in somthin$ of tha t  a d .  3 y d  

Q. Is this the Jlm Crabtree tha t  w r i e d  Norm h n g ?  

A. Yes. 

Q. Yes, they have an incom tax  s e d c e .  There i n  the old bank b ~ l ~ ,  
as a m t t c r  of fact. 

A. Well, she does t ha t ,  but tha t  boy's i n  sornethbg e lse .  I think he 's in 
the bar&&ng buslness some way became he learned it well and wanted t o  be a 
banker. 

Q. Slr, I wonder, cou.ld we mike a b ig  j m p  now. One thing tha t  was  mentioned 
early and that we haven't gone in to  at a l l  mas, before you came up here in 
1910, you went out t o  Oklahoma and New Mexlco t o  look at homestea&Lng. Could 
you describe tha t  a l i t t l e  b i t .  Why you went out there t o  look f o r  a place? 

A.  Just because I wanted t o  farm. That was g o v e m n t  land each t b ,  t ha t  
was being entered, you h o w .  And the first t h y  when I went down t o  Oklahoma, 
why, tha t  land, you had t o  bid on it. You had t o  take a certifLed check for 
50 much and you couldn't b id  beyond your certlified check on a quarter section. 
That is, tha t  would be a d o l l m  an acre tha t  your check would pay. You had t o  
put up a dol la r  an acre. So, when we s t  down t o  tha t  place, why-of course, 
I ' d  never been in on anything like tha t .  I d ldnl t  know what they done o r  
how they did, anything about it. 

Jus t  before we got t o  Lawton, Oklahom, there was a rran t ha t  I could t e l l  
t o  look at him was a . f m r  and he cam and sat down In the seat beslde TIE 
In the car and he sqys, "You know they're @irg t o  have hotel  rates up, clear 
out of reason, down here now when we get i n to  &&on. A t r a l d o a d  of men 
coming In like thils. " And he says, "How would you l i k e  t o  bunk with me. 
Would you be wll l ing t o  sleep with IE tonight?" And I says, ' W e l l ,  sure I 
would. l 1  'Well," he says, "we can rent  a bed f o r  what we'd have t o  each one 
pw fo r  If we had got single beds. l'So,'l he says, "If you don't mind, we'll 
jus t  t o  In and regis te r  together and we ' l l  go t o  bed together." So, we did 
tha t  and I s lep t  with tha t  man a l l  nl&t. He got up e m l i e r  than I did and 
was gone. I never did learn h i s  name, or  mything about h h .  (Laughs) That 
was a funny experience. 
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Well, the next m m i n g  I got up and went down and I naturally hunted 
the land off lce because it was a government bushess,  you know. 

Well, I went t o  the land off lce and there was a thousand m D  o r  more 
In town tha t  were wan'clng t o  bid on tha t  land. I went t o  the land 
agent. I says, "Now, what s the procedure here? How do I pmceed?" 
'Well, I f  he says, "this  land has jus t  been surveyed and there I s  a 
cornerstone at--where It belongs--at every sectLon and i t ' s  masked very 
p l a h l y .  I t 's  jus t  a p h e  s t i ck  driven in the ground but you can read 
it, a f t e r  you start in, and, I '  he says, Itthere Is a township of it, of land, " 
So, whatever you did was i n  "cs township and he says, "You've gat t o  look 
at the land and I v d  advise you t o  get a locator,  a man tha t  knows the land 
out there,  and has an ou t f i t  t o  take you out because it w i l l  take you the 
be t t e r  pa r t  of a wee t o  go over the whole thing and look at the  land before 
you do any bidding. 3 5  

And I says, 'Well, r e c o m n d  a locator.  "Not E," he says. "You think 
I dare do anything l i k e  tha t  with a l l  the men there is  In town?'' I says, 
'Well, I hadn ' t thought of tha t .  I f  I says, "How would I go about fhd lng  
a good locator?" 'Well," he says, "youtl l  Jus t  have t o  take a chance." 
I-Ie says, "You go out and you ' l l  f lnd a nmber of fellows mund here tha t  
are locators.  They'll have a wagon and a team and a tent and a way t o  
bed you down of a night and so on. But," he says, "you've mt t o  flnd one 
of them and then you've got t o  f h d  enough E n  t o  suit h i m  t o  haul. Some 
of them w i l l  haul four, some of them want f ive,  som of them want s ix ,  and 
so on. So, it w i l l  be up t o  you t o  get him a load, i f  you f ind you a 10ca'cor.~' 

W d 1 ,  I just  walked back across the room and got i n  a c o m r  md jus t  stood 
there. I drldnlt go outside at all. I just  stood r ight  there in tha t  comer. 
Men kept comlng In. They ' d want the same thing Porn hlm as I had, you know, 
and he'd t e l l  them a l l  the s m  thing, jus t  like he to ld  me. 

Well, he seen I waznft leaving the mom there.  Finally he mtioned t o  me 
t o  corn back up t o  the window and he says, " I ' m  going t o  help you. a l l t t l e . f f  
He says, "There I s  a merchant r ight  around the corner here runs a grocery 
s tore  tha t  has a good mule t e r n  and a good wagon and a good tent and he has 
a b ig  carpet that  he can spread down on the ground for you t o  sleep on. 
He carrled the chaln f o r  all t h i s  surveying, so he mows every sectlon in 
there. You go amund t o  him but don't you t e l l  hlm I sent you!" I says, 
"1 won't. I' 11 keep It absolutely secret .  Nob* w l l l  mow that you've 
done anything fo r  me. I f  

So, I went zound t o  see t h i s  fellow and he was a young man. I says, "Have 
you got a load t o  haul out?" "No, I' he says, "1 haven't got a soul. '' And 
I says, "ell, I 'rn ahunting a locator.  What do you chwge and just what I s  

the  lay out?" Well, he to ld  IE t ha t  he would furnish a t en t  and a team and 
wagon and beddhg for  us t o  cover up wlth of a night, you kmw, something t o  
cover up. This was In March! 

So, he says, "I want four men and I ' d  l i ke  t o  have fellows that w e  rea l ly  
I n  earnest about byylng land. You go f lnd them and you b- them back here 
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and when you corn back here with four men, we ' l l  be ready t o  take off  ." 
Well, I went out In the crowd and l is tened t o  fellows t a lk ,  looked them 
over, and there w a s  two young E n  tha t  I sized up fo r  brothers. I could 
t e l l  they were G e m  descent by t h e i r  langmge and I h tmduced  myself 
t o  them and I says, 'Where are  you rellows fMrn?I1 Well, they were *om 
Pennsylmnla. They'd cow clear  out here f r o m  Pennsylvania. And I says, 
"Have you got a locator?I1 ItNo, " they says, "we don l t know how t o  get a 
locator. I t  I says, "Didn't you ask in the land offlcePtt No, they never 
asked nothing. 'Ihey were just standing around there waiting for sombody 
t o  ask them. I says, 'Well, I 've  got a man tha t  w i l l  t&e you," and I 
to ld  them what he would charge and the lay out. And I safrs, "We've got 
t o  r m l s h  our own grub and do our own cooking and a l l  of tha t  but he will 
f'urnish a t en t  and a carpet. I t  Well, they says, "Count us In,  Right off .  " 

Before I got done ta lking t o  them, there was a nice looking fellow walked 
up and he says, "You s t i l l  lack a man?" I says, "Yes, I do." He says, 
'Well, I 1 d  l ike  t o  t h r o w  i n  with you t h ~ e  fellows. I haven't a, l ~ c a t o r . ' ~  
And he says, " I ' m  a schoolteacher f r o m  ri@k up here i n  Oklahom. I: want 
t o  locate. 

So, I says, ' W e ' l l  go down and we ' l l  start out." So, I took the three 
of them down t o  the s tore  and learned t h e i r  m s  and presented them t o  
the fellow and he made h i s  proposition t o  them, as he had t o  me, you know. 
And he s&ys, "Now, you've got t o  buy enough groceries t o  take us a week, 
out there, and camp out. I t  And I says, "Well, what ' s  the matter wlth you 
mMng up tha t  week I s  supply m d  we 11 pay for  It. 'I He says, "I '11 do it. l' 
So, he hurried around in h i s  s tore  and made u$ a week's supply of what we 
would need--bacon and ham, and so on; you know, cured mat, and ems ,  an8 
coffee, bread. After he pt a l l  tha t  made up, he to ld  us how much it would 
cost. Well, we plunked down the money and paLd for  it and he put it in h9s 
wagon. "Now, I t  he says, "we ' re  ready t o  get in the wagon and go. l1 

ERE OF SIDE ONI? 

A. I l e  says, "Everythhg is In It, except the groceries. We'll st- out 
right now, t h i s  af'ternoon." Well, we got ahead of the crowd, way ahead of 
them, by tha t  old land agent ahe lphg m tha t  much, see. 

And so we went and got locateg, down i n  where we wanted t o  b e a n  looking, 
by nlght, and we carped out. 3 Did our own cooking and so on. mat w a s  
ny first experience i n  carping out.  I never had camped out as a boy. Never 
had. And we camped out there and he had a shotgun, he put it the Wagon, 
He says, 'We m y  see a cot tontal l ,  and i f  we do, they're s o d  t o  eat." But 
they wouldn't ea t  jacks, you know. So, as we went out, why, the two Penn- 
s y l d a n s  spied a cottontail. and grabbed that g m  and cracked hlm before 
he could get out of his nest. They had him f o r  supper. Well, I couldn't 
ea t  rabbi t .  I 1 d  never ca t  rabbit  ( l a m s )  f r o m  the  time I was a kid, 
I got; s ick of them when I was a kid because I ' d  shoot at a rabbit--I'd shook 
him f'ull of ha l r ,  you know, and I got q~ mouth f'ull of ha l r  a few t l m s  and 
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it cured me of eat ing rabbit .  (laughter) Well, those boys enjoyed 
tha t  rabbit  hugely, you know. Thcy a l l  a t e  it. 1 says, 'Well, when 
you get done cooking your rabbi t ,  then I ' l l  fry m s o w  bacon." And 
I fkied bacon and eggs fo r  my supper and they a t e  rabbit .  

Well, from then on it was the same every day. We just  dmve, drove, 
drove and looked at different sections of land and learned what sectton 
it was ,  put it d m  in the book, put down beside of it what we would 
bfd on it, per acre. We stayed out the full week, u n t i l  Saturday evening. 

And Saturday It r aked  a l l  day and there wasn't any roads, we were just 
driving over pra l r ie ,  and It got so the mules couldn't pu l l  us w n  i n  
tha t  wagon. The wappn drove way down. You had t o  w a l k  the last day, all 
day. We used up our last @yub for  breakfast the next mrmFng. !hat was 
the end of It and we were ready t o  get out t o  w h e ~  there was roads, you 
mow. 

"Well,'' the driver says, "we've s t i l l  got t o  cross Deep Red Creek," and 
he says, "I h a w  a squatter In  here tha t  has a ford down here i n  h i s  land. 
We ' 11 drive down there and find out about tha t  ford. " And he says, We ' 11 
cross tonllmt o r  we stay here un t f l  that  creek goes down." 

Well, the squatter t o l d  us exactly what t o  do. He had taken b ig  logs 
and put iln the bottom of there and s t a k d  them and then f i l l e d  In between 
them so  tha t  a wagon and team could go across on them. They went slaunch- 
ways across the crcek because you couldn't drive straight down. It was a t  
l eas t  twenty fee t  down tha t  bank and we went down it slaunchways f r o m  t h i s  
s ide and slamchways up the other s ide.  

When we got there and looked a t  it, I says, f don't think you can cross. 
Z"nerels too much current there." The dr iver  Says, 'We cross now o r  we 
don t cross u n t i l  tha t  creek runs down. " I sqys , "Okay, boy, start dri-. " 

I helped him with h i s  mules a l l  the t lm because I was used t o  working with 
horses, you how. He drove in and we got half'way across and one mule crowded 
the other one off of the corduroy and he just disappeared r ight  now, harncss 
and everything. I t h o w t ,  'Well, here we are l e  the  d d d l e  of this creek 
and the crcek ar l s lng  and one m u l e  w i l l  probably drown.'' But the  other mule 
braced h i s  fee t  and begin t o  pul l  and pret ty  soon he hauled h h  back by the 
neck yoke onto the logs and he got his feet and we went on out. (laughs) 
And we got out on the other s ide,  unhitched. We w e r e  out of grub. Didn't 
have any fTub l e f t  and we knew we had t o  drive most of the next day t o  get 
t o  a town. 

So, we s t a r t ed  out and we had another slough t o  cross and you never could 
t e l l  how deep those thfngs would be un.til you got in them, because it had 
rained a l o t  of water in two days and a n i&t ,  you lmm. 

We cam t o  tha t  slough and there was a famhouse rl@t on the edge of it and 
there was a kid a s i t t i n g  on the fence there.  The driver says, "Can we cross 
the slough?" He sa id  Yes and then he laughed like a fool.  He just laughed 
and held h l s  sides.  The driver says, "What w e  you laughing at?"  "Oh, ' I  he 
says, "you can cmss all rlat. Just go ahead. I knw you can cross." 
Well, tha t  mde us suspicious, hrlm a l a u i n g  so, you bow, but we &ove Zn 
there and it liked jus t  about tha t  much coming over the edge of the wagon bed. 
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Q. About s i x  Inches. 

A. We got thro& it and got on the mad and drove in to  a @n,town and 
they had an eat ing house there.  We drove d m  t o  the eating house and 
engaged room f o r  the f ive  of us. Then we had t o  go t o  a wagon yard and 
take care of t h i s  team. They had wagon ymds In those places that you 
put a team up and fed them i n  your own wagon, you know; but they were 
fenced in, they couldn't get away. So, we went t o  a wagon yard and put 
the mules away. 

And I says, ttNm, I want t o  pp down t o  the gin. I haven't seen a gin 
since I was a l i t t l e  kid and I want t o  see one." So, we went down t o  
the gin and looked it over. Then we went back up t o  the house. 

Well, when we f i m t  got i n  town, why, the schoolteacher, he noticed tha t  
I d ldn l t  cuss llke mst E n  did. (la&s) When we got in town there,  he 
says, "Do you drink?I1 And I says, "No, sir. I have no use fo r  l iquor 
whatsoever. I' 'Well, 'I he says, "neilther have I. When I l r n  going wlth you 
wherever you go. Because," he says, "that driver is aheadilng for a saloon, 
now, and the Pennsylvanians went with him, and he says, "those fellows 
w i l l  a11 get drunk.  You know they w i l l . "  He and I went over t o  the  gin, 
and we looked the gin over and then we headed back horn, o r  t o  the e a t i r g  
house. Running out of tape? 

Q. Yes, sir.  I ' m  right at the end of it, I ' m  afraid. 

A. Well, we f ive  had a good supper and a good wal. The boys lef t  tha t  
fellow when they seen he w a s  agoing t o  get drunk, they come and joined us. 
So, a l l  of us were sober at the supper table  but the driver could just  
barely see h i s  p la te  (lams ) and it wasntt long unt i l  his head was In 
h i s  plate .  And the schoolteacher said t o  these fellows, "You take h h  and 
put h i m  t o  bed. " And they did and we a l l  went t o  bed. 'Ihe next wrdng, 
he w a s  sober. 

So, t ha t  was  the end of It. He took us back t o  town and we paid our b i l l .  

Q. 38 . . . Oklahom. You remerrber you took the  t o w  out through the country- 
side.  

A. Yes. Well, we cam back t o  Lawton and went t o  t h i s  sane land of f ice  
and t o  the sam men tha t  had helped IIE get the locator,  you know. So, I 
Telt very kindly t o  tha t  fellow and I went up t o  him and got my papers. I 
says, "Now, you glve m what you think I o@t t o  have. " Well, be dished 
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them out t o  me and he says, "Couldn' t he read a l l  your corners ?'I And 
I says, "Yes. Very readily,  and it wasn't long u n t i l  I ~ o u l d . ' ~  And 
he says, "Well, that ' s what I figured. " 

He says, "Now, you1 ve got a certified check hese f o r  . . . " I think I 
had three h u n d ~ d  dol lars ,  I don't rernerrber the exact m u n t  , but It 
was jus t  a ce r t i f i ed  check from the bank made t o  IW and I endorsed It 
t o  whoever I wanted to ,  see. So, tha t  had t o  go i n  with rqy bid  t o  Wash- 
ington. He says, "Now, how q y  pieces did you pick out, " and so  on. 
Well, I had it pret ty  much i n  my head, then, and I to ld  him. He says, 
"What par t  did you l i k e  best?" and I to ld  h i m  what I a d .  He was  very 
famlWas with the country. He knew. He Id say, 'INOW, t ha t  ' s  the kind of 
location. I hope you got the r ight  kind of a b id  on that. ' '  

But he says, "Now, remerrber, you've got t o  have a doll= for  every acre 
you b ld  on here, now.'' Well, tha t  handcapped you t o  a cer tain extent. 
So, I went ahead and made rely bids and I remerber the= was a piece of 
bottom land, down In one townshlp there-see, th is  was tlwee counties. 
A l l  had been I n d m  temf to ry  and they'd throwed it i n  t o  be settled on. 
He says, "Some of these pieces of land, now, are what you think they m e ;  
and some of them are not. So," he says, "just be a l i t t l e  b i t  cautious ." 
He says, "If  you don't h o w  t h i s  country, you be t t e r  be pret ty  cautious. I' 
So, I guess, I was overly cautious. Tnat one piece of land I spoke o f ,  I 
come withln one dol la r  am acre of get t ing thab. I b id  ten and the old 
Oklahomlan b1.d eleven and he got it. So, I los t  out on the real piece 
tha t  I wanted and I: didn't  care veyy much, a f t e r  t ha t ,  whether 1 Suc- 
ceeded or  not. But It took three months f o r  your bids t o  be worked i n  
Washington. 'Then they sent back your three hwldred dol lar  check, just as 
it was, and to ld  you--they called at tent ion t o  your b i d ,  you know. 

Well, there was different quarter sections. You could b id  on a quarter 
section. That's all you could b id  on. You couldn't bid on a section. 

But when I went down t o  New Mexico, l a t e r ,  that was several yews l a t e r ,  
you could b id  on a section of land, s l x  hundred and forty acres. And I 
~merrber  I went t o  the land off ice t o  get a locator tha t  t h .  I ' d  had 
pret ty  good luck before and I went t o  the land off ice and he put on h i s  
ha t ,  at once, and says, "Well, come and gc with m," and he took me r i @ t  
over t o  a place. "Now, he says, "you can r e ly  on these mn. " S a y s ,  "You 
go ahead and hire them" Well, I hired them t o  locate m. 

They surveyed by a s t r lng  t i e d  t o  a b u p y  wheel and we wouldn't rrdss the 
comer post over t en  fee t ,  hardly ever. The guy t ha t  was i n  the b w g j  
counted the revolutions of tha t  buggy wheel. We knew the amount it covered, 
you know, and when we got there,  why, r ight  the= was a corner post. That 
hadn't been resurveyed, tha t  was old surveys you had t o  look for .  Well, 
then the fellow w o u d  get out and he'd go t o  kicking in  the sand. Maybe 
he'd have t o  dig a foot o r  a foot and a half (laughs) t o  f ind a post.  
It was dr i f ty .  

Well, I bid on a section there because I thougt~t pmbably i f  I located there, 
my two brothers tha t  were f m r s  would l i k e  t o  also,  and I would have had 
land enough fo r  a l l  of them. So, I blowed q y  p i l e  there.  I los t  the money, 
that  tim. They didn't  send it back. 'They took it. 
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After I came horn, nly father-in-law had seen I w a s  determined t o  get 
out of the telegraph job and get on a f m .  So, he c m  down t o  see 
m at Honey Bend and he said,  "Bert, I ' ve never got t o  t ~ a v e l  any In 
q y  l i f e .  " And he says, "Youlve been aruund a l o t  now, on passes. 
You1 ve seen a l o t  of the country. " He says, 'What l s the mtter with 
you going up there <and taking the famn and l e t  re m around awhile." 
Well, t ha t  just tllckled E t o  death because t h l s  w a s  a good location 
and I h e w  it was. So, I caw up here, then, and you mi@t say I be- 
cam a fixture. (chuckles) 

Q. Why dldnl t  you pmve on the land there In New Mexico, once you 
got st&ed on it? 

A. &cause of h9m offerfng rn t h i s .  I just dropped e v e r y t w  when I 
got a good f m h e r e  i n  I l l h o i s  because 1 knew how t o  farm it. There 
was other fellows f ' m m  around Honey Bend tha t  went down there ahead of 
me and, oh, every one of them just  cow and plead witth rre t o  corm on 
down there.  Tney wanted t o  get a so r t  of a colony of Illinolans down 
there because a l l  of those people down i n  that  country c la l r r~d those 
southerners were--well, they don't say lazy; they have l e tha rm.  And 
they all wanted a fellow f 'mm here where it's been colder and where 
he worked f o r  a livlng. 

So, one fellow f r o m  over there,  he came t o  see nae, I guess, three o r  four 
times. He had already been down and located hjroself, but he went and rented 
a farm that another fellow had proved up on and had broke it out. So, he 
didn't have t o  do all tha t  improving and bull- up. And he says, "I 
can get you one jus t  as g o d  r ight  there within a mile of me, 

Now, I never had gram cotton. I didn't know a thlnk about it. I seen 
there was a great change taking place i n  cotton, too, by the newspapers, 
because they were developing the pickers, you know, and g e t t h g  so they 
handled bigger acreages, and they also went t o  the long s taple  cotton. 
Well, now, I never had heard of anything of that kind. Grdbay cotton 
i s  a short s taple ,  about that  long. 

Q . About three inches. 

A.  Rut the long s tap le  is  sorrethlng l i k e  tha t  long. 

Q. Almost a foot. 

A. It grew just the s m  as fm as you could see, but when you gathered 
it, you had a whole l o t r m r e  l i n t  i n  each b o l l  than you would out of t h i s  
c o m n  cotton. So, tha t  was about as much as 1: knew about it. 

I mew they grvw wonderful wa tcmlon ,  but them was no market for them 
there,  at tha t  t ie .  They had qul te  a l o t  of trouble digging wells. Some 
wells they'd dig--I found tha t  out by the locator, he took ~TE around t o  
ppa.ct-lcally a l l  of them tha t  were aprovinp: up and I found them tha t  m 
in to  s t ra lght  chalk when they got down about twenty feet. I called it chalk 
I don't know what mineral it was but it w a s  jus t  exactly like chalk. You 
could break It with your fllngers and brlng out churslcs tha t  big.  You could 
just  break them off  and it w a s  just  whilte and looked just  f o r  the  world like 
chalk. 



I asked a fellow that was ad1-g how deep he was. Well, he to ld  m. 
I says, !'Any sign of water?" He shook hls head. He w a s  pret ty  badly 
discouraged. He didn ' t  want t o  knock those locators because they'd 
located him. But he shook h i s  head t o  m; he didn ' t  see any sI@ of 
water and there they'd dug tha t  well down twenty o r  t h l r t y  feet. They 
were way down there.  

And they were gettlng k i l l ed  i n  those wells, too. !hey were not s m t  
enoum t o  l e t  down a lantern t o  look for  firedamp. They'd leave a well 
overnight and think they could go back i n  the mrnlng and drop down i n  
there and go t o  work and there was a nwnber of fellows k i l led .  They'd 
dmp down in there and no a i r ,  you know, and they'd just drop. A fellow 
would gc down a f t e r  them and he'd drop. Well, I declded I didn't want 
any of that .  

But, I had coushs  that went down there with w, at the S a m  t h .  They 
were the ones tha t  got rre t o  come down there and they went down with rw 
the sam tS_me and they each got a quarter sectLon. One of themwas an 
old m i d ,  she never had m i e d ,  but she wanted s o w  land In her name. 
I don't how whether she had hlm already picked out; anyhow, she w r i e d  
not too 10% af'terwmd. He was no emthly  good, so her brother to le  rn 
l a t e r .  Af'ter she was dead, why, he to ld  me that she just got stung worse 
then ever on that m, worse than she did on the land. 

But h i s  children took over those horwstcads. They were partially finished, 
bow, and they finished them up and when 1 was down there In . . . 
l e t ' s  see. I s ta r ted  wfng  down there in . . . When dld I @, Nel? 

. You mean down t o  New Mexico? 

Yes. 

H.B. Oh, that w a s  about 1941. 

A. 1941? Well, anyhow, I got down there and those fellows had brou&t 
in productive f m .  They found the m e s l a n  water tha t  was supposed 
t o  be there, both famns. 

When I got down there,  I never had met  his kids a f t e r  they grew ug. I 
knew them as l l t t l e  kids. I never h e w  them after they grew up. So, I 
had, t o  hunt them up. I went t o  the old lurrber dealer in Demning and I 
says, "How long have you lived here?" He says, '''IYdrty yeass . I f  I says, 
" W e l l ,  m e n f t  you pret ty  well acquainted wilth the country, then; who l ives  
where and so on?" "Yes, sir," he says, "who do you want t o  flnd?" And I 
says, "I 'd l l ke  t o  f ind the Yates family." He says, ' W e l l ,  one of them 
works over here In t h i s  warehouse .'I ' He says, ''Johnny does," and he says, 
"Hets a go-getter. You get; i n  touch with Johrmy and y o u t l l  have a ~ o d  
advisor.If So, I run around--1 followed him mound tha t  b i g  warehouse 
pret ty  near a half  a day before I could ever catch up ~ith hilm. I didn't 
know him, you know, and I had t o  get somebody t o  point hlm out t o  rw and 
then rum him down, but I f ina l ly  got him and he says, 'Well, I w a n t  you 
t o  see Paul's farm, now, as long as you're d m  here. So, you corn and 
go home d t h  m, now, and 1'11 put my wife i n  your car and take you down 
t o  Paul ts ."  That was a brother older than him, had been on the land longer. 
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And I went down t o  h i s  f a r m .  He had three hundred and twenty acres, 
just a beautiful ranch, now, and he was ra i s ing  c a t t l e  and cotton 
and federal reserve, or  head corn, whatever you w a n t  t o  c a l l  it. 
They grew it fo r  feed, largely.  Cotton. And they grew p h t o  beans. 
That was t h e i r  rraln crop. 

Johnny, working i n  this warrehouse, knew a lot about the f'utms on 
those pintos and he to ld  m, before I went out t o  P a d ' s ,  he says, 
"Now, Paul's got all of h i s  beans stored here In the wareh~use. '~  They 
had a cooperative warehouse. And he says, "I begqed h l m  with a l l  q y  
heart t o  s e l l  those beans when he brou@t them i n  here." He says, 
"And he stuck them in and they're n.ot worth n e w  as much now as they 
was when he put them In, and they ' re  not agoing to be, e i ther .  There's 
too rrtany pintos. He's already paid a l o t  of storage and he's agoing t o  
have t o  keep paying as long as they s t l ck  i n  here." 

Well, when I q t  a l l  tha t  Informtion, I was thankfi l  t o  rr~y heart  t ha t  
I did come here instead of going there.  1'11 t e l l  you I: was; because 
the daughter-In-law to ld  re, when she was t u g   IF out t o  Paul's, she 
says, ''The l a s t  year that was stayed on J o m t s  famnt'--that was  her 
father-in-law--she says, "We had a beautiful f le ld  of corn, twenty acres . 
I wouldn't have asked for  p re t t i e r . "  She'd been raised i n  Oklahom where 
they grew corn'and she says, "We l a i d  It by at about tha t  high. It was 
nlce and green." O f  course, they h e w  they had t o  i r r f m t e ,  all the time, 
or  it didn ' t  get; rain. She says, "We l a id  that by and we had plans for 
another irrigation." And she says, "You how, there w a s  a southwester 
carre up and s ta r ted  blowing sand and i n  three days you couldn't see a 
blade of tha t  corm, It drif ted sand clear over the twenty acres tha t  deep. 
I sa ld  t o  my husband, we re qu i t t  ing r ight  now l We ' re get t lng out of t h i s .  'I 
So, he went t o  town and got a job i n  the co-op. I donv t h o w  what she done 
but she w a s  a real wide awake yomg woman. 

Q. So, you decided t o  corn back t o  I l l i no i s ,  then? 

A. Well, I was already located here. No, I wasn't already located, e i the r .  
Yes, I was, at tha t  time, because I ' d  been golng down t o  New Nexfco t o  *ter 
for  a winter or  two and I hadn't looked them fellows up and I decided tha t  
winter I would look them up, f ind out what tha t  country was--let ' s  see,  it 
was a hundred and twenty miles south of where I was, up i n  Hot Springs. You 
could &Sve it back and for th in  a day, you know. So, I had rr@ stakes s e t  
riejlt here, at tha t  tire. 

Q. Sir, I wonder--you know the other day the  tape was bad dwlng tha t  
session and there was  several things tha t  you covered on tha t .  I was able 
t o  l i s t e n  t o  it. I can't use it because we canvt  play It on anything except 
thlts recorder here. You can't hear it on anythlng e lse .  So, I wonder If I 
could ask you some questions about those things tha t  we los t  thm@ tha t  
the other day? For example, on the beginning of tha t  tape you were describ- 
ing a handheld corn planter.  A box wlth handles on the side tha t  you m u a l l y  
planted. Could you describe tha t?  

A. That W a s  the f i r s t  corn planter tha t  I ever saw, you mow. !they had a 
handle on each s ide and were about tha t  square, sheet iron, and you f i l l e d  
that  wlth corn, about a half  a bushel, mybe a peck. Depended on your 
laziness, you know; what you wanted t o  caury. Down at the bottom was a 
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place t o  put your foot on a bar  and jam tha t  In the ground. They l a i d  
off  the land l i k e  I to ld  you, wlth a drag, and you'd go along and s t i ck  
that--you'd walk between two rows, s t i ck  it i n  between, each s ide of 
you, and then s tep on the ground a f t e r  you'd pulled It out, so as t o  firm it. 
And it worked very good. They could plant corn f a i r l y  f a s t  with it. 
It w a s  much be t t e r  than a hoe and dropping it by hand, That was the 
beglnnilnp; of railsing corn, you know; drop it by hand and cover it with 
a hoe. 

That mchine I never saw a f t e r  the r ea l  corm planter appewed, that you 
could hl tch a team t o ,  you know. Whatever become af them, I don' t bow. 
They're musewn pieces i f  they could be found, I ' m  sure of tha t ,  because 
I don't ever remnber of seeing but one and that was a neighbor owned it. 
He was planting corn i n  stumps where you couldn't have worked with a corn 
planter at a l l .  You couldn't have got through because it wouldn't pass 
over them or  between them. He raised a rl@t falr crop of corn on f ive 
acres tha t  yem by planting it tha t  way and then taking a single shovel, 
of a double shovel, and going amund t h i s  side of the  row and then turn 
around and come back t h i s  side.  One round t o  a row an8 he used a blind 
horse and he could drive tha t  old m e  throw the stwsrps and she would 
never s t m b l e  . He ' d say, "Oh, now, easy, whatever-he-called-hey , easy, " 
and shc'd &e l  f o r  tha t  s t q  Just like you o r  I would. 

Q. Really a smart horse, then? 

A. She was - s m r t  and a good one, I ' l l  t e l l  you. Now, he could have takers 
horses t h x  could see. They'd whipped around there and got his machine 
t l e d  up, you see, but she'd go so easy and never was tied up a bit. 

Q. Si r ,  a good par t  of that  tape tha t  we los t  had t o  do with the f imt  
farm hand jobs tha t  you were--when you l e f t  how t o  go work on faxTns. 
One of the f i r s t  things you ~ n t i o n e d  was having constmcted a crabtree 
harrow. 

A. Yes. Well, I was s t i l l  a t  home fo r  tha t .  That w a s  the year we mved 
down by Honey Bend. Dad had the worry of mving i n  March. He had t o  give 
up the place up here the first of March and we bad rather  a bad Masch. 
The worry of It, and moving down there,  he developed-he w a s  subject t o  
bad rheumtic  attack--and he developed a rhewnatlc fever that put him In 
bed the 8th of March and he wasn't out a w n  until about the 10th of June. 
He was jus t  flat on h i s  back i n  bed and there I was - - a l l  the people s t m g e r s  
t o  us, you know. 

I never w i l l  forget how the Duffs came and helped us. My goodness, how 
they did work t o  get everything done tha t  should be done, at the  right I;*. 
Even to getting up stove wood. When we'd go t o  school, he'd corn down 
Saturday afternoon. 'Well, hi tch up a team and l e t  ' s  go hunt some wood. " 
Them days you could gc i n  the timber and take all the down s tu f f  you wanted 
t o .  Nobody cared. They wanted it out. And we Id go and haul Zn a b ig  load 
of down wood, put it on the wood p l l e ,  and then it was IQ t o  us boys. We 
had a cmsscut saw, two-man, and us boys would saw up enough wood to l a s t  
Mother f o r  cooklng and h e a t b g  throu@ the day. Well, when we got horn 
fiom cuchool, t w o  af us had t o  jwnp on that saw a w n ,  and the other one 
would feed the stock and so on. So, that  w a s  a l l  at horn. That was 
first experience, really, a t  beltng the leader of a fanning. 
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Q. And you had the crops t o  get i n  tha t  spPing, did you? The ne1Q;hbors 
helped you with that? 

A.  Yes. The ne ibbors  helped. That was when khey came and sowed the 
twenty acres of oats. Pa rented twenty acres of gmmd f r o m  another 
rran and he wanted t h i s  sown t o  oats because he wanted t o  put wheat i n  
it that  fall ,  t h i s  man did.  

So, it was a mile and a q m e r  f'rom home and Mother had t o  cook dinner 
and b o i l  coffee and take it a l l  f'rom hone down t o  all those E n .  We had 
a b ig  wagon and we had t o  sit  and hold tha t  old coffee pot that way t o  
keep it *om splashing all over, you know. That's when they cut rn the 
crabtree and put me on it f o r  a harrow. 

Q. Could you describe tha t ,  sir? 

A. Well, they just-do you know the wild crab? 

Q. Yes, sir. It's mthe r  a small t r ee ,  i s n ' t  i t ?  

A. No, they get blg.  They '11 get tha t  b ig  throm. 

foot 

A. But they grow very thick, i n  the top. TSle top i s  a very thlck growth. 
When they chopped It down, why, they cut a rlng amund it and put a chain 
on it, or  something that would hold t o  hi tch to ,  and then they took an axe 
and hacked these top lln33s all down ,ao I could get up there and stand t o  
drlve, you how. They gave rre a sack of s t m  t o  stand on on those llrhs 
and I drove tha t  thing u n t i l  we got the  oats  harrowed In.  And it did as 
good work as the harrow, too. 

Q. Oh, Is tha t  rlmt? 

A. Yes. Tney had thorns on them, a crabtree does. Thkk 1 W s  and the  
l l h s  didn't break easy, but tha t  w a s  about done when I urihltched from i t. 

Q. When you s t a r t ed  as a farm hand, dld you work for a hog-feeder first? 

A. Well, I started out f i r s t  workhg for  one of the Duffs. I jwt worked 
as a plow hand, then. Take a two-horse plow and two horses and you walked 
for everything, you know, them days. You walked f o r  plowing. You walked 
for h w m l n g .  You walked fo r  everythhg. 

Well, I started out with him. I worked for  him two weeks. He just hired 
IE by the day, 506 a day. The ne labors  a l l  went in cahoots that sprlng. 
That was the next spring a f t e r  we'd mved down there.  They a l l  went i n  
cahoots and put in oats,  one f l e l d  after another. They'd p p  the whole 
bunch Into my f i e l d  and put it In  and then over t o  yo& and put It In  and 
so on. They Worked tha t  way. 

Well, I plowed c*nst:i.ritly. I just walked behind that plow and by the end 
of the week, I didn't  thlnk I could put one l e g  ahead of the other at all. 
I jus t  thou@, I was done f o r  and I sald t o  M r .  Duff--weld sowed hLs tha t  
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mrning-I says, "lk.  Duff, I jus t  don't belleve I can haYrrYw thfs 
evenlng. 'I He was a b i g  man, he ' d weigh two hundred. He says, '!Bert, 
I don ' t believe your legs hurt  a b i t  worse than mine," and he says, 
1111 ve got t o  get those oats harrowed In.  It may m i n  between now and 
Monday. I' It was Saturday, you know. He says, "YOU tuy It a d ,  i f  you 
can mke it, when we get t h r o u a  with tha t ,  I I Z 1  put you on a horse and 
l e t  Fred take you hone." That was his boy. So, t ha t ' s  the way we worked 
it. 

I went hone and I to ld  Dad I didn 't want any Supper, I was s ick.  (laughs) 
And he says, "Sick nothing. You're t i r e d  out. You cow i n  hem ayld 
drink some hot t e a  and eat  a supper and you ' l l  feel en t i r e ly  d l f fwen t . "  
I remember I did. I f e l t  ent i rely different and, by Manday, tha t  had 
worn of f .  I could walk a l l  day and never feel it at all. 

And then I began working fo r  a l l  the neighbors. If they wanted a hand 
with the team, t o  handle a team, they'd corn and get m. I was rather  
smll for age. I dldn't  g r o w  u n t i l  I got t o  be about e l a t e e n ,  I guess; 
I was s t i l l  growing. I was small. I had t o  reach up t h i s  way t o  hold a 
plow handle. 1 couldn't do l l k e  a marr dld, hold them down here, you mow. 
After I got rry legs broke in ,  I could walk any of them down. 

So, I worked a l l  spring and when corn plowing time corn, why, another 
neighbor wanted m. His naw was Morrell. He says, "1 think you can plow 
corm. 'I "Well, " I sags, "I never have. " And he says, 'Well, you corn on 
over, I ' m  pret ty  sure you can plow corn and I need sombody t o  plow." I 
went over t o  hfs  place and he says, "Now, I'm going t o  put you on the 
easiest  cul t ivator  I 've  got, but you've got t o  l e m  it, 'Iheylre t r icky 
things. I' And he says, " I ' m  golng t o  show you how t o  take advantage of aLL 
of' It. I' 

Well, there was two wheels over here and there was an arch tha t  went over 
like this-one wheel, I man, over here; another wheel over here and then 
a. singletree on the end of each beam. You had two hem on there.  You 
plowed a row at a t h e ,  you know, with tha t .  But those wheels were ftxed-- 
I never figured Out why they were tha t  way because I never saw them a f i e r  
tha t  second year. If you wasnl t very carcf'ul in t u n i n g  around at the  end, 
the whole thlng would lay down on you. Those wheels would just collapse 
l i k e  that. They'd l a y  down f l a t  and I just bawled my eyes out the first 
two days I t r i e d  t o  plow corn with tha t  thing, Well, then all at once it 
dawned on m tha t  If I would pul l  on one handle, pul l  back, t ha t  would keep 
It *om collapsing, the team could take It on around, and away we'd go agalul. 
After I got used t o  m i n g  it, I wouldn't have traded it for a.ny cultlvatmr 
he had. There was no tongue on it. Nothing but two wheels, an arch, two 
beaxrs, and two singletrees.  

Q. And you walked it, I guess? 

A. Oh, walk. You walked f o r  everything them days. Yes. 

END OF SIDE ONE 

A. The reason I l iked it so well, it was so low down and l L @ t  t ha t ,  if 
you covered corn, you had t i n e  t o  kick it out as you corn t o  it, ~ 5 t h  your 
feet .  I could do as good a 3 ob as anybody, after a week's t l r r le .  
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Q. Did it have one blade on each s ide of the corn row? 

A. There was two shovels on each beam. You set the front one t o  throw 
the dir t  away and you s e t  the back one t o  throw it back over. Then you 
had a couple of fenders that--fenders were pleces of sheet iron about 
tha t  long and about tha t  deep . . . 
Q. About a foot and a half  foot. 

A. . . . and they were fastened on them beam so they kept that f r o m  
covering the corn. It would, especially If a team walked fast, tha t  
would t h r o w  d i r t ,  So, you had t o  watch that all the t i r ~  and not cover 
yow corn, because if you did, it couldn't get t h r o w  very good. Corn 
w i l l  cow up once, but it don't come up twice very good. 

Then af ter  I worked f o r  him throu& corn planting, why, he kept m thmL1@;h 
hasvest. I helped shock wheat. T h r o w  all of it then, 1 just worked by 
the day. F i f t y  cents a day. He had another hand that he paid by the mX~th. 
He paid h i m  about sixteen dollam a, mnth,  which was very l i t t l e  mare than 504 
a day, you see. He was always h c l p m .  IIe w a s  a. rmch older fellow than I and 
he was always helpful. If I bumped in to  somthlng I didn't  understand, 
I could get a correct answer from him. So, he mde a hand of m. We 
worked together a l l  tha t  year. 

Wen t o  plowing wheat ground. I helped plow the wheat ground tha t  f a l l .  
Hundred acres we plowed with two p l m s  and that w a s  some job. We h i t  a 
burrblebee's nest in pract ical ly  every rUrrOw, someplace along. He had 
a riding plow, the old man d id ,  and I just  had a walking plow but 1 used 
three horses in tha t  job. I had a bigger plow than a two-horse* He took 
h i s  knlfe and cut a bunch of switches tha t  were about that b i g  wund and 
about tha t  long and he bound them good with string, @od and ti@t. D i d  
t h i s  at the house, you know, where he could do It right and he ties that 
and he kept t ha t  across h i s  lap, a l l  the tlm. When we'd plow up a burble- 
bee's nest ,  e i ther  one of us ,  we took the team on out of the way and then 
we'd both get off  and go back and he'd keep t h ~ t  In h i s  hand and keep the 
bees off  of n~ and I ' d  take a chunk and throw an t h e i r  nest and hop on it 
and tromp it in. That was the end of the burblebees. We could go right 
ahead. ( l a m t e r )  I seldom got stung. He could keep them off with tha t .  
lbose switches were like . . . 
Q. A flyswatter? 

A ,  A flyswatter. Yes, sip. They'd down him md when they downed h h ,  
why, we'd tramp him, you how. 

And I worked f o r  h h t h r o u @  the hay harvest. Next year he was back a f t e r  
mc again. I worked fo r  him about three years, off  and on. 

Q. What was hls  m, sir? 

A. Momell. George Morrell. He clewed his two hundred and twenty w r e s  
of land and then he sold it and mved t o  Cnl.ifornJ.n. I didn't  Know anything 
about him a f t e r  he mved t o  California. I knew he got along a l l  r ight  som 
way because he cam back t o  visit the nel@bo~'hood and @;o t o  the World's Fair.  



By that  t k  I had quite farming and w a s  In the telegraph off ice there 
at Honey Bend. 

They had l o t s  of gold i n  Califomla. A l l  the gold mney they wanted t o  
carry, you bow, and he thought it would be quite a s ight  t o  show us 
fellows gold. Well, rimt a t  tha t  t k  the railroad was apaying us off  
in  gold a l l  the  tire. Every mnth  they'd go In a paycar and I ' d  get 
Tofly dol lars ,  two twenties. Tne other fellows according t o  what they 
earned, you know. 

So, I f l l  never forget him coming i n  the mmhg he was ageing t o  the Pair. 
He was buying the t icke ts .  He was v i s l t l ng  another one of the neilbbors 
and he b m w t  this neighbor and was apaylng t h e i r  way t o  the Pa i r ,  He 
t o ld  me how m n y  t l cke ts  he wanted and he says, "How much is I t ? "  and I 
to ld  him and he plunked down a twenty d o l l m  @Id piece. He says, "You 
haven I t  seen very rrmy of them, I guess. I says, "Yes, I have. 'I I says, 
"We get paid in them every mnth.  " (lau@;hter) So, I shoved It off  t o  one 
side whlle I made out the t i cke t .  So, he got his t i cke ts  and handed them 
t o  each o w  of them around the room, you how. He was adohg the s tunt ,  
and the twenty was s t l l l  laylng there.  f just l e e  it unt i l  just about 
tlme fo r  the trah t o  come, for  me to get outside. I says, "George, do 
you want t h l s  twenty back?" '?Jy, Godl" he says, 'Vid I leave that there?" 
(laughter) Did he want it back. Oh, that w a s  f'unny. 

Q. Who did you wo~k  fo r  a f t e r  you worked f o r  M r .  M o m l l ?  

A.  Well, then I worked fo r  h i s  nel@bor, George Wood. 1 worked for him 
by the day, t h o r n ;  I never worked f o r  hlm by the mnth.  He was one of 
those stock E n  that I to ld  you was i n  the Tine hog business. He imported 
sows and bows f m m  figland and I used t o  f e e l  like I ought t o  take my hat 
off every tlme 1 slopped them hogs because they (lams) had royal blood 
i n  them, you how. 

But, the poor bugger was as hard hearing as I am. There wasn ' t any help, 
them days, f o r  them, you how. When he'd have h i s  sa l e  In the f a l l ,  why, 
he'd advertise It through the stock Journal and there td  be m n  corn f'rorn 
Iowa and Missouri and, oh, a l l  over, f o r  those hogs, became they knew 
they were imported, o r  they werc get f'rom Fmported. Well, they'd come 
down there and they'd soon flnd out how deaf he was. Well then, two of 
them, I f  they were f r o m  the s m  s t a t e ,  they'd say, 'Well now, I w a n t  so 
many out of bunch so-and-so." They werc a l l  penned, you know, and nunbered. 
"Out of n u h e r  so-and-so. How r rmy do you want?" We11, they'd take tha t  
pen, the  two would, and well, t h i s  fellow would say, "You do the biddtng. 
It  1.1 keep out of it. " Well, as a consequence, there wasn't any biddlng. 
People amund there couldn't buy them because, just  f o r  stock hogs, you how, 
they were too hi& priced. Hogs sold f o r  a hundred and f i r t y  dollars aplece. 
Why, nly goodness, [ i f ]  you could take a b ig  hog t o  town and get t h i r t y  dollars 
for  it, you w a s  adolng a hundred, them days. 

So, I worked for  h i m  off and on p a ~ t  of one season. The next season well, 
I went and hired t o  a nan named Martin, by the rwnth. He gave me $14 a 
mnth,  whlch was just 506 a day, but he boarded m and he was a good boss. 
A wonderfd stock man, and then, a fellow I klnd of l lked. He had been ralsed 
In a b lg  family and I never knew the particulam but he was the only one tha t  
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got well-to-do out of it. Some way, he got well-to-do. The other 
boys dldn't have much buslness with hlm, so I flgumd he dld a l i t t l e  
cheatlng In t ha t  s e t t l i n g  of the e s t a t e .  Though I never h e w  it. But 
I worked f o r  hlm a pa r t  of two seasons. Just  work up t o  a harvest, 
then I ' d  go out and work by the day. I got so I could get a dol la r  a 
day as a harvest hand after t ha t .  I got b ig  e n o m  I could d raw a 
dol la r  a day. 

I always gave my dad half  of q~ wages. He needed it m d  needed it the 
worst ever. I gave him half of rr~y wages mtll I was twenty-two. 

Q. What type work did you do for  W. MaY.th? 

A.  Well, he famed a l i t t l e .  He grew twenty acres of corn. Very l i t t l e  
-in aside from tha t ,  and he would h i r e  practrlcally all of that cut in to  
fodder and feed It t o  his ca t t l e .  He w ~ z s  a cattle-feeder. And then, the 
work I d2d f o r  him rrainly was build fence. He fenced a place , . . I 
wonder i f  I can ~mrrber how m n y  acres.  1 think there was eight acres 
tha t  he b u t l t  a hog-ti@ fence around with boards. He &drilt use these 
pickets, l i ke  Dad had been maklrg. He got boards and mde them and I se t  
posts and he mde pens f o r  hogs, h o p ,  hogs, bogs, you how. I-Ie could 
have jus t  pens f o r  hogs. 

Nobody got the best of him when they had a sa le ,  don1 t you t h h k  . He 
mew what he was adoing. He heard them plo t t ing  agalnst the other fellow. 
He to ld  re so and he said,  "It put IW on ny m t t l e .  And he says, "I 
seen If they wanted it they be t t e r  get In and bid because," he says, "I 
had somebody tha t  would buck tha t  fellow a l l t t l e  . " Hey d back them. 

So, he w a s  a very agreeable man t o  work fo r  and h i s  wlfe was an awful 
nice lady, She was just  as kind t o  E as she could be, Poor old soul.  
She didn't  have any neimbors. The nci&bors weren't there at  a l l ,  hardly. 
They dld go t o  church, though. They belonged over at the Pleasant H i l l  
church. That one over on the road. They went t o  church and Sunday school. 
She got t o  see the people tha t  way. 

&. This is the church there on66P 

A .  Yes. They moved it across the  mad now, you how. Rebuilt It. So, 
t h a t ' s  been a church a long t lm.  D r .  Allen I s  . . . I don't laow what 
h i s  age I s ,  i n  Lltchfield.  He's been a doctor there a long, long ti=. 
I went t o  school with h i s  dad a l i t t l e  while at Hazel Green. P ia t  was 
the name of the school that we attended a t  born. There w a s  a b ig  famlly 
of those Allens and there was three of the m n  studied t o  be d o c t ~ r s .  
Doc Allen's fa ther  was the only one tha t  l ived t o  get any good of it. 
The other two contacted typhoid fever, I don't how whether It was i n  
the d i s e c t h g  room or  what, but It k i l led  them before they got t h e i r  di- 
p l o m .  Gne fellow w a s  on h i s  deathbed and they brought the diplorn up 
fromthe toll-ege and presented it t o  him so he could see he djd get it, 
but It d idnl t  do h h  any good. 

Then, thls old m, now, t h e i r  fa ther ,  was a Carrpbellite preacher and I 
used t o  hear h i m  preach. He w a s  a flne old m. Mved on a fa and 
t r i e d  t o  get those boys t o  farm but they wouldnlt do It, you how. They 
wanted something e lse .  I don't think any of them-yes, there was one of 



them made a f a m r .  One boy. He was an awful nice fellow. 

Q. Where did M r .  Allen preach? Was it at Pleasant H i l l ?  

A. Pleasant Hl11. 

Q. Where was the New Hope church? 

A. The New Hope church is  about three miles soukh fYum tha t  church 
and then go west a mile and a half .  

Q. Sorewhere near B m e t t  , then? 

A. Well, it's close t o  the New Hope school. There's a Wew Hope school 
out there that  belongs t o  the Wtchfield bunch. I t 's  r ight  out there 
close t o  this church. I t 's  not hard t o  f h d  the church. 

Then, there was two s f s t e m  in t ha t  merbership out; there tha t  were f d l  
blood Wench, Their father-I don't know whether he Inmilgrated Mrn 
France o r  whether h i s  parents did. He was a full blood Frenchman and 
very peculiar. If you got a d i m  out of him i n  the collection box, you 
did pret ty  well. (laughs) He had a good f a  and ra ised  stock and good 
property but these two girls outlived him and heired a l l  tha t  he had and, 
after they did tha t ,  why, they went t o  work on tha t  church t o  rmke it 
what they wanted it t o  be a l l  along. They dug a basemnt under It, bricked 
It up and bricked it in, and they spent I don't know bow many thousand, 
but a b ig  end of hls money went Into that church. (laughs) He belonged 
t o  it but he was jus t  one of those fellows couldnlt l e t  loose, you know. 

Q. Sir, who'd you work fo r  af'ter m. Marct;in, then? 

A. Well, then I went away from horn over by Harvel. I went t o  a m 
n m d  Wylle. He had a gangplow. Now, t h a t ' s  the flrst @@low I ' d  ewer 
found In my working out, but he had a .@ngplow and a team broke t o  it and 
he had good homes. 

He had masured his  ground so tha t  he never planted a r o w  of corn in the  
dead f'urrow. You know what a dead furrow is, the fwmw between lands. 

Q. Yes, sir. I tvs  klnd of a ditch. 

A ,  Yes. A drainage. They never l iked t o  get In t ha t  furrow with a row 
of corn because it was easy t o  cover up, see. So, he maswed h i s  frlelds 
and m k e d  them off and then plowed them accordingly, and there wasn't a 
row went in there. And he sald t o  me, he says, "NOW, you're t o  start on 
those furrows and lay off your lands and, i f  you watch your business, 
you ' l l  f h l s h  wlthout ever turning mound. Don't you l e t  m cafich you 
turning m u n d  In the field t o  f in ish  a land. You finish it clear throUgh 
the f ie ld ."  Well, he rea l ly  dfd teach me t o  &dve a f'urrow; a straie;ht 
one, you see. Sure enough, when we planted the corn, it all stayed on top; 
there was not a one of them i n  the f l r r o w .  

Q. How dlld you dr ive so stralmt? How did you gulde y o m e l f ?  
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A. Well, the team had a f m w  t o  follow. Yau see, you put a swing 
horse out here i n  t h i s  f h ~ o w .  And he soon learned t o  stay In It, 
because i f  he stepped out here, he was i n  plowed @;round; i f  he got 
out here, he ld be jerked back. So, he 'd s tay i n  tha t  f m w .  Well, 
that  guided t h h ~  s t ra f&t .  If you got the first one strai&t, why, 
he'd keep it stralght  f o r  you, you know, right thmugh the fleld; and 
then, when you come t o  the end of finishing a land, mybe you wouldn't 
plow but a half a furrow with each plow. You had two plows, you mow. 
So tha t  you would be sure t o  f in ish  i n  tha t  space. 

Q. That's the  aso on they called it a ganpplcrw, because it had two . . . 
A. Two plows. I never had seen a g q p l o w ,  a r e a l  gang of plows, u n t l l  
I went west and seen those big, oh . . . discs. They used disc plows i n  
the west and they would cut ten  fee t  on a side,  you know. &ch slde cut 
ten feet ,  twenty feet  at a througn. And when 1 saw them, I said, "Well, 
they've sure got her  made. They can put i n  a l l  the wheat they w a n t  to. ' '  
And they did, too. That's where Kansas and Oklahom got the lead on the 
wheat business Zn the early days. It was because they had those b ig  old 
discs.  Those discs would turn  under stubble jus t  about as good as a plow 
because they could s e t  them deep and they kept them sharp. !they were a 
dangerous thfng i f  you f e l l  off i n  fk'ont of them. 

Q. Why didn ' t they use those around here? 

A. Well, It was too short  turning, around here, because you twned i n  a 
quarter of a f i l e .  Well, those fellows, l o t s  of them, went a mile. They ' d 
go down a mlle and corn back a mile, you know. Maybe fasther than tha t .  
I've seen s o w  of them tha t  I'm s a t l s f l e d  . . . In, Washhgton, I think I 
saw a fellow sra_klng a f ive mile t h m u a .  I was just driving tl~rough the 
country and seen where he was aplowirg and I watched where he went t o  t o  
turn and he wept clew up i n  the edge of the footh i l l s  before he turned 
around. 

&. Hardly see f 'mm one end t o  the other, then? 

A. No! And he'd grow wheat there,  too. 

Q. Was it while you were wo~klng f o r  M r .  WyUe--did he get the threshing 
machine? 

A. Well, he omed a half-interest  i n  It. He and h i s  brother-in-law, the 
man who'd m i e d  his s i s t e r .  They owned It together and they were congenial 
fellows, got along wlthout any trouble. I never h e z d  a word between them. 
They always m e d .  One did one thing and one did the other,  you lonow. 
The other man ran the englne. He was a pre t ty  good mchlrdst, could keep 
an englne p h g .  WyUe took care of the sepasator and, I t h W ,  done most 
of the  c o l l e c t b g .  The worked a l l  over the country around them there.  Took 
i n  a b i g  t e r r i to ry .  

Q. How b i g  a crew would they have t o  work the t h r e s h h g  mchine? 

A. Well, there ld  just be these two En, and thenthey had t o  have two 
feeders. A m couldn't feed a mchlne only about an hour. A n  how 
i s  a long tire t o  feed a machine because you stood up and . . . They 
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would take a bundle, the bundles would be thwm with the heads to- 
wmd the cylinder, and the band cu t t e r  would-well, they had t o  have 
band cut te rs ,  too.39 Two band cut ters .  They would stand there with 
a knife and snip the s t r i n g  and then the fellow would reach over wlth 
one amn and, as he reached over, hc ld  put this a m  under and that  way 
he spread tha t  wheat so  it just  went In there as even; c lear  acmss 
the  cylinder, you mow. Well, It took pmctlce t o  learn that and t o  
do it he had t o  lean over where he breathed dust and they didn't  have 
any respirators  o r  anything of the kind, those days. They Just took it. 

Well, a fellow u$ there,  i f  it was r e a l  hot,  t h i r t y  minutes was an a w r u l  
s tunt ,  you how. He'd stand up there . . , I cut bands an awful l o t  of 
time and I never hIt a man's hand but once I hit one man's hand but 
he had on gloves; I di.dnlt cut hlm. I stopped the kn i fe  just as it struck. 
But what a look he gaxe me. (laughs ) 

Q, Were you standlng on the mchine when you werc cutting these bundles? 

A. Yes. They had a platform tha t  reached &Lon$ under the  feeding plat-  
form. There w a s  one time I cut bands when they put a bushel of wheat 
under m . They l d fill a sack with a bushel of wheat In it, then put me 
on top of it so I could reach over. I w a s  s h a h .  I cut l o t s  of bands 
tha t  way; but 1 never did cut wire bands. Now, the flrst binders bound 
with wire. They had a wlre similar t o  baling wLre only It came on spools, 
They put tha t  spool up there and tha t  wire fed through just like the 
s t r ing  did l a t e r .  They f ina l ly  developed the sisal string and then they 
did away with the wire because you had t o  have tin snllps t o  cut tha t  a r e .  
You had t o  be pret ty  sure you snlpped her, too, because 15 thab went in to  
the cylinder and hooked on the concaves, too, you'd th ink  the end was 
comlng out of the wchine . Terrible jerk. 

Q. When you were cut t ing the bundles was it on the treadmill, o r  mvhg 
loader, inside the feeder? 

A. Well, tha t  was before they had self-feeden.  Oh, they didn't get 
self-feedem mti l  I was grown. Then you pitched in  and these w a s  no 
bands cut,  only as the mchine cut them. Tney bad a c l rcu lar  knife tha t  
run In front of  the feeder there tha t  cut a l l  the s t r ings  pret ty  good. 

fed them r ight  int 0 the machine i t s e l f ,  i n to  the mchanlsm? 

A. We pitched them, yes, f r o m  the wagon. But when I was cut t ing bands, 
why, I stood--the feeder would be i n  front of the cgllnder-but I Stood 
back over there on that side and I reached over here and cut the band and 
hc ' d reach over and gr& the bundle, you how.  They didn't  like everybody 
cut t ing bands because some of them were too careless wlth t h e l r  h i v e s ,  
you know. You had t o  h a w  a pret ty  good knife. 

3 9 ~ e e  addenda item 139. 
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Q. D l d  you a lso  run a bundle wagon? 

A. Oh, yes. Tnen when I went t o  working fo r  Wylie, I drove a 
bundle wagon al.1 through the threshing. A l l  over the country. 
I got acquainted with the country completely. That was over 
southeast of Hamel in, I think it's Ware's Gmve Township, 
if I remrrber r imt.  !they threshed over a p a t  scope of country 
there and the p a l n  was hauled t o  Butler and Hlllsboro and Ray- 
mond, and some of it went t o  Harvel, af'ter we got up in t ha t  neck 
of the  woods. So, I worked over a l o t  of t e r r i to ry  tha t  f a l l  on 
tha t .  

I only worked for tha t  m the one year and the next year I t r ied 
telegraphing. I determined I wasn't agoing t o  work--no, I take 
tha t  back. The next yew I came up here and worked fo r  M r .  Richzd- 
son and I worked for  h i m  two seasons. Worked for  h i m  until I was 
22. Then I went in to  the  telegraph off ice at 22 and I stayed there- 
I went Jn the f l m t  day of Noverrber, the election day. Presidential 
electlon. Maybe it wasn't the f i r s t  day. On election day anyhow, 
I went i n  and I worked u n t i l  the 1st of MaY.ch and then tha t  tower 
was awamting a rran pretty bad and the agent said, "You're capable 
of handling tha t  tower, so you're golng t o  gc down there and f in ish  
up your telegraph education ri@k In tha t  tower." Because we had 
the dfspatchers wire went t h r o u a  there and every order tha t  was 
given cam through tha t  place. I could copy orders all n igh t ,  you 
how. Just silt there and just pretend I was  agetting them t o  trains 
and I news copled but one i n  the year that I was there for  a train. 
( chuckles ) 

Q We covered tha t  part  of it pret ty  well, sir. Tnere are a couple 
other i t e m  tha t  were on tha t  bad tape . . . 

END OF TAPE 

Q. For example, you described how you went about loading a bundle 
wagon. Could you describe how you stacked I t  t o  bui ld  your stack 
on a bundle wamn? 

A. Well, when wheat's shocked--you wouldn't know It mless you'd 
been there and torn  up shocks, but when wheaVs shocked, the head 
part is  pushed in. In other words, they don't se t  s t r a l @ t  up and 
down; they se t  l l k e  t h i s .  

A. So, the base of a bundle i s  long on t h i s  end and short on t h l s  end. 
Well, when you start loading your wagon, you would throw that  long end 
over the edge of the  frame. Every bundle, you'd put it over the edge of 
the Pame.  Well, then the  next t k  when the bundles came up to go a- 
round, you put the long end over the string of that othe~ row of bundles, 



Then you f i l l e d  i n  in the middle. You'd not stop with just going 
around the outslde, you'd put bundles wound u n t i l  you'd f l l l e d  the 
whole frame, you know, with bundles. Well, then the next round, why, 
you'd go as I t e l l  you, so tha t  t ha t  long end went outside and tha t  
kept it-it had a tendency t o  dig i n ,  see, so  you wouldn't s p i l l  your 
bundle going to the house. Took you a l i t t l e  while ta learn t o  do tha t  
wlth a pitchfork, but it was a wonderful help t o  do it wfh a pitchfork 
instead of with your hands, because you had t o  bend over t o  lay every 
bundle with your hands, you know. With the pitchfork, you just slapped 
them down and stepped on them. 

When you got your load way up hlgh, why, you pulled in just a l i t t l e  
wlth your top bundles, so tha t  It kind of topped it, you see, and f i l l e d  
the rrdddle extra f u l l .  Then you went t o  the house. If a fellow wanted 
t o  try t o  get the clean s ide,  l o t s  of t h w s  he'd keep loading when he 
shouldn't. Well, then he rd  have a load on there tha t  w a s  In danger of 
l o s h g  sow of It, He'd t r y  t o  outstay another fellow aloadlng. 

I remember one paY.ticular t h  there  was a fellow tha t  was quite a cheat 
about get t ing the clean side.  Everybody watched him. I had a neighbor, 
tha t  l ived ri&t down here, apitching t o  m, at tha t  tlw. That was when 
I w a s  worklng for  Nchardson and I was running a bundle wappn, He says 
t o  me, !'Are you going t o  l e t  tha t  fellow put you on the a r t y  side?" I 
sald, "Well, no, but do you want t o  pitch them up as high as I w i l l  have 
t o  go?" He says,  "You keep aloading until I qui t  pitching." So, I loaded 
up a load there  tha t  I  ally had a load and a half, but I outstayed him. 
(laughs) He had t o  go take his dirty side.  

Q. Si r ,  what did you man by the clean and d i r ty  side? 

A, Well, they'd t r y  t o  s e t  a machine facing the wind. Well, the art 
would tend t o  go t o  one s ide,  anyhow, and there would be a clean s ide 
here tha t  the d b t  didn ' t  blow on, a l l  over you, and you could breathe a 
l o t  be t te r .  I had t o  put a haridkerchlef over my face, oh, fo r  a rimer 
of years. Whenever I ' d  start i n  t o  the m c h h e ,  I ' d  take a great b ig  
bandana and t i e  here. Just l lke  a surgeon's m k ,  you know, a d  breathe 
through Ilt while I was up there.  Because I had hay fever and had it bad. 

Q. I believe you sa ld  you dad was an expert at building stmwstacks 
f'rorn the machine. 

A ,  Yes. There w a s  a simt t o  tha t .  The other day I was over b the 
barber shop and there was a fellow begin talk* t o  the,  oh, just t o  
whoever was i n  there.  He knew a l l  of the fellows tha t  was In there.  
I d ldnf t  how any of them. The barber knew q y  age and one of these 
fellows asked the other how old he was. Well, one was 68 and the other 
was 66 and the baYber looked over a t  me and he says, "They're both a 
couple of kids playing aromd, a ren ' t  they?" And I says, "Yes, t h a t ' s  
r ight ,  but , It I says, "they 're i n  the dangerous age f o r  playing around. " 

Because f i f t y  t o  sixty i s  the mnfs heart  tire. He wants t o  watch. 

So, one of these fellows kept atalking about t h u g s  that I knew he knew 
about me and, f h a l l y  , I says, 'mat I s  your m , anyhow?" He  says ,  
'Weltekamp, " and I says, 'Well, who m e  you? You're not one of the twins. " 
He says, "No. I ' m  Henryls boy. 11 



"Well," I says, "I w a n t  t o  ask you-your grandfathep used t o  work 
mound the threshing m c h k  when I was agoing wlth it. He stacked 
s t r a w  for everybody. He did the hardest job there was t o  do wound 
there.  Do you h ~ o w  what t h e  he s e t t l e d  up In that  corntry?'' I-Ie 
says, "No, I don't.  I' About tha t  tirrle the barber jerked out a book 
and he says, "We '11 see here. We '11 flnd out pret ty  quick. " kid 
they went looking. He says, 'What w a s  h i s  gtven n m ? l 1  t o  thls 
fellow--the barber dld, you how. He says, ''Land, I don't know what 

gmnddadts @ven name was. 'I I says, ' W e l l ,  I do! It was John. " 
And t h i s  boy's nam was John and I says, "I hew hlm quite well. He 
stacked s t r a w  a l l  around there fo r  those fellows. Did the hardest 
kind of job and he didn ' t have t o  do it because he jus t  did it out 
of pride, it seemed t o  IX. He mde a wonderfhl stack. 'I 

Well, the secret of tha t  was buildfng the d d d l e  so l id  and l e t  the 
outside be loose. Just throw straw L@, o r  W e  the stacker throw it 
mound outside and not tramp on 1-t much, but they would tramp up and 
down through the middle and mke it so l id  e n o m  tha t  It woddnlt  
s e t t l e .  Well, when the stack se t t led ,  it would s e t t l e  these outside 
places and would drain, you see, and t h i s  nrLddle was so l id  and wouldn't 
take water. That w a s  the secret .  

There wasnlt every man tha t  could put up a good stack. There was very 
few of them. &I dad was one of them tha t  followed it. He got dol la r  
and a half  a day for  doing tha t  when they were paying a dol lar  a day 
for  a harvest man. And he stacked straw and he had a bad hear t .  1 
always have wondered how he breathed i n  a l l  of that  dust and stacked 
stsaw l i k e  he ad. He just followed the machine and stacked S t m W  be- 
cause he got a half a dol lar  a day mre. 

Q. The stacker was the  pipe tha t  the straw cam out f r o m  the mchine 
through? 

A. Yes, and It had a blower at the bottom of it tha t  blew It,, in l a t e r  
yews.  In  early years, they had a slat machine tha t  c m i e d  It, The 
separator would brLng It out, If it was slats, and then it would li@t 
on t h i s  ex t ra  and it would carry It on s l a t s  and they could elevate It 
away up and make a good b ig  stack of It. But you never seen them af'ter 
the whd-stacker c a m  on. The wlnd-stacker took it alI. 

Q. Sir ,  there was some discussion on tha t  bad tape about hay loading, 
a machine tha t  you attached t o  the r ea r  of the wawn t o  load hay with. 
Could you descrlbe tha t  fo r  u s ,  sir? 

A .  Well, it was sM1a.r t o  one of those stackers. It had a slatted p& 
tha t  run up and down and It m between slats ao tbat the hay wouldn't 
f a l l  off and they had fingers of w i r e  tha t  caught the hay. !They'd plck 
it r ight  L@ off of the pound and br lng it on up, and it all dumped In 
one place on your load. They were f a i r ly  hasd t o  load af'ter becwse you 
had t o  carry that t o  the front of your wagon d l  the t b .  It would dwnp 
It at the back of i t ,  you know, and you had t o  c a r r y  it t o  the fmnt,  but 
It was a l o t  faster than a pitcher,  much faster. You could put on a load 
of hay a whole lot quicker than you could with a pitcher because tha t  
thing ran steady, you know, EE the I;em walked d o n g ,  Then, when you got 
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t o  the stack t o  unload, why, you'd been careflii t o  pack tha t  d d d l e  
pret ty  tilght so tha t  the fork would take hold and you'd get it off  
that  way. 

Q. S i r ,  you rnentianed two types of hay forks, i n  the harpoon. A 
s t ra ight  harpoon and a double harpoon. Idhat was the difference? 

A. Well, the double had an arch, across here, and It jus t  had two 
slngle harpoons down f r o m  the arch and they both had a finges, like 
tha t ,  t ha t  you threw out when you flxed it t o  pu l l  up. You could 
clean off  a load cleaner wlth it than you could wlth a single one. 
The single one would take a l l  of the bigger hay but when you got t o  
the bottom of the load, why, the double one would beat it, ataklng 
It off .  

Well, then, they perfected t h i s  eagle claw that snapped shut llke Ice 
tongs and you could jus t  clean the wagon as clean as a p b  wTth that 
thing. 

Q. Is tha t  what they called a p a p p l ~  hook? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Didrl't you introduce the f i r s t  one i n  t h i s  area here? 

A.  Yes, I did, and It went all over the country. 1 have always wondered 
where it went to .  It was a well-built one. It never ,pt out of f i x ,  
never w a s  broke In the years that I owned it. I owned it a nwrtser of years. 
I l e t  anybody use it tha t  wanted to ,  tha t  w o u l d  bring it back when they 
got throu*. That was a s t ipulat ion.  They w e r e  t o  bring it home when 
they got t h r o u a  because somebody e l se  would probably be waiting f o r  It. 
I never charged a cent f o r  i t .  

Q These forks were f o r  putting hay I n  a barn, then? 

A .  Yes. You could use them In a barn the saw as on a stack, Didn't make 
any difference. On a stack you had a derrick, you know, tha t  pulled them 
up; swing the derrlck over the stack and then durmp it. 

Q. D i d  you construct t h i s  demick yourself? 

A. Well, they were mde by carpenters, usually. Tney were a pret ty  good 
job because there had t o  be a pole @;o up thro- the center of them, an 
ei@t-by-eight. It had t o  have a co l l a r  up here where It would ?It In, 
a s t e e l  col lar ,  and then above It was the m t ha t  took off  f o r  the  fork 
t o  work through and out. 

Q. What would you do, swing tha t  pole, then, over the wagon? 

A. You ' d swing t ha t  around t o  you, yes. T h e  par t  tha t  would awing. 40 

Well, then when the team pulled it up, why, the team would pu l l  it around 
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pret ty  much. By pulling stral&t, they'd s t ra i@ten  that thin@; up, 
see, so It would be over the stack and, if it wasn't, the m on the 
stack would put h i s  fork a e i n s t  it and push it t o  where he wanted it 
and then t e l l  them t o  t r i p  it and drop it &re he wanted it. 

Q. There mt have been quite an art t o  buildhg a stack l ike  tha t?  

A. There was an ayyt t o  all of those things. People thou&t fanners 
didn't  h a w  anything, you how. They t h o u a t  they w a s  the dmbest 
people on earth.  There w a s  a l o t  of the handWest mn you ever saw 
tha t  were f a m r s .  Many of them were blacksmiths on the s ide.  They'd 
s h q e n  t h e i r  own plow. Shod t h e i r  own homes, and fixed up mchinery 
fo r  other people around them. mere was nearly always one i n  a neighbor- 
hood tha t  could do alrnost anything tha t  a blacksdth could do and save 
a t r i p  t o  t o m ,  m n y  t l r w s .  

That was the curse of the nine-hour law. When that--or eight-hour law, 
whichever you want t o  c a l l  it--when It took e f fec t ,  It left  us l o t s  of 
t W s  with broken machinery at four olclock in the afternoon and you 
couldn't get a thlng done until the next nmrning. 

Q. What was the nine-hour l a w ,  sir? 

A. Well, the nine-hour law took ef fec t  In . . . I don't know what . . . 
I to ld  you about dates. I don1 t h a w  what the date w a s .  I t t o o k  ef fec t  
on the miLmads f i r s t  and it wasn't long unti l  It was mde the  law of 
the country. Hlred E n  qui t  a t  the end of a nine-hour day. They un- 
hitched and come in. 

I know the f i r s t  hired man I had hem on t h i s  place . . . He had a 
g i r l  in the nel&borhod and he wanted t o  @ see her every night. I to ld  
him, "Now, there ' s  So much work got t o  be done and I can't do it." I ' d  
been I n  the hospi tal  a rrnnth and I says, "I can't do it. You're going to 
have t o  do It and you1 11 have t o  work the M l  eight hours. Don't take 
out, now, mtl l  the e i @ t  hours are up; then come In and I'll take care 
of your team and you can h i tch  up and go ahead. l' And t h a t ' s  the way we 
worked it. I took the team off  of his hands. I did get a half  how mre 
work out of hlm by having tha t  done. 

Q. And t h i s  effected, in town, the blacksrriith shops and the Support you 
needed? 

A. Yes. Everything was shut up, you h o w .  You go t o  town with z repair ;  
nobody workhg, everythhg closed up. Oh, it was a t e r r l b l e  Jonah for  a 
whlle . 

Q. Who i n  t h i s  vlicinity was good at blacksmlthlng? 

A. There wasn't anybody f ight  In here. Tnere was a good smith in town, 
In Waggoner. He  was a good one. People corn t o  him f b r n  long distances 
and a l l  around and, as the old m up east  used t o  say, He didn't lay any 
t- back. The old m hhnm had that saying. If he rd  see s o w  fellow 
&wrying, he'd say, "He didn't  lay any tlw back. l' (laughter) So, I 
got i n  the habit of saying, "by time back.'' you know. Sol&ier7d a l i t t l e .  



Q. Who was t h i s  blacksmlth? 

A.  Hls n m  was Shocktoe. I can't  give you his first m. I don't 
remember it now, but he w a s  a good, honest worlanan and I never heard 
anybody complxin of h i s  blacksmithing, horse-shoeing o r  mthing. 

Q. Where was h i s  shop? 

A. You know where the bank building i s ?  

Q. Yes, sir. 

A. Well, r ight  at t h ~  end of i t ,  across the a l ley .  His shop was right 
there.  

Q. Oh,  there used t o  be a b ig  ba rn  there.  

A. Well, Kessler put a b m  in a f t e r  the bZacksmith shop mved. He 
moved away. He mved f r o m  here t o  Nllwood and opened up a shop. Kessler 
then took over the shop and mde a barm of it. He had h i s  wagon tha t  he 
drove over the country and he wanted a shed f o r  it, you know, and he 
b u i l t  a place f o r  it. Then, he had the team t o  take c m e  of In that build- 
ing, because he had horses. Gerlach used a self-propelled m c h h .  R c  
sent it around over the country. It pulled itself. 

Q. W a s  t h i s  a truck? 

A. A truck that  he mounted h i s  wagon on. 

Q. They went out all during the week, did they? 

A. Yes, every day. They'd go, even on Saturday morning. 'They went 
Saturday morning. People had t o  have bread f o r  Sunday, you know, and 
a l o t  of them depended on them t o  bring them meat. They'd order t h e i r  
.mat and they'd have it wrapped fo r  them and turn it over t o  them and 
he'd carry it out. They had no cold storage on those things, you know. 
So, get it out t o  the country and there they had It wrapped so i t ' d  last 
over u n t i l  Sunday mming ,  but ms2; of them knew how t o  take cme of i t .  
They d put It on and st a r t  cook:ing . 

Q. On these wagons, they used t o  col lect  a l o t  of chickens and e e s ,  
didn ' t they? 

A. Yes, They dld. Winfield sold these chickens and eggs t o  a wholesale 
fellow. They'd send t h e i r  wagons up and pick them up, you know; and, a lso,  
he shipped a l o t  of the eggs by express t o  S t .  buis. I think he sent a 
l o t  of them tha t  way. Got r i d  of them. Got a l i t t l e  be t t e r  price. 

Wlnfield was an mrul good nzerchant . He worked f o r  the Wrmrls Interest 
as much as he posslbly could. 

Q. In what way do you man, slr? 

A. Well, l i ke  tha t .  He would buy the e m  and the chickens and so on. 
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He'd buy cowhides. Anything tha t  he could ship out and W e  a l i t t l e  
mney out of ,  held buy it and take it on. LDts of grocers wouldnvt 
fool wlth such t h b @  as tha t ,  you how. You couldn't--you'd probably 
have t o  go t o  Litchfield t o  s e l l  a cowhide. 1: don't know whether you 
can s e l l  one now, at al l ,  o r  not. I doubt i f  you could. I th;lnk you 
would have t o  give them away, now. 

Q S l s ,  when did you get the telephone out here? 

A .  Well, tha t  was a mutual affair. The f m e r s  began going together and usm 
barbed wire fences, where theg had a fence that  they could use tha t  way, f o r  a 
W e .  Electr i fy it, you know, and then they'd put poles where they had t o  and 
go fl-om house t o  house. The whole neighborhood was connected and you could lls- 
ten in on everybody I n  the nelphborhood. (laughter) Regular newspaper office.  

Q. You say barbed w i ~ ?  Just  regulm barbed wlre f e n c h g  was med? 

A.  Yes. They fixed It. They had t o  put insulators on It, you WOW; 
but there was  a l o t  of barbed wire fences used and especially In the 
West in the ranches. They used them pret ty  n e w  altogether. 

So, we got telephones and they were a mat help t o  the country t o  get 
doctors. You h a w ,  I had a phone there In the rai l road off ice at Honey 
Bend before there w a s  any of the people mound re had phones. Pleyld 
corn there fo r  doctor calls and special  calk of every kind. There wasn't 
any expense t o  it; theg just  called and t o l d  what they wanted and got it. 

Q. They would ca l l  where? 

A. Well, m n d  had a central  off ice and they would c a l l  her and she 
would get on a l i n e  tha t  would reach anybody around tha t  they needed t o  
get i n  touch with. I f  it was I n  Lltchfield--they wanted t o  get In touch 
wlth somebody down there-there w a s  phones In  Mtchfield. They would 
get In touch with them and get t h e i r  i n f o m t l o n  out. 

For doctors, they jus t  depended on it pret ty  nearly en t i re ly  In t ha t  
neighborhood. They'd come running In there and say, "Bert, I want Doctor 
So-and-so.'' Well, I ' d  r ing  Utchf ie ld .  Litchfleld had a central off ice.  
I l d r ing  them and say, "Ring Doctor So-and-so, " and they Id r lng  them rhight 
of f .  Wasn't arly mnkeyinp; about it, they ld ring him; and i f  he was there,  
k ' d  answer r i @ t  of f ,  too, you bow. Well, you'd t e l l  him what was  wanted, 
as near as you could what w a s  the matter, and out he'd come with a horse and 
buggy. '12lose days they didn ' t  have anything else ,  you know, t o  t r ave l  by. 

Old Doctor Colt was the f l r s t  surgeon In there and he kept a horse tha t  
w a s  a goer. Boy, oh, boy, tha t  horse could go. He was a trotter but,  ny, 
how he could get over the road! But I w a s  scared t o  death, pre t ty  near, t o  
r lde  wlth the  old man. Tne old rran was seventy years old and driving tha t  
high s t m g  h o ~ e .  (laughter) He dldn't mind it at a l l ,  he'd just s l t  there. 
Talk t o  you a l l  the t h e  and t e l l  you what he was adoing, what he was going 
t o  do next. (laughs) 

He was the Wabash doctor. Men I moved t o  Wtchfield, why, I had t o  c a l l  
h l m  i f  I ever needed a doctor for  the t r a m s  and I got real w e l l  acquainted 
wlth the old m. I 1-lked hh. 



Q. Where w a s  the central  when you got your telephone here? 

A. It was at Wagoner. They had a central  off lce where the Griff i th  
boys have t h e i r  b l acksd th  shop now. That was the  central  of f ice .  
Then they reached Raymnd Litchfleld.  I'm not SUE whether Farmrs- 
v i l l e  had an office or  not?' o r  whether Waggoner rang the phones up 
there.  

Q. Who ran the central off ice at  tha t  t i m ?  

A. Well, by tha t  time they had got t o  elect ing directors.  Tney'd f o m d  
an organization, a mutual orppnization, and elected dlmctors and those 
dfrectors hired the help tha t  had t o  be had and hired those centrals, you 
hnow. They drew pay. They looked a f t e r  it much as It Is now, only In  a 
formal way, you rniat say, because they were most of them f m s s  tha t  
were the directors.  

4. Who were some of the people Involved? Do you reca l l?  

A. Well, I can recall one, if I can think of his m . . . He l ived i n  
Wamoner . . . Ch, i f  I can remrrBer hls m . . . He had a big farm, 
but he qult f h g  and devoted h i s  self t o  keepim the phones workhg. 
He made a lineman out of h imelf ,  i n  other words, and kept the phones go-. 
John what? I don't think I can think of it, 

But towmd the last, why, then he Scgan buyin$ up stock. You see, this 
had been a stock company among the f m r s  and he b e g b  buying up stock, 
and pract ical ly  a l l  the farmers were ready t o  sell  i f  they could have 
the phone l e f t  in t h e i r  place, and tha t  was In the bargain. And they 
would sell t h e i r  stock. I think a l l  of them got twenty-five o r  t h i r t y  
dol lars  f o r  t h e i r  stock. He bomt up the stock. Well, then he sold It 
t o  some one of these concerns tha t  control it today, that amalgzmted, 
you know. 

What was . . . Grisham! Dave Grisham, I bet  you h w  him. 

Q. Yes, sir. 

A. Dave Grisham. I-Ie was t he  fellow here . . . and he was good. 

END OF SIDE ONE 

Q. How about e l e c t r i c i t y ?  Did you get e l e c t r i c i t y  about the same t h e  
here on the farm? 

A.  No. We didn't get e l ec t r i c i ty ,  on the highltne, fo r  a nuhe r  of years. 
In fact, I wore out three Del.co ba t te r ies .  L bought a k l c o  se t .  I was 
detemlned I wasn't agoinp; to crank a cream separator a l l  wy life and I 
bought a Delco set. They cost about four hundred dol lars  a s e t ,  mtor and 

41Mr. Ailoran l a t e r  c o n f i m d  tha t  F m r s v i l l e  did have a central .  
Verbatim text was slot transcr1,bed. 
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battery. Albert Nierrann. mybe you h e w  him. You h e w  of him, I 
betcha. He was i n  Litchfleld and he had tbe agency fo r  them and 1: 
bought it of hlm and he brought it up here and Instal led it. Put L t  
there in the cellar. Then I got It wired up so  tha t  I could hook it 
on t o  the cream separator and, oh boy, what a relief tha t  was. Then, 
of course, we had li&ts in the  house and nly wife had one plug In there 
that  she could use an I m n  on, but tha t  was a l l .  It had t o  be wired 
with great b ig  w i r e ,  you know, because tha t  was a d i rec t  current. 

I went ahead then and wired a l l  the building, had them all wired. 
The henhouses and the barn and the corncrib. I had them all wired 
up so  tha t  we could have U@ts a l l  over the place, as well; and I 
used up, as I said,  three se t s  of ba t te r ies .  Tney lasted f lve years. 
Well, I used them fo r  fif'teen years and then the  power line corm down 
and I sold the Delco s e t  back t o  Niemauu? f o r  practfcally what I gave 
f o r  It. He knew I ' d  taken care of it. He says, When you get ready 
t o  l e t  Loose of that Delco s e t ,  I want f l r s t  chance at it ." And I 
says, "You can sure get it. When they w l l l  put re Isl current here, why, 
you can have it. I'  

So in the rtleantlm, before I put i n  the Delco, I w-rute t o  the C.I.P.S. 
and asked them about bringing a l i n e  down here t o  m. They had a line 
out t o  the end of the Waggoner road, out there t o  66, and that man across 
the road had power, and I asked them t o  br ing  IX a l i n e  from the end of 
tha t  around t o  here, you know. And they wrote back t o  re and says, 
"Youfll have t o  bu i ld  tha t  l h e  yourself, at  your own expense, and when 
i t ' s  ready t o  use, we ' l l  e l ec t r i fy  It and you ' l l  deed It t o  us." Well, 
I vowed I ' d  never take any current off of C.I.F.S. until I had to, and 
so, I never have had t o  . 
Q. Your pwsent line here doesn't come f ' m m  C.I.P.S. then? 

A.  Well, of course i . t  does. They're all  amalgamated now. b e  comes 
f'mm Mattoon, real ly;  but Harvel is w h e ~  the t r a n s f o m r s  a re  stationed. 
It comes from there over t o  IW. When they got tha t  in, o r  when they got 
ready t o  hook me up, I says, "Now, I want an Inspector hese t o  look ovey 
the wiring, before you hook IE up," and they sent an inspector out here. 
He seen the Delco plant the first thing and he sqys, "How long have you 
used tha t  plant?" and 1 says, 'Pif'teen years. " And he Says, "I don't 
need t o  look at  your wire. You've got w i r e  t ha t  they wouldn't think of 
putting i n  here. You've got great btlg wire, a l l  over." And I says, "Yes, 
I know I have. I' He says, "I '11 okay your w i r i n g  riat now. Yout ll never 
have any trouble with it." So, he okqyed it. Tney hooked me on. 

(portion not transcribed-discussion of rev iew procedure at  the end of 
which Ivb-. Alkmm r e s m d  narration) 

Q. So, what I'd l l k e  t o  do is  start Monday md I don't know what r a t e ,  
maybe, Monday and Wednesday, or  somthlng llke that, we might get the  
first two and then we ' l l  have t o  see how rapidly we can do it fkmm there 
on. If t h a t ' s  okay with you, I'd l l k e  to .  . . . 
A. I don't do anything only s i t h e r e .  
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Q. Ycs, sir. Well. . . . 
A. I ' m  a worthless nothing. 

Q. Well, I don't know, you're not going t o  be worthless with this 
record, I ' m  sure. 

A. Well, so fm as t h a t ' s  concerned, that i sn ' t  a part  of m. It 's  
j ust experience. 

Q. Well, t h a t ' s  a part  of a l o t  of us, i s n ' t  i t ,  Expe~ience? 

A. I had a l o t  of experience i n  rr~y l i f e .  I t r i e d  different things. 
I "cou@%t once I ' d  l i k e  t o  work I n  the bank. Went d m  there. They'd 
have taken me i n  readily.  I went down and worked s i x  weeks and I decided, 
by the end of s i x  weeks, that  I didn't  want any banktog. 

Q. What bank was  t h i s ,  sir? 

A. Waggoner. I h e w  al.1 the men, you know, the directom and everything. 
In fact ,  I was a director .  They'd have been glad t o  have taken me on but 
I soon decided that I didn't  want any banking. 

&. Why was t ha t ,  sir? 

A. Oh, I didn't l l k e  handling other people's money. You had t o  be too 
accurate i n  everythlng, you how. You had t o  be accurate t o  a penny. 
One nip$& Cap W l l l i m o n  and I worked u n t i l  n ine  o'clock fo r  a dim and 
I says; " I 'm  not going t o  work any longer, I ' m  agolng t o  put in the dim.'' 
He says, "You're not going t o  do anything o f t h e  kind." He says, "If 
you do, it w i l l  show up 1.n a day or  two i n  something else, wd we won't 
bow where it corn fY0rn.l' So, we worked unttll we found it. Z"ne reason 
we had it, John Waggoner had been I n  while we were gone t o  dinner and 
somebody had come i n  and wanted a check cashed and John cashed it fo r  them 
and he short-changed them the dime. ( l a w t e r )  We never did t e l l  John. 
He didn t know a thing about it. He was president of the bank at that 
time, you how. 

Q. Did Mark Waggoner work i n  the bank while you were connected with I t ?  

A. Yes, Mark cam in there and learned it, but he didn't  work as a banker. 
He went out i m d i a t e l y  as a bank examiner. He got tha t  past in his  head 
and he s ta r ted  r imt out as an examlner. Well, he went up rapldly because 
they were wanthg them, hunting sm~% young mn, you how; and Mark was  a 
S m t  young fellow and i f  he had any bad habits,  I diidn't mow them. I 
don't think he had very m y .  I think he was a pret ty  clean young fellow. 
In fact ,  we lFked him Fn the bank. 

He to ld  re, when they took him up t o  mica@ as a bank examiner, t ha t  they 
took him down i n  one of those vaults,  three or  four stariles down. He says, 
"They stavlted bringing bonds i n  in wheelbarrow loads and I had t o  check 
them and verif'y them. I worked fo r  a week averlfylng bonds tha t  they had 
there In tha t  bank," Just  think what a bust tha t  would have been! 



I t h o m t  a l o t  of Mark . . . and John, I t h o u a t  an awful lob of John 
because he was helpf'ul in a n m e r  of ways t o  m, when I come up here. 
l?speclally farming. He wanted progressive farming done and he was as 
anxious t o  see It as I was and he belleve In the F m  Bureau. Thepels 
no use talklng, the Farm Bureau rea l ly  put things on the m p .  

Q. Were there any other orgmizations,  l i ke  the Farm Bureau, Fn the 
county tha t  did tha t  type of work? 

A. Nothlng tha t  I had anything t o  do with. No. Just  the F m  Bureau. 
It covered a l l  phases of farming, you know. Housckeephg, raising stock 
and chickens, and a l l .  It covered the  whole works. k fac t ,  they developed 
egg-laybe; hens ten years ahead of where they would have been if they ha&' t 
have come in here and culled the hens and showed the people how t o  pick 
out a hen tha t  was  laying o r  would lay. There's l o t s  of hens that are not 
bu i l t  t o  lay .  They had t o  convince the people of tha t .  Take them out of 
the  flock and s e l l  them. They were deadheads, you b o w ,  and they a te  as 
much as a good laylng hen. So, they developed the egg business. 

Well, then af'ter they got that  well developed, then these batterlles begaxi 
t o  come In.  You how tha t  b i g  s t r i n g  along the rai l road there In Waggoner. 
That was an egg-laylng place. They had two thousand hens In that at one 
time. I was down there and seen them. 

Q. It smells, too. 

A. Yes. ( lau&ter) 

Q, I don't how why they put them on the west side of town became a l l  
of that swl.1 cam right Into town. 

A. Well, I'm talWng about r lght  along the rai l road.  This one right 
along the rai l road they use for  p a k  storage, now. They kept two thousand 
In  t ha t .  

Q. Oh, they did? 

A. Yes, and two thousand out i n  tha t  west one; and they wouldn't se l l  you 
an egg! Nor they wouldn't glve you one. 

Q. Oh, Is tha t  r i @ t ?  

A. No. They culled out eggs by the dozen, soft-shelled, and they wouldn't 
give them t o  anybody. They throwed them I n  the  t rash  heap. 

Q. I wonder why tha t  was? 

A. Oh, they didn't  want people coming around and be@& you how, and 
bothering them. So, t ha t  wm a great thing. Well, tha t  appealed t o  some 
of the young farmers. There's a young f m r  ri&t up northeast of me 
here, named Fuchs. He and h i s  wife b u i l t  a henhouse on the pattern of tha t  
one, put in hens. That was a f t e r  they could h i re  expwt  cullers. You didn't 
have to do your culllng. You could get an expert cu l le r  Tor so much a head, 
you how. And he dldn't leave any deadheads in  there; he got them a l l  out. 
And they developed tha t  and then she to ld  rn they couldn't dlspose of t h e i r  
eg@;s. 
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Q. Oh, they couldn't? 

A. No, these other thlngs were b e a m i n g  t o  take a l l  of the eggs t o  
St .  buls and so on, tha t  they wanted. "Well," she says, "we sold 
our hens and thought we'd r a i se  hogs i n  there." And they did. They 
mde a hog house out of it. I guess they ' re  uslng It today for a hog 
house. 1 haven't been up tha t  road for  a long the. 

He used t o  t inker  with radios and I ' d  take radio up there i f  It 
got off  of business and so I got a c q m b t e d  with them tha t  way, 'They 
had a b ig  investmnk there.  That house didn't cost them less than a 
thousand dol lam, I know. Maybe more. I put one up out here tha t  cost 
me . . . k t ' s  see, w h a t  did it cost re? . . . It cost between three 
and f ive  hundred. The l h e r  man favored r r ~  in evesy way he possib1.y 
could. He favored me with the best of lumber and everflhing. 

Q. What IwrS3er rn was tha t?  

A. His name w a s  . . . Thls w a s  a branch off lce of the Momisonville 
lurrberyard, which i s  the . . . Well, what's t h e i r  nam . . . 
Q. That i s n ' t  the Baker chain? 

A. Yes. I guess that's it. Yes. I guess it was one of t h e i r  chain. 

&. This w a s  the lmberyard there In Waggoner? 

A. Yes, they had the chain there and t r i e d  t o  s e l l  it t o  the elevator,  
I t o l d  you about tha t ,  and the stockholders voted it d m  and 1 was glad 
they dld.  

Q. hho operated the  lmberymd? That is ,  managed i t ?  

A. mey had a man namd Galloway tha t  was a good lurrJ3er man and a fine 
fellow. He was an honest man and he wouldn't put an3rt;hing off  on you, 
a t  all, because he was just  the hired hand. 

I mrrmber I went t o  build a hoe; house a f t e r  I had bu i l t  the  chicken 
house. I wanted a hog house and I went down and I said,  'well, you done 
such a good job of figuring tha t  henhouse out, I ' m  p i n g  t o  l e t  you flgw-e 
out a hog house for  IE now.'' And I mve h h  the dlmnslons; told him 
what I would need. So, I went down with the team when I got ready for 
the lmer and he'd 1e.R a hired m in there.  The hired man--I mew the 
boy tha t  was i n  there--he says, 'Whm Tom left t h i s  mmhg,ll-Tom Galloway- 
'ke to ld  rw t ha t  you were am extra  good customr and tha t  you were t o  have 
the best l m b e r  tha t  there was u$ here. So," he says, "if you see a board 
tha t  you don't l ike ,  shove it back up.'' So, 1 got perfect l W e r  all the 
way through, near as I could judge It, and b u i l t  the hog house out of it. 

But a f t e r  tha t ,  why, it got so they couldn't afford t o  pay Galloway wages 
t o  keep him there. He w a s  too good a wan. He went west, then, and I think 
he went in to  a b ig  lur&eryard; worked as a l m e r  rran out west. 

Q. Was it Ben I ; o h m l s  brother tha t  shewed sheep or  s o w t h b g  in that 
lwberyard a l i t t l e  l a t e r?  
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A. Yes. Ben had it rented. After they done away with the lwrberyarrd, 
why, he rented that building and bought wool. Yes. He b o w t  wool 
there fo r  a rider of yeass.  He had his sacking arrmgemnt and h i s  
scales and everything fixed up so he didn't have t o  dirty his cl.okhes. 
He could wear good clothes and buy all the wool tha t  they offered, and 
then when he got ready t o  sack it, why, he had som boys tha t  he could 
c a l l  in. They'd get i n  those sacks and tramp it, you know. That's a 
job, trarrrping wool i n  a sack. Hot job, and d i r ty .  But they'd tramp 
her I n  f o r  him and then he'd get h i s  wool. He dealt  with s o w  Jews i n  
S t .  Louis. He mew they were Jews and he was about as blg a J e w  as they 
were, when It corn t o  dealing with them. !They never got anything on Ben. 
And Ben did tha t  as  long as he l ived. 

He was get t ing ready t o  go back t o  work i n  a couple of days, when he 
died. He had diabetes and it @t so  bad he had t o  have this leg taken 
off  . . . 
Q. Oh, he right leg? 

A.  , . . ri&t about here. I went t o  see hiTn one day and he says, 
"Bcrt, I'm feel ing good enough tha t  I ' m  agoing t o  go down there and buy 
wool. I don't see why I can ' t .  A11 I do 1s sit mound here." He says, 
"Why can't I sit around there and b w  the wool tha t  cows In?" "Well," 
I says, "I'm sure glad t o  hear you say tha t ,  Ben, but I wonder i f  you 
men1 t overdoing it t o  attempt t o  work a whole day?" '%ll," he says, 
" i f  I get too t l red ,  I ' l l  just  shut up shop and come on home ." 
So, two days af'terwmd his brother-in-law c a m  adriving i n  here and he 
says, "Get In here, Ben's adylng." And I got i r z  the car and he was dead 
before I got up there.  Well, t ha t  was just two days arter that. That 
old diabetes i s  a k i l l e r .  (portion not transcribed) 
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ADDFhDA ITEN lo3 (ref. p. 275) 

A. M r .  Burnet, wife 's  grandfather, came Porn New Jersey and he 
shipped by boat t o  Alton and he took a land way flrorn Alton up here 
and then homesteaded on one hundred s ixty acres of land south of thls. 
A t  time the= was no r a lkoads  at a l l  i n  here. Now, I'm @ving 
you a l l  t h i s  fmrn hearsay. I don't know any of tha t .  But there was 
no rai l roads,  and as I to ld  you, the stagecoach went t h r o m  old 
Zanesvllle. 

Well, old Zanesville was a post of f ice  fo r  a11 of this section in here. 
The stagecoach br0uQ;ht the d l  once a week, as I understood it. After 
ny grandfather had @;ot located here-he had a family of two boys and 
two girls md they were p o d  b i g  kids at the the--they got word from 
the postmster  some way down there tha t  he had a r e a s t e r e d  package 
had come t o  the post off ice and t o  come and get it. 

Well, Uncle Hen, h i s  brother, was l iv ing  with hlm. S o ,  he went down 
a f t e r  It ar~d got the package. Signed up fo r  I t  and brought it home. 
They didn't haw any idea what It was u n t l l  they got here and I never 
have learned what it was, whether it was deeds or--12; was something 
pertaltning t o  the land though. It wasn't mney. But there was a l o t  
of loafers around there.  That was jus t  a f t e r  the C l v 1 1  Wm, you know, 
and they had a l o t  of those carpetbaggers; youlve heard of them. Ed- 
dently there was one or two of them a l o a f h g  around tha t  post office 
and seen him sign for that  registered package andl followed up and seen 
where he located. 

Well, t ha t  night they cam I n  a body, hooded like KKK's. They demanded 
entrance t o  the  house. My grandfather was a very religious mn but he 
a lso  knew h i s  r i @ t s  and he says, "No! You're not comlvlg i n  here. We're 
not l e t t i n g  you h here at a l l . "  And he went and picked up his shotgun 
and stood by the door. They jus t  had a plaln plank door across the en- 
trance h t o  the house. They just  had a l l t t l e  house. So, the  fellows 
says, 'my, you ' l l  e i the r  l e t  us i n  o r  we ' re  @Fng t o  Hck  tha t  door in, " 
He says, "You better  not t r y  kicking that  door In. " About tha t  tire one 
of them t r i e d  it and he shot t h m u a  the door and he hurt him. He h w t  
hlm bad, sore way. They never did find him, but they t r a i l e d  him by blood 
way past old Zanesville. He w a s  t rying t o  get away someplace down south, 
you bow, and when the blood ceased, why, they los t  the trall. Never dild 
find out anythiw about him, but he sure stopped them. 

Well now, that was one of the episodes t o  show you what the homsteaders 
w a  up agalnst, you how. They had those rascals ahanglng around here. 

Q. Well, I've undemtood--now, it was way back about 1825 or  1830 t ha t  
old Zanesville was s ta r ted  and there was a tavermkecper there that s t m t e d  
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that  place and he was a pret ty  so& chasactes. There were sever& 
m d e r s  tha t  they figure he was involved In. He f i n a l l y  was hung 
i n  Iowa. They chased him out of down at Zanesville. 

A. You probably have got more  information than I ever had. 

Q. &, no sir. T just happened t o  remmber that. You how, Zanesville 
was t o  t h i s  part  of the country I lke  Virden, over here, was t o  that 
pas t  of the comtry back in-later, i n  the Ig lO 's ,  1920 ' s  . . . 
A. Well, I t h W  Lhco ln l s  Trall went throu& Virden and down through 
this way and h i t  there and veered off  , some way, t o  go throu* south 
of Raymnd. There used t o  be a place ~ i & t  south of the cemetery tha t  
they sa id  used t o  be a stopping place for  them, change horses. I ' ve  
seen tha t  place and it was a brick b u i l d b g  and had an upStalY.S for  
t ransients .  

Q. Is It gone now? 

A. Yes. It's gone. No sign of It, a t  a l l .  Course, the land, I guess, 
changed hands three or four tims slnce those days. But you can put 
tha t  i n  some--at the beginning of tha t .  

Q. Well, I won't be adjusting the order of i t . Everything we've said 
w i l l  go i n  the mmoir i n  the order tha t  we've said it. The only ad- 
justing tha t  I ' l l  be doing is--well, like th is  right he=, you see. 
Now, t h i s  w i l l  go in an addendum t o  the basic ,  Tne basic I've completed 
now. Six hundred and thirl;een pages I've typed out of this thing and 
I 've  completed tha t  and we have three mre par t s  of it t o  redew lilke 
we're doing t h i s  afternoon. Then t h a t ' s  the basic par t .  Now, while 
we ve been revlewlng, you know, you' ve added things, expanded on things . 
Well, I lm golng t o  make those addendum I t e m .  They '11 be short . , . 
A. I know what you man by addendum. 

Q. Well, I man t h e y ' l l  be dfvlded Into short . . . par t s  of an addenda. 

A. W i l l  they be on the s m  page as the rest--or i n  the back? 

Q. No, sir. They'll be i n  the back. I 'll footnote and then refer back 
t o  the addenda. Yes. Yes. I jus t  talked t o  the instructor  'Chis morning 
and what we're p i n g  t o  do, we're going t o  make up a speclal  course, just 
for  E, and he '11 guide r r e  through doing a l l  of tha t  thf s fall. So, I ' m  
afraid you're not golng t o  be rid of re t h l s  fall. I ' m  going t o  have t o  
be droppilng back (laughs) now and then t o  check with you on thls. And 
then, there m y  be other t h i n g  we would w a n t  t o  add. For example, I was 
t h h k h g  t h i s  wrning, something that--I don't w a n t  t o  get in to  it now 
because we've got t o  get t o  t h i s ,  you how, but one thlng tha t  we've just 
barely touched on was your Sunday schoolwork, o r  your church work, you 
how, and I ' m  sure there ' s  sorne things In tha t  that; would be g o d  b t h l s  
record. So. . . . 
A. Nothing special  . . . about tha t .  Any mow than t ha t  I stood high 
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enoum with Harknesss tha t  I had a standing invi tat ion,  when I had my 
special  speakers, I was t o  bring them t o  school. That was a s tmding  
invitation. %at was before the Bible was taken out of the schools, 
you how. I took a l l  rrdssionaries and special  speakers over there and 
a lso  t o  the grade school. That's the only special  thing about . . . 
Q. Well, then there was the Sunday school teaching, thou&, you see . . . 
A. Well, I tau@ Smday school c lass  there for  for ty years but . . . 
there ' s  nothing of tha t .  

Q. Well, I don1 t know, there may be some things l i k e  tha t  tha t  we 
might get Into l a t e r  on, tha t  w i l l  add t o  it during the  semester. So . . . 
A. I sqy I tau&; I t r i e d  t o  teach. (lau&ter) 

Q. Well, l e t  Is see. We be t t e r  get t o  reviewing here and get done 
what w e  ' ve got now before we get in to  what we ' re going t o  do l a t e r .  
kt ' s  see, t h i s  1.3 . . . 
ADDENDA ITEM 104 (ref. p. 275) 

A. That was a flnvyr looklng thing! There was two or  three ton of hay 
that  jus t  took off  the top of those stacks and jus t  went l i k e  they w a s  
hitched t o  it. 

Q. Just  following rlght behind it. (laughter) 

A.  Took it clear over t o  tha t  swamp. 

Q. Looked like they wem a l ive ,  huh? 

A. That w a s  the most uncanny thing. 

A D D m A  IlEM 105 (ref. p. 276) 

Q. SPY, was there anything fn p a r t i c d a r  about tha t  hollow t ree?  We 
k h d  of stopped there.  We said, "I went t o  look t o  see i f  it was broke. 
I figured It w a s  hollow, " and then you jumped t o ,  "You'd see B IlsrJ3 and 
then you wouldn't see it." 

A. Well, the  t r e e  was the sax age as " c h e  others but it was on the stream 
of water that goes down here, tha t  the well 's  on. Then there was a b lg  
one i n  the northeast comer of the yard, too. Actually as bl$, but It was 
a so l id  t r ee .  Real sol ld .  It didn ' t  affect  it, only lirr"l3s. But t h i s  one, 
It didn ' t  do anything t o  it only links. It didn't blow It d m  or  break 
it o f f ,  but I expected It t o  because it was parbially hollow and some of 
the roots were partially rotten. 

VIr. Jesse Harhess ,  principal of the Wagpner Comrmulity High 
School i n  the 19 30 ' s and 19 40 s . [Ed. ] 
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Q. But it didn't .  Perhaps the  house . . . 
A. No, it didn't  break it up but I hauled lMs out of the pastme, 
that  was a pasture down there,  and I hauled U&s a whole day out of 
tha t  up and made a great bonfire of them, you know, t ha t  had been 
taken out of all these t rees  and dumped down there a quarter of a mile. 

A.  Now, I didn't  flnilsh tha t ,  e i ther .  It blew the hay barn away. I 
didn't  tell t ha t .  It w a s  empty and it just  spread it out down In the 
pasture. Just  llke you'd take your hand and done 1lke t ha t .  (demon- 
s t r a t e s  wlth a sweep of the hand) Took the roof l i ke  tha t  . . . 
Q. Yes, just spread It out. 

A. . . . and the  sides,  It just; spread them out and I went down in two 
or  three days with a four-home team and drug tha t  back t o  where it 
belonged and got cmpenters and put them t o  work and they put the thing 
r ight  back up again. 

Q. Is It one of those tha t  i s  standing out there now? 

A. No. It was a h w  bam that  stood up northeast here across this l i t t l e  
cornfield. It was p lmb  empty. If it had had hay i n  it, It wouldn't of 
happened, you know, but It wacl p lmb empty. 

Q. The wind got inside and just  blew It apmt  , huh? 

A. Yes, it just  spread It and al l - - i t  just looked l i k e  you'd taken your 
hand and smared It down the pound. 

Q. But It didn't  t e a r  the l d e r  up mch? 

A .  No. But it broke every sectlon apart .  The north end was loose, the 
south end was loose, the west and the east w a s  loose and the roof done 
like tha t ,  just  spread it out and I took four horses on each piece and 
hauled them In. LJke a sled, you know. 

Q. And put them back together <and you had your hay barn again. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Was there any other damge besides tha t?  

A. No. That was the extent of the r e a l  damage. O f  course, I had 
insurance t o  pay for  tha t .  It didn't  cost me anythjng. 

Q. (Interviewer reading f r o m  t m s c r l p t  ) "He had a very good farm or ,  
ra ther ,  h i s  wife did." 



A. He demnstrated eve~ything.  He planted jus t  as they to ld  hlm t o ,  
you how, and he'd take anybody tha t  would cone out and show them. He 
convinced them. 

A. I should have mntioned in there,  we always called i n  a CPA [Cer tZ-  
f led  PubHc Accountant] and audited the books at tha t  t k ,  too. I had 
t o  ovwsee tha t .  I didnl t do any of the flgurdng, now, don't &sunder- 
stand IIE . He dld it, but I had t o  be sure tha t  It was done. That was 
past  of rrty job. And, when we got through wlth an annual meting, we 
mew jus t  exactly where we stood. 

Q. Was t ha t  ~ q u l r e d  by l a w  or  jus t  the co-op wanted t o  have that done? 

A. I rabher think there was a law t o  tha t  e f fec t  on co-op9. I won't 
be sure about tha t ,  but I rather  s d s e  there was because we t r i e d  t o  
stay i n  the law In everythlvlg we did, If possible. For one thing tha t  
we were very particular about was tha t  none of the directors, or offilcers, 
drew any money, d ldnl t  get any pay. Because of income tax. The income 
tax people sa id  i f  you had three drawing a salary, you had t o  pay incorn 
tax  on the whole thing, you know, where you wouldnvt have had t o  pay very 
much. Oh, we had tha t  t o  f i m t  every year, pret ty  near. 

There was two fellows tha t  caw here tha t  were, I mess,  just genuine 
crooks. They worked a week down there on the books atrying t o  f ind 
someplace where he'd pdd--where the m a g e r  had p a d  some of us. He 
t o ld  them, r i @ t  on the start, he never had. He says, "They never get 
a cent of pay. '' 
Q,. Thls was Rome Vlgnos , you man? 

A. Yes. Well, they f ina l ly  figured it up tha t  he had. Mdnlt take his  
word fo r  It and p ~ s e n t e d  hlm a t ax  b l l l  of . . . oh, I don't MOW, one 
hundred and for ty o r  Tlfty dollars--It would pay them well for the the 
they ld spent there and they l a i d  down the b i l l  and says, llTherels what 
you owe. " He says, 'When the county judge tel ls  me tha t ,  " he says, "1 '11 
pay it ,  but not before," and they had t o  leave. And you lmaw, those 
rascals drove i n  fbnt  of a t r a i n  down there where tha t  tower w a s  and w a s  
k l l l ed  i n  j u s t  a few days a f t e r .  

Q. Down at the I l l i n o i s  Central and Wabash crossing? 

A. Yes. Just drove r ight  i n  f'ront of a t d  down there.  

Q. Were they federal agents or  w e r r  they . . . 
A. Aw, they pretended t o  be. I thlnlr they were J ,mt  a couple of crooks. 

Q. Oh, I see. They wanted him to pay them ri@t then? 

A. Well, yes ! They were golng t o  put that away, don't you see? And he 
hew it! He was sure they were crooks. He told IE, he said, "I 'm not 
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ageing t o  pay them a cent. I' Says, "I'm agoin@; t o  fI@t them through 
the c o r n s  before I '11 @ve them a k. " We never heard anymore about 
it a f t e r  they g ~ t  ki l led .  

ADDENDA ITEM 109 (ref. p.  280) 

A. And Nick--Nick Boehler. You h e w  old Nick? 

A. Well, Nick w a s  one of the directors .  He helped o r p n i z e  It and he 
was one of the directors and he would take a stand a @ W t  the rest, 
you know, but those fellows would always come over and there ld  be four 
votes a m s t  him. You could just comt on it as sure as . . . (laughs) 

Q. What type things would he t r y  t o  do? 

A. Oh, well, just--I don't how whether I o w t  t o  t e l l  this on there 
o r  not, but one of the t h i n e  was-Rome put all the spare mney in bonds 
and come that  kind of a panlc when banks was a l l  havilnp; a l o t  af trouble, 
you know, and it was necessary that  we have plenty of money on hand f o r  
a wheat harvest and a bean harvest--beans were b e g i d n g  t o  be plent i ful  
then-he had t o  sell  those bonds. Well, of course, I had t o  sign them 
and, you bow, Nick never would @ve me permission, He wouldn't vote 
t o  l e t  me s i g  those bonds and 1 says, 'Vhy, Nlck, can ' t  you see t ha t  
1'11 never handle those bonds? They won't be i n  nly hand. All 1'11 do 
i s  write rqy narne here and you can watch re i f  you w a n t  t o . "  "You got no 
buslness asigning them." He wanted to .  - 

Q. oh? r ~ g o o d n e s s .  (laughter) 

A ,  And he wasn't secretasy, you see. It wouldn't have done. So, the 
r e s t  of the boys said, "You go ahead and s i p  them, Bert,." So, 1 slgned 
a l l  the bonds and they went in to  S t .  hd.s  and mde cash and I never 
heard any m r ~  out of h i m  about It. He didn ' t  fall out with r r ~  f0-r the 
slmple reason that--I know tha t  he didn't  f a l l  out In the least b i t ,  be- 
cause . . . Luther BaYJoee, I to ld  you, f a i l ed  In h i s  health and I had t o  
f h i s h  h i s  town clerk 3 ob . 
Q. Yes, sir. 

A. Well, I was town clerk at that sam t h e .  Nlck w a s  ahav3ng a drainage 
elect lon out at h i s  house shortly a f t e r  t h i s  took place and he called me 
up and he says, "Bert, the law says tha t  i n  these elections,  for them t o  
be lee;3-1, I must have the town clerk present t o  keep the minutes. He says, 
"Can you come over?" 1 says, "Yes, be r ight  over. " So, I went over and he 
helped me out a l l  he could gettllng everything strxlmt md he says, when I 
went t o  leave, he says, "Now, you just  rest assured I'm going t o  see you get 
paid f o r  t h i s .  " ( l a w t e r )  So, he dl.dntt fall out wlth re. 

Q. Did you ever have any problem In  the elvator with keeping enough money 
m u n d  dwlng the Depression? 

A. Have what? 
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Q. Have any problems with having enou@ money i n  the elevator during 
the Depression? DurLng those years? 

A. (pause) I don ' t beUeve Iunde r s t andyou .  
I 

Q. Did they m short of money t o  operate the elevator. You how , . , 

A. Oh, no. We were very conservative. The bank was very conservative 
andwewere, too. A t  tha t  same t i m I w a s  a d l r e c t o r i n t h e b a n k a n d  

I I knew a l l  about the situation over there as w e l l  as at  the elevator. 
'They were very conservative. That was the only bank that  stood between 
Litchfleld and Springfield. Tney closed all the r e s t  of them. 

Q Were there any problem w4th any elevators mund here? Did any of 
the elevators close? 

A. No. I thlnk the elevators a l l  held on, because they'd hoarded t h e i r  
mney and e i the r  had it in graln at  S t .  huis  o r  i n  b i l l s  down there, 

I somthing. No, I don't think--[don't] remerber a single elevator going 
under. 

ADDENDAITElvI110 (ref. p. 280) 

1 A. I knowhewas .  

I 
Q. He was .  Yes, sir. (resums reading) I t .  . . and served a nunher of 
years. When I first moved up here, why . . . I I  

A. Now, I w a s n l t a d i l ~ c t o r ,  thou&, mdcrhh .  Neverwas. No,he 
plcked older E n .  He had Ed Brwming and . . . and John Browning, If 

I I remember ri&t. Oh, Mast i n  Brubaker, and Ed F i t e  , if I remrrber right, 
I was h i s  board of directors that  he had. All of them was nei@;hbors out 

there t o  him, you mow, and they were in the elevator, o r  helped t o  buy It. 

1 I &. Did EranZc h r b y  , then, replace him? 

1 A .  Yes. After Herb qult, why, then we elected Frank and Fmnk was president 
of the board--well, he was u n t i l  h i s  health got t o  where he coddnl.t--well, 
he was there u n t l l  they sold out. HIS health didn't  f a i l  mtl l  after be 

1 sold out. Frank had tha t  shaking disease, you know. 

1 Q. I didn't how tha t .  

A. Oh rpr! Held s t i ck  his hands in h i s  pockets as deep as he could, when 
I ' d  go t o  see hm, t o  keep ne Porn seeing hls hands shake. That I s  a t e r r i b l e  
thing! And they t e l l  IE t ha t  i t ' s  affected by a little--(points t o  back of 
his neck) r L @ t  down there,  r ight  at the baze of the brain 13 what;'s affected. 
They never have been able t o  head it off. Ply s i s t e r ' s  second husband fled 
with It and he was slck fo r  a year or  two, just pLtff'ul. We spent money. 
My goodness! He t r i e d  every way t o  get benefited but they just  didn't have 
anythhg f o r  it. Tney c l a l m  now they have a e d i c i n e  tha t ,  If they ' l l  s t ick 
on it--it's k h d  Of l l k e  epilepsy--you h o w ,  they say epileptics w i l l  be 
a l l  ri&t i f  t h e y l l l t a k e  t h e i r  medicine. Well, t h i s  is tha t  way. If they 
take t h e i r  mdicine regular, It w i l l  keep down shakes, o r  keep them t o  a 
IrIhimwn. 
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Q. (Interviewer readlng out loud) "Well, what was that  ?I' 

A.  M r L e d  Richardson s oldest daughter. Maude Richardson. 

11 Q. Okay. k t ' s  see.  ( r e s m s r e a d i n g )  "Hetdmawried. . . Now, 
he was--Herb Street?  

A .  No, tha t  was k r b y  . 
Q. Oh. Frank Derby . . . 
A. Yes. 

Q. . . . m l e d  Maude Richardson . . . 
A. He followed Street ,  you know, as director and t h a t ' s  who I t h o a t  
we were ta lklng about. 

Q. Yes, sir. Yes, s ir .  I see. 

A. And he m i e d  Maude Derby and they had two girls--Juanita and , . . 
Oh, the other gkl just died here a couple of mnths back--Glenn Wood's 
wife. What was her  nam? Don't m t t e r ,  she's gone; both of them a re  dead. 

Q. Well, let's see now. You say Frank Derby m r i e d  Maude Richzdson? 
(narrator nods head) That was it. Yes. Let 's see, now, t h i s  then . . . 
l.etls see . . . (resums reading) "I worked fo r  Tom Mchardson . . . 
worked as h i s  hlred hand and I got t o  know pract ical ly  all the . . . 11 

Now, I t h h k  we we talking about Herb Street .  He lived out West of t o m ,  
didn't he? (narrator nods head) Okay, because you go on and say, ". . . 
he'd m i e d  A1 . . ." and I think that  w a s  Tom Richardson who married 
sowone *om west of town. 

A. Yes. A1 WIlllamon. She was a Williamon. Did you how Casey William- 
son's dad? 

Q. No, sir, I didn't  know h i m .  I knew Casey. 

A. You knew Casey and . . . Well, she w a s  a s i s t e r  t o  him. 

Q. I see. 

A. W i o n  Williamson was his n m ,  you h o w .  men, there was a n ~ t h e r  
one that  lived out-well, he l ived out r L & t  close t o  where Clarence 
B o r n ' s  place Is--to another Williamson tha t  l ived there.  They were her 
brothers. 

Q. Yes. So--and tha t  was what you were speak- of.  He Id marriled Al- 
was tha t  AUce W i l l i m o n ?  

A. Alice, yes, that  I s  r i @ t ,  but he always called her Al. 

Q. Yes. Okay. 'Well, what w x  - that?" So we 've c l e m d  that now. So, 
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(resms reading) ". . . 

ADDENLIA ITEM 112 (ref. p 

people west of town a l l  v ls i ted  them." 

Q. Do you ~ m r r b e r  h i s  name? 

A. Oh, l e t ' s  see. What was h is  nam . . . I knew hfm as long as I a d  
He& because he was a schoolteacher. 

Q. Was there a Grant Street?  That w a n '  t it . . . 
A. There was a N e t  S t ree t .  That was a s i s t e r  t o  her and she taught 
school. for  years. T a u a t  gmde schools, you know, f o r  years. Well, I- 
Jasper was the fellow that  m for  county superintendent of schools. 

Q. Okay. Yes, sir. Okay. 

ADDENDA ITEN 113 (ref. p. 281) 

Q. . . . and then I drove down t o  Honey Bend and looked a t  the land 
where you worked dawn there and I walked down a d  walked over that 
railway bridge . . . 
A. You a d ?  - 

Q. . . . just t o  see what it w a s  l i ke  t o  w a l k  on those t ies  and tha t  - Is 
a long distance down there,  i s n  l t it? (laurns ) I was wondel'hg . Were 
there two tracks on the railmad at tha t  t im ar jus t  one? 

A. No, there was just one u n t i l  falr t h e  cam. When the St. Zouls fair 
was developing, then they double-tracked because they handled so  m y  trains. 
My goodness, we handled passenger trains them days. Just trainload a f i e r  
trainload. See, they'd start at  Detmlt  and a t  Toledo and then they'd 
consolidate at Decatur, i f  they could. If they couldn't, they'd rrake two 
sections of the t r a i n  and here she'd come a b o l l h g ,  two o r  three thousand 
people in them, you know. Those were real ly  ml l road  days! 

Q. Yes, I looked down a t  the creek. I don't bow--where was your sw-g 
hole f b m  there? 

east  of the bridge, but nm It 's a l l  f i l l e d  

Q. Well, there ' s  a hole there.  There's a wide spot right there just east 
of the bridge. 

A. Yes. Yes, and we had it so we could wade i n  at the  west end and just 
walk i n  on sand and you could go as deep as  you wanted, clear over your 
head, and that  quicksand was just  beyond tha t  turn there,  tha t  I got tha t  
team in. 

Q. Yes. Yes, you to ld  r~ about tha t .  ( l a m s )  Yes, I saw  a bunch of logs 
In there,too, llke the one you h i t  your head on. 
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A. Well, I expect they  IF different  ones by now. You didn't  g~ over 
t o  the dam? 

Q. Yes, sir. 

A. West of the brldge? 

Q. Yes, I drove amund--there1s a tmil--well, the road that  used t o  go 
west, I guess . . . 
A. Yes, they've got it blocked. 

Q. . . . it ' s a l l  blocked off  and there I s  a b l g  dam there,  I dldn 't go 
up on the dam. I just  went down t o  the creek there by the base of the 
dam. Yes, I was looking fo r  a way t o  get back west and I had t o  go back 
out then and up north . . . 
A. Yes, that  ' s all under water. They say that ' s firteen feet deep where 
that bridge used t o  be, t o  the west s ide these. 

END OF SIDE ONE 

Q. There on the north s ide of the road, as you go back t o  the rallroad 
from the eas t ,  Is tha t  the house tha t  you l ived in  there? That was the 
one tha t  replaced the log cabln? 

A. I-Ias an extenston off from the roof t o  the south? Bay windows? 

Q. I couldn't t e l l .  Tneylve got a great b ig  trailer se t t ing  ri@t in 
front of It. 

A. Yes, t ha t1$  the one. 

Q. I see. Yes, sir. Where w a s  the log . . . 
A. It was idle f o r  a rider of years. The man tha t  bought It f"mm the-- 
from t h e  estate-see, brother bought tha t  when nly m t h e r ' s  e s t a t e  w a s  
se t t led .  My t h k d  brother b o w t  it and he and h l s  wife lived there u n t i l  
they dled. Well, when h l s  famlly se t t l ed  up, this was sold t o  a Nail, t o  
one of the Nail boys, and he works i n  Wood River. He never had the intention 
of llvlng there.  He corn up and did it as an Investrent. So, they s a d  he 
never had anybody In tha t  house, I don't thinlc, i n  seven or eight y e z s  and 
the coons to re  the roof all t o  pieces and mde dens up in t ha t  a t t l c .  They 
said It just  ruined the house and t h a t ' s  w h y  tha t  t d l e r l s  there. 

Q. I see, I couldn't t e l l .  A 1 1  I could see was the roof and there ' s  
som kind of bay wlndows In  the front upstairs there tha t  I could see, 
but-where w a s  the log cabln i n  re la t lon  t o  that house? 

A. It stood just west of that. We left it unt i l  we got the house done 
and then to re  it down. 

I w a s  thlnklng today about the s i ze  of tha t .  It was-it mt have been 
pret ty  close t o  t h i r t y  feet  each--squme. It was a good big bui ldhg.  
It had two b ig  rooms i n  i t .  
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Q. Yes, that  ' s beautirul tirrber down there.  I enjoyed walking down 
the ral l road tracks. 

A. You can see why us kids were so crazy over it. 

Q. Yes, s ir .  I l r n  suqr i .sed a t  how rcil.l^ing It i s .  That's a b ig  drop 
down there t o  the creek f'rom . . . 

A. Yes. 

Q. It ' s a s o d  fif'ty fee t .  

A. I'Q dad m e d  t e n  acres r i @ t  on the  creek. But the ten  a w e s  between 
h h  and the road belonged t o  the Fagleholts. But they told h h  as long 
as he would keep a barrbed wire fence around it, he could use it for a 
pasture and he needn't pay a cent. Just keep i f  fenced. So, a l l  the 
time he and q y  brother l ived there,  they kept tha t  up and used ilt for 
a pasture. My brother mde more out of h i s  c a t t l e  running on tha t  tirrber 
pasture than he dild famning. You were dr idng,  then? 

Q. Yes, sir. I just  drove down i n  the truck. 

A.  You didn't see it from the plane? 

Q. Well, yes sir. I have pictures of it f'rom the air. 

A. Oh, do you? 

9. Yes. I 've got t o  get those processed yet.  Actually, what T v m  going 
t o  have t o  do it go back and take some more because I took themwith . . . 
A, I t h o m t  that s what you was adoing the other day. 

Q. Well, yes sir, but they didn't come out as well as I'd Uke them to. 
It was awful hazy tha t  day. You m y  remmber . It was just--that kind 
of s m g y  condition w a s  i n .  

A. About U k e  now. 

Q. Yes. Yes, today's kind of a hazy day. What I need Is a good, c lear  
sunshiny day. We had it a couple of weeks ago. There w a s  a couple of 
days I should have gone out, but I want t o  take them In  black and white. 
I took them l n  color and-It was sl ldes,  you know, and tha t  costs too 
much t o  get them processed. So, but--yes, I got p i c t m s  e o m  the a i r .  

I got one real good picture and when 1 drove down there,  I looked at  it 
f'rom the ground and i t ' s  jus t  as  white f'rorn the ground. Zherels a corn- 
f ie ld  jus t  across the  road fmm tha t  house and tha t  p o m d  is just  as 
white as chalk. I t 's  jus t  pure white. 

A. I saw tha t  clemed. That's where I t o l d  you the man @ve away the 
wood t o  get that cleared. He chopped a l l  winter on tha t  flve acres and 
gave away the wood t o  gt it out of the way and then he broke tha t  up 
and took a double shovel and a b l lnd  mre and plowed that corn and he 
could put that  old m e  zound stumps by gee and haw and she wouldn't 



even bark her s h h s  . 
Q. Yes, sir. @I, tha t  was where the  o1.d fellow, then, grew the corn 
and the wheat, was it? 

No. tha t  was a mile and a half far ther  southeast . 
My father  rented from a man n m d  Westbrook over there.  He had s i x t y  
acres of land. I guess he'd been ,yypped out of everything tha t  he 
rented t o  and he found out rqy dad was honest, Why, he wouldn't let 
anybody e l se  have the  land but Dad. Dad always seen tha t  he got every- 
thing tha t  was comlng t o  him and af'ter he died, h i s  wife went t o  s e t t l e  
the es ta te  and they couldn't get her t o  sign the papers unless he was 
present. He had t o  be there and say it was all right o r  she wouldrl't 
sign the papers. 

Q. They real ly  t rusted him, then? 

A.  Yes, they did. 

ADDENDA IX'EM 114 (ref. p. 285) 

Q. (Interviewer reading out loud) "I think Tom Taylor was one of the 
c o d s s l o n e r s  and Herb Street w a s  another one." I can't quite bell there.  
You say, "Well, the Baker boys. Ira was one of them. '' You man one of 
the conrmissloners? Or w a s  he one of the road bosses? 

A. He was just one of the Baker boys, He was the oldest--oldest W e r .  
Ira. And then there was Roy and then F?ank. 

Q. Was Ira the road boss? 

A. Yes. 

Q. He was  the mad boss. 

A. He was a comriLssloner and also the road boss. Because he and @ank 
owned a threshing ou t f i t  and they got a grader at tha t  t lm that they 
could pull wlth a t rac t ion  engine and, of cowse, the township hired 
tha t  engine because It was local ,  you how, and they ran tha t  and did 
the work on the roads. It was a wonderfd a d w t a g e  t o  what scrapers 
had been. You how, a scraper lef't it a l l  in one p i l e ,  and tha t  spread 
it. Bring it up out of the drltch and then spread it out over the road, 
you know, and--wonderf'ul help. Why, I just  served under Ira while I 
w a s  aserving as town clerk.  

Q. Yes, when you were f l l l l n g  In. Okay, 1'11 stmighten that out a l i t t l e  
b i t ,  then, because I couldn't t e l l  Porn it whether he was road boss or  
c o d s s i o n e r  and he was both of them. 

A. He was both. Yes. He was a very f lne  man. I don't know whether 
you h e w  h i m  or  not, but he was just  as honest as they rrake them. To 
kind of even things up f o r  me-I didn't  get any pay much out of the town 
clerk job, you how. To kind of even things up for IE, when I c m l e d  
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h i s  pet l t lon,  why, when he got down t o  the  bottom of the o i l  tank-- 
they shipped o i l  i n  them days in a rai l road tank, the f i r s t  oil-- 
and when they'd get t o  the bottom of the tank, i t ' d  be pret ty  near 
pure t a r  and I went down and seen what It was l l ke .  I says, "I' d 
l ike  t o  have a five-gallon can of tha t  and spread on rqy hog house 
roof. !they drew It off  *om me, and they never forgot rre afterward 
Every tlm, here'd come a f ive-wl lon  of o i l .  (laughter) 

Q. So, you dld all your roofs tha t  way, huh? 

A. Yes. (laughter) 

Q. What Is It? 

A. Rbrch. M-A-R-C-H. h u i e  March. 

Q. Okay. We couldn't think of tha t  then. 

A. He's s t i l l  doing it. 

&. Ch, he s t i l l  i s ?  

A. S t i l l  doing it. Hc oiled right out here thls yeax. He's got-I 
expect he ' s  got fifty thousand dol lars  t i e d  up--mybe a hundred--ln 
equipment. He's got a b&but he o i l s  a l l  the way around him, in 
Christian County and Montgonmy and a l l  around, you how, and he's, 
seems t o  be, s t r i c t l y  honest. 

Q. Well, be must be I f  he 's  been at it tha t  many years. 

A. He has and he--now the o i l  is  a l l  shiped t o  hlm and he brings it in 
a b ig  tank car, as you said there,  st111 boiling. He puts It ahead of 
these wagons and when they run out, why, they run sl&t up and flll up, 
back up t o  where they took off ,  and away they go again. lhe tank wagon 
pulls  a l i t t l e  fa.rther ahead, you bow, about what t h e y ' l l  need t o  get to .  

Q. Yes, we have him on the tape then, because they went by a couple of 
times while we were taping. Well good, we have h i s  n a m  now. 

Q. Sl r ,  when I asked on tha t  date--now, I've already wrltten a preface 
t o  this, and I explained your point about dates, you mow, that somtimes 
they'd be off. But on this one, now, you explain that by relatlng it t o  
the Hoover years, l a t e r  on when you1 r e  t a k i n g  [of It ] a@n, but it ' s a 
long way f'rom t h i s ,  I wonder i f  we could change that--you say, '%Jell, It 
was I n  1918, i f  I remrher  r ight . ' '  Well, t ha t  would have been the early 
Depression yews, so it would have been the 1930ts, wouldn't it? 
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A. I be dogged If I can be sure, yet. I--1 don't mow where you'd 
get that  informtion.  I do know, too. You b o w  IQrrrett Bmbaker. 

Q. Yes. 

A. Well, you talk t o  kim about tha t .  

Q. Oh, okay. O k a y .  

A. Because Emnett was i n  the bank. 

Q. Yes. So, tha t  would have been--let Is see, 1918 was ri&t at World 
War I and Emrett wasnl t i n  the bank . : . 
A.  Oh, no. It wasn't then. It w a s  about the 1930 's , then. 

Q. Yes . Somplace along i n  the 19 30 ' s . A l l  ~?i&t , STY. 

Q. You bow, I was down at Gr i f f i th  Is Garage the other day and 1 mentioned 
the fact--asked them about t h e i r  s e l l ing  them and he said yes. He said-- 
It was Hemran I w a s  ta lking to--and he s d d ,  "You how you can still1 buy 
coal 011 refrigerators? ' '  I ' d  never heard of such a thlng. 

A. Yes, there was a couple l lved i n  the f l a t  wlth us the first wivltcr 
we were i n  New Mexico. They came fYom northeast New Mexico, had horn- 
steaded up there and got very wealthy. They sold out and ret lred and 
he t o ld  m, himself, tha t  he got $160,000 for  h is  layout. And he cam 
down there and he says, "I w a n t  t o  f i sh  the rest of n7y l l f e  and," he says, 
" I ' m  going t o .  I t  'They had one tha t  they had b o a t ,  one of the f i r s t  ones. 
They used it a l l  the slx wfnters tha t  I was there and they still  bad it 
when they both dled. 

&. Well, fo r  heaven's sakes. So, "chey rea l ly  worked? 

A. Oh, wopkedl They worked as good as anything you ever saw. They were 
absolutely noiseless but  I had t o  get rid of mine on the account of my 
nose. 'Thererd be coal o i l  f'ur~s. You know haw a lap--did you ever burn 
a coal 011 lamp? 

Q. Oh, yes s ly .  Yes, sir, when I was a kid on the fm . . . 
A. Well, you know how sometines t h e y ' l l  smoke a l i t t l e ?  

Q. Yes, sir. 

A. And the f m s  m e  t e r r i b l e  on your nose, Well, I ju s t  had t o  get r l d  
of it. So, the  power l ine  had come In by tha t  t i n e  and I sold t h i s  t o  
another f m r  up north tha t  couldn't get on a power l h e  and I bought a 
refr igerator  out of Springfield. Frigidaire.  

Q. Yes. He sa id  he remerrbered se l l ing  them. 
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A,  But , . . I o m t e n  t o  t e l l  t ha t ,  I don't think, on the tape. 
H e m  dEhlt t e l l  you anything about m buying one? 

Q. No, sir. He didn't  mntion tha t .  You said--we have here a record 
of your giving the stock for  it here. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Yes. k t l s  see. 

A. 'Ihatls the way I got out of It. 

Q. Yes, slr. 

ADDENDA ITEN 118 ( ~ f .  p. 291) 

A, They thought they was  @ing t o  put IE back, 

Q. Oh, I see. Well! (laughter) But it didn't work, huh? 

A. It didn't  work. 

Q. You substituted Dorothy for  it. Well, thank you, ma'am. (Mrs. 
Brown b r o w t  a glass of cold water) 

1-T.B. Do you w a n t  one? 

A. No. Thank you. 

Q. (resumes rcadlng) "So I sold the ten  shares and I says, 'Now, I 
want Dorothy I n  here as one of the mrrbers of the bank.' And they l is tened 
t o  m. They put her rimt in."  So, Dorothy was your subsi t l tue,  huh? 

A. Yes. She was a . . . She was a-out of school, you know, and wanting 
a job and I knew she was plenty capable md trustworthy, because she d 
gram up r i @ t  here. She was i n  our home an awful l o t  when she was po&g 
up and I thoup$t a l o t  of her and s t l l l  do. 

I gat her i n  there and she worked as long as she wanted t o .  She just  qu i t  
a yem or two back, you know. 

Q. Yes. Yes, we used to--you h o w ,  I do business with the bank and when 
I 've been all around the United States  and over i n  the Far East and every- 
thing, they'd send me the statements and, every once I n  a while, there 
would be a l i t t l e  note in there f'rorn Domthy, you know, about sowthing or 
other. She jus t  stuck it In.  

ADDENDA ITEN 119 (ref. p. 293) 

Q. (Lnterviewer mading out loud) 'l . . . and he l s been In that job ever 
since . . . 11 

A. He was a t o ~ n ~ h i l p  treasurer. I dildn't rrake t ha t  p l d n .  He had all 
the school mney . 
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Q. Oh, I see. Yes. 

A .  In the township. 

Q. Well, i s  t h i s  the Panhandle Units, magbe? The Raymnd and Fa~mersvl l le  
a n d . . .  

A. Well, I guess It would be just  F m r s v i l k  and Waggoner b s ,  at that 
tire, there was st111 grade school.s, out;, you how. Llke B m e t  down here 
and Fireman up here and what was t ha t  one out by the c e w t e w ,  out west, 
by the Wlld Row Park. What dld they c a l l  t ha t ?  That w a s  still  i n  exfstence. 
Well, those--he was treasurer over a l l  those school modes. The township 
collector turned the money over t o  him and he had to s i p  all of the orders 
t o  the teachers. 

Q. Oh, I see. My ppodness. And that--so, It was a township job. 

A.  Yes. So, I don't how what salary he got, but I know he got a-some- 
thl-ng out of handlhg  tha t  money and a good job there i n  the post office 
and he never-never went with--run around anywhere o r  d1.d anything t o  get 
rld of any of it. 

Q. So, he ou@t t o  st111 have it. 

A. And he 's  a f lne  fellow. 

ADDEYDA ITFN 120 (ref. p. 295) 

Q. Si r ,  I was wondering-why didn't it cost anything t o  cal l  Honey Bend? 

A. Well, it was rather  a mutual a f f a l r ,  t o  start on. The f m r s  a l l  
went together and put up the 1Ine themselves and they hired centrals .  
They had t o  pay them, but they also charged us so much a month for  the 
use of the phone. 

Q, So, it was just a flat  r a t e .  You didn't pay for the a u n t  of use. 

A. Yes, and so, I could r ing  Raymnd, t e l l  her t o  r ing Honey Bend, and 
she'd get him rT@t o f f .  

Q. And no cost other than your f l a t  ra te?  

A.  No. No cost. 

Q. I see. Okay, I w a s  wonderhg there,  It ou&t t o  have cost something. 

ADDENDA TIEM 121 (ref. p. 298) 

Q. So, we recorded my get t ing apples, t h i s  . . . (1aup;hter) How about 
tha t  ? 

A.  That's history.  



Q, Yes sir, t h a t ' s  history.  ( l aumte r )  Well, sorwone might w a n t  t o  
know whether you had apples on the Ailman place out there a few years 
back, you mow. You never how.  You know, I put I n  the preface tha t  
I wrote out f o r  t h l s  that there was a l i t t l e  blt of strain between you 
and I, occasionally, as t o  what value t h i s  was, because neither you 
nor I knew what part  of it was rval ly  valuable fo r  hlstory. 

think that q y  past  i s  very valuable. 

Q. Well . . . 
H.B. Turn on the  . . . (indicates the  air conditioner) 

Q. CPn, I ' m  going t o  have t o  go, so if . . . 
A. Go ahead and turn It on. 

H.B. It's pret ty  hot. Shut your door, Bert. 

Q. I think i t ' s  cooling down now, a l l t t l e  b i t .  That overcast has 
thickened up on us, I think. 

A. There was a w a m l n g  out at noon, In Jersey County. 

Oh, is  tha t  r lght?  

A. Yes. 

Q, They seem t o  have an awful l o t  of thunders tom down there mound S t .  
Lmis and tha t  -a. And they don't--you know, i t ' s  real funny up here, 
I 've noticed . . . 
A. That's just  swelled. (referring t o  diff icul ty  i n  closing the  door) 

Q. The thmderstom seem t o  come up down In the southwest and t h e y ' l l  
move north and then t h e y ' l l  e;o across the nofih of us and then t b e y ' l l  
cow back down this way and they very seldom h l t  ri@t around Wawnes. 
I don't Mow . . , 

H.B. Well, that warming was for  the en t i r e  WSm [radlo s tat ion]  district. 
Bert never did get t ha t .  

Q. Oh, so it mlgSlt have been . . . 
H.B. Yes, It corn through here. 

Q. My goodness, t h a t ' s  a pret ty  

H .B . Macoupln and Montgowry . 

Q. I say t h a t ' s  a pret ty  dress. 

H.B. (laughs) It 's  an old, o ld  
old. 

dress ! 

(pause) What was t ha t  you said? (laughs) 

one. It 's about twelve o r  f i r teen  years 
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Q. Well, tha t  doesn't mke  it any l e s s  pretty. You know, I w a s  talk- 
about you this mrnlng. Masy Ann Dillon. She was bow and raised down 
here by Wmels Gmve, you know. 

H.B. Yes. 

Q. She's interested In the history of Montgomry Comty and she's inter-  
viewed l ike  t h i s ,  you know, several people-not as extensively as we're 
doing here. Well, we were t a l k h g  and I asked her i f  shgld ever heard 
of you people hem and I mentioned what I w a s  doing and she sa id  that she 
would like t o  get some s tu f f  . . . on Honey Bend wea ,  you lmw, It was 
one of the places she'd never been, i n  the first place and, in the second 
place, she'd l i k e  t o  interview some womn. I think she's Interv iewed two 
womn of sraybe the e l @ t  or ten  people that she's in'cemdewed. So, I to ld  
her tha t  you might be a r e a l  good prospect. Would you be Interested i n  
belng internewed? 

H.B. Well, I 1 l l t e l l y o u .  You see, I l e f t  here i n  1925. 

Q. Okay, so tha t  mans from 18 . . . 
H.B. 1892 t o  1925. 

Q. Okay, but see that--you see, tha t  period of years and w e r e  You down 
at Honey Bend mst of tha t  t i m ?  

H,B. Oh, yes. 

Q. Yes. See. 

A. She was born there and ralsed. 

Q. So tha t  would cover . . . 
I-I.B. I spent s i x  years i n  Sprlngfleld. Then . . . 
&. They always want s t u f f  Porn Springfield. I was t e l l i n g  her t h i s  
mming,  you know, she . . . 
H.B. I worked there in the off ices  i n  Springfield u n t i l  I 1 e R .  When 
we lefi the horn fm, why, you see, the second brother was dying of 
pernicious anemla and the doctor cal led me In and he had been rtnuz"lng 
the f m .  

Q. I see. 

H.B. And the doctor called re In and he3 said, "NOW, Nel, you're golng t o  
have t o  take over." He  says, "Warren's not going t o  l l v e  a gem," and 
he sald, "1 w a n t  t o  t e l l  you so tha t  you can W e  your plans accordingly . " 
He said,  "I don't think you and your mother w i l l  want t o  t r y  t o  mul the 
farm. Do you?'' And I said,  "No, I couldn't posslbly handle the farm. " 
So, I went in to  buslness college and then we went in to  Llltchfleld and 
kept W m n  unt i l  he died there,  In 1918, wasn't it? And then I went 
right in to  Springfield and went t o  work. Took Mother wlth IE and then, 
when I got marrled, I lef't there and went west. 



Q. I see. Wel.1, I don't know-of course, this program here, our o r a l  
history pmparn is on I l l i n o i s .  Gosh, you know, I was t e l l i n g  her tha t  
I was going thsough here with M r .  Aikmm and pt to asking about the 
log cabin and som of the cooking i n  it, you lmm, and I t o ld  her about 
the a r p n t  on the strawberries, whether you had any strawberries o r  
not. (laughter) I to ld  her that  there was probably a l o t  of the cook- 
ing part  of it, you how, tha t  you would bow a l o t  be t t e r  than you 
[ M r .  A l h m ]  would r e ~ r r b e r .  So, and t h a t ' s  the  type khlng tha t  she 
would m e  t o  get. The only pmblem is, now, she didn ' t  say thls-- 
Cullom t o l d  me tha t  afterward, he--1 mntioned it t o  hb. He's the 
instructor ,  you know, i n  charge of the office-ad I mntioned t o  him 
and he says, 'Well, you be t t e r  hurry i f  you're p h g  t o  have Mazy 
Ann dolng it, because they 'rle leaving. " I didn't ask, I don1 t know what 
the circwrstance Is there,  but they miy be departing. So--but the main 
thing, whether i t ' s  Mary Ann o r  whether I do it o r  whether we get somone 
e l se  up there t o  come down, would you be interested i n  tha t  s o d  of thing? 

H.B. Oh, i f  I could t e l l  you somthing of the community stuff. That's 
a l l  that  I how about-the people and how we mt together for MlUng the 
ho@ and dolng the famnwork i n  the s m r .  We a l l  went together and 
cooked together, you know. 

Q. Yes. 

A. See, she went on and l ived at horn all. of those years. Well, fmrn 
t h i d e e n  on, I was hardly a t  home, only weekends. 

Q. Well, see,  what I have i n  mind is that--see, I'm going t o  go ahead 
and complete yom's  now. So, we're going to have a pre t ty  good one on 
what you have. Well, t h i s  one, for  a period of so rmny years would be 
a r e a l  @;ood adjunct t o  the larger one on M r .  A i b ,  you see. 

H.B. (lams) We'd be the Waltons, huh? 

Q. Yes, how about tha t  ? Yes. 

H.B. Bert sa id  the other day we had a range In the log cabln. We dldnlt 
have a range in those days, at  a l l .  We had the old Bridge and Beech stove. 
It w a s  a four hole. Had four lids on it. 

A.  Well, I always called it a range. 

H.B. Well, it wasn't a range. 

A. I bow. 

H.B. It was just a flat-top stove and it had a hawk in f'ront. How well I 
how tha t  because I w a s  always included--he'd kld about the cooking. I 
always helped as much as I could and 1 went there and put lmee on tha t  
thing one day and burned a B, right on top.  It w a s  a b i g  Beech, you know, 
and It jmt branded rqy knee. 

Q. Oh, I see. My goodness. ( l aumte r )  

H.B. I had it f o r  a long t i m e .  
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A. See, the grate was on the front of the stove. You raked ashes 
down i n  a plle , rf ,@t here extended out i n  front.  

H.B. Mother was cookhg something on top, you know, and I got up 
on there t o  look In  and see how it was doing and I burned nly knee. 
( l a w t e r  ) 

(par+, of transcript deleted - not relevant t o  narration) 

Q. Yes, sir. 

A. Who w a s  it t ha t  was a comic used t o  say, "He'd feel a =in co&g on," 
And he'd t e l l  a joke . . . ( l a w t e r )  

Q. Yes, sir. I don't know. I haven't heard tha t .  

W.B. One of the comdians , too, not long ago, says, "?"ne reason tha t  
I ' m  lau&ing i s  tha t  I know what I ' m  gohg t o  say. " ( lau@ter)  

Q. A l o t  of people . . . 
A. Red Skelton sa id  one time, you know, says, "The season i t ' s  so hard 
Tor me to keep fYom laughing, see,  I mow this Joke. l1 (lau@ker) 

H.B. Do you want some more water? 

Q. No. Thank you. I'm g e t t h g  a spot on your table here. 

H .B. Oh, It wont t hurt anythling. Ply goodness. I ought t o  bring you a 
napkin there.  That ' s a l l  r igh t .  

Q. Well, It  d b e t t e r  get @;oing here. I've got t o  audit and edit tha t  nmber 
ten.  I ' m  trying t o  get . . . 
A. By the  way, has the baby corn? 

Q. Nooo, No. Oh, that  I s  rl&t. Ellen called . . . 
END OF TAPE 

A. I don't know why I couldn't have tho&t o f t h a t .  Z: visilted wlth him 
t i r e  and time a@n. But he was sitting sidefaced and he ' s  gown a l l t t l e  
mustache and It changed h i s  appearance till I didn't know him at all. I 
salid something about h i s  father .  I knew h i s  father  quite well and 1-1 mean 
h l s  grandfather. I h e w  his father - and grandfather and I sa ld  something 
about his grandfather. So, I asked i f  he knew when he homesteaded up there 
and the barber jwnped up and grabbed a book. He went lookilng i n  It and he 
says, "John, " says, "what I s  h is  m ? ' '  John says, "Land, I don't have any 
idea," and I says, "Well, I do. His nam was John." But they couldn't 
find his nam in there. They didn't  have It tha t  far back. 



Q. You ~mrrber hls nam by any chance? 

A. You man Elmer's boy? 

Q. Yes. 

A. Well, l e t  I s  see-Paul. But he wasn't born ye t  then because, see, 
Elmer wasn't mrried. He was jus t  a kid in school. They s t m t e d  tha t  
down at the high school. They had such a perfect g e n t l e m  as a hL@ 
schoolteacher that year that  he jus t  won everybody, md he wanted t o .  
He says, tlWell, we're not agohg t o  keep this Jus t  here i n  thls schobl." 
He says, 'We're going out t o  the Rurnet . . . d l  the  others, i f  they'll 
l e t  us corm out. l' 

So, they not i f led the nel@borJnood tha t  they'd be out.  Fred b h m  went 
down and se t  two posts at each end and no bow& back of tbem. Just a 
bar re l  hoop nailed on them. 

I'd never seen a basketball @m. We all went and he would explain t o  
each s ide what the other was t rying t o  do a l l  the time, you how. He 
was refemebg and he would explain t o  us old people-he was half the 
t i m e  out t e l l i n g  . . . ( l a w s )  

Q. You what was going-we have a l i t t l e  b i t  on tha t  here In just a minute 
here. k t ' s  see. (resumes reading) 

ADDFJDA ITEM 124 (ref. p. 299) 

Q. Frank Burnet? 

A. Yes. . . . I h n l t  matter whether you get tha t  in there o r  not. Frank 
dldnl t  s t l ck  t o  it. He d ldnl t  like it ,  but . . . they had--Tom. Tom Taylor. 
Young Tom was i n  it. He was a pret ty  good player. They had several t ha t  
developed in to  real basket throwers, you h o w ,  And they played those b i m r  
towns--team. 'They held on about as well as the other schools did. 

Q. Yes, s i r .  I mdemtand they went t o  the  regional [towament] one year 
with a team. 

A. I never went t o  tha t .  I never went t o  a regional. I went t o  one 
football  gam. That's all, I ever saw In my life until I got this thing. 
(mt lons  t o  the te levis ion set) 

4. Where was t ha t ,  sir? 

A. That was at Hillsboro. Hillsboro and Mt . Olive played, and the season 
I went, they had a mn running the lurrberymd then, a young colLege p d u a t e .  
H i s  nam was Tom Taylor, too, but he was no re la t ion  t o  Taylors m u n d  here 
at a l l .  Well, he was a prince of a fellow, too. I llked Tom. He called 
rn up and he says, "Bert, do you want t o  see a good football  @me?'' He says, 
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"Get ready and come t o  ILillsboro. I ' m  g o h g  t o  referee a g a m  between 
Hillsborn and Pit. Olive t h i s  arternoon. " Well, I went dm-or  w wife 
and I went down and t h a t ' s  the only footbal l  I ever stood and 
watched . ( laughs ) 

Q. Oh, is  tha t  rlmt? Did you Hke It? 

A. (laughs) I thought it was a w f u l .  

Q. Oh, =ally? (laughter) Kind of a rough w, huh? 

A ,  Oh, boy! It - i s  rough, Did you play? 

&. No, sir. Not football .  We didn't  have it hem at Wagqner, you bow, 
and I didn't have an opportmlty t o  play It. Yes, i t ' s  a p m t t y  row 
gam a l l  r i @ t .  

A. Pretty near as  bad as wrestling. (laughter 

Q. Well, i t ' s  not controlled l i k e  wrestling Is 

A. ( laughhg) Wrestling i sn  ' t controlled. They kick them and step Ln 
the i r  faces. ( T a w t e r )  

Q. Yes, t h a t ' s  qui te  a show. k t ' s  see. (reswnes readlng) 

ADDENDA lTEM 125 (ref. p. 307) 

A. He l o s t  t ha t  good saddle horse, too. Oh, he did hate t h a t .  Boy! He 
was a beau t i f i l  horse. Carried his neck bowed, you know, and stepped So 
pretty.  I never mde him but anybody tha t  wanted t o  could c l M  i n  tha t  
saddle and he'd canter off  with them just  l lke rocking In  a cradle. 

Q. Did you know anything about the c i r c m t m c e s - I  understand t ha t  a 
couple of guys went out t o  h i g h t l s  place one evenhg and beat hlm up 
and that was the reason he got the ponles. 

A. No, they d l d n l t  beat hTm up. They just Held h i m  up. The only beatin@; 
they done, he reached for  a drawer where he had a pistol and, when he reached 
for that ,  one of them h l t  hlrnqn the s lde of the head with the butt of his 
revolver. B u t ,  he didn't hurt hlm t o  m u n t  t o  anything. 

He says, "Dwi@t, we don ' t want t o  hurt you. We to ld  you tha t .  I' EwQht 
h e w  who both of them was by t h a t ,  nr  thou@t he dj d , but he asked the state ' s 
attorney, he said, "Had I be t t e r  m any m s ? "  He says, "I wouldn't do 
it. " He says, "The best thing you can do Is forget It. " But, they never 
came back because they was pret ty  sure he did bow. 

Q. Well, I understood tha t  tha t  was one of the reasons tha t  he got these 
ponies and kept them around the yard there.  They're pret ty  mean. 

A. Well, I expect it was t o  a certain extent, because he didn't have a 
dog tha t  I ever knew o f .  Never knew h l m t o  have a doff;it was just horses, 
and ponies when he got them. I think they got about for ty or  fslfty dol lars  
off  of him tha t  t k  . He ' d just  keep a l i t t l e  mney i n  the house t o  buy 
poce r l e s  with. But they cal led him Dwight Worn the vesy start. 
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tha t  

A. Yes. S a y s ,  'We don't want t o  hurt you, we J u s t  w a n t  your money." 

Q. Well. Okay. Let's see. 

ADDERDA ITEM 126 (ref. p. 309) 

Q. (Interviewer reading out loud) It.  . . and the r e s t  of us w a s  womd 
out of the way. ' I  

A. Just  the church a te ,  you how. Sort of a fellowship thing, t h a t ' s  
what they called it. Then afYerward, they'd have services, you b o w .  
Preaching and slnglng. 

Q. And everybody would attend tha t ,  would they? Not just the Dunkardls 
theme lvcs ? 

A. They'd get t o  hear, yes. All the churches over the township, pretty 
near, would go t o  those feasts ,  as  they called them. I don't mrember 
what they called tha t  now. 

Martlvl Bmbaker Belonged. He was the only man I h e w  tha t  belonged, but 
he and h i s  family belonged a t  tha t  time. I don't know whether E$nmett ever 
did o r  not ,  but he and the older gltrls did . . . and h i s  wife. 

Q. Okay. Let's see. (resums reading) 

Q. I v m  not so sure. When T weri t  through tha t ,  I was t ry l rg  t o  t h h k  when 
he was myor,  because he and Homr Swires, you how, opened up a saloon 
In town then. It must haw been a f t e r  he was myor,  tho@, I thlrik. I 
don1 t know how . . , 
A. Well, he was, because . . . I can't semrrber it. 

Q. Yes, he and Homer S ~ E S  had a tavern there,  no the north s ide.  Well, 
where Kenny West has his grocery now. 

A. That was a f t e r  you got old enough t o  know something about i t ?  

Q. Yes, sir. 

A. Oh, I see. Well, I 1 d  l o s t  t m c k  by tha t  t*, you see. 

Q. Yes, t h i s  w a s  som t;im a R e r  t h a t .  Yes. I remerrber q y  mother used 
t o  make chili f'or them. And they used t o  f'ry blackbirds and s e l l  black- 
birds  In  there.  That's really something. They'd shoot them; you know, 
you'd get a whole slew of them out of the t r e e  with one shot. Mom would 
clean those things and they'd frlythem and s e l l  them for  a nickel. apiece. 

A. That wasn't too bad eating, e i ther .  
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Q. Have you ever eaten blackbirds? 

A. Yes, 

Q. Is tha t  r i @ t ?  I've never eaten one. I don't . . . ( lams > 
A. They're black mat, t h a t ' s  al l .  

Q. Oh, i s  tha t  r ight?  Did you fry them o r  . . . 
A. Well, as I xwrerrber i t ,  we jus t  f'ried them, just like you Would a 
quail. Spl i t  them, you know, and take . . . I didn't thlnlc they was 
too bad eating. I never a t e  m y  crow but they to ld  IIE they were good. 

Q Oh, is  tha t  r i m t ?  A crow? 

A. There used t o  be a l o t  of crows roosted up here i n  a b i g  hedge tha t  
Ben Lohman had. The coal miners would come up here from M t .  Olive and 
Stamton ayld ask permlsslon t o  lay under the hedges l a  your f k l d s .  
They'd start In down here at south l h e  and get under a hedge and 
then they'd get under t h l s  one over here and they'd lay i n  those hedges 
because those crows would come i n  t o  roost.  They'd Just cone a so l id  
stream of an evening and roost up there.  Those fellows woad blast  out 
a batch of them and take them horn. They were eatlvlg them. 

Q. Well, they w e r e  pret ty  good s i ze .  They'd W e  a-much more khan a 
blackbird. 

A. Oh, yes. P ~ t t y  near like a chicken, you Mow. Well, then there 
got t o  be such a t e r r i b l e  m s s  of them up there tha t  the State  sent down 
men and borrhed tha t  hedge. Oh, I don't how, I guess they must have k i l l ed  
f ive  hundred crows, mybe more than tha t .  mere was crippled crow around 
here fo r  the longest t lme a r t e r  t ha t .  They'd have a w i n g  shot off or  a leg 
shot of f ,  you how. Tney had borrbs with shot i n  them. 'Ihey were i n  can- 
i s t e r s  about so big. 

Q, About three o r  four inches around. 

A. They hmg them In the t rees  and they f i r e d  the  whole thing like you'd 
f i r e  a sow of cart;ridgez, you know. 

Q They did it at night while they were roosting, huh? 

A. Yes, with an e lec t r i c  current, and the State did tha t .  It wasn' t 
anybody, any indlvldual. But it broke them up. They qui t  roosting here. 

&. Oh? I see very few craws around any more. 

A.  Oh,theylve pret ty  near got them k i l l ed  out. So many people Hll them 
t o  ea t ,  you how, now. 

Q. I never thought of ea tbe ;  a blackbird, o r  a c r m ,  e i the r  one. But I 
understand they did. 

A. Yes. Both black mat. That goes against--to us fellows, you mow. 
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But a pheasant is pre t ty  dark, too. Did you ever ea t  a pheasant? 

Q. Yes, sir. 

A.  They're pre t ty  da~k, too, but I l i k e  them very much. 

Q. Oh, yes, t h a t ' s  good. I 've  eatenpheasant, yes. k t ' s  see. (resumes 
readlrg ) 

ADDENDA ITBY 128 (ref. p. 311) 

Q, (Interviewer reading out loud) " . . . who It was. Horace. Yes, he 
was the one tha t  s ta r ted  it. " 

A. Yes. You know they hired a man named Knotts tha t  was a banker and he 
and Wagoner s ta r ted  tha t  bank and I was trying t o  thhk of what his n m  
was. He had jus t  one chiild, as I remember, a daughter. And she m i e d  a 
Basnett. She was awful nice--awful pret ty  girl. I thought she was some- 
thing extra t o  look at when she was growing up. 

&. Where did he live?" 

A.  Well, down--do you know where C l a y t  McGowns lived? 

Q. Yes, sir. 

A. Well, r ight  in there someplace. I think t h a t ' s  a farm. I t h W  it 
l a t e r  sold and Clayt ls  father-in-law o r  mother-ln-law or  s o ~ b o d y  b o a t  
it and C l a y t  l ived there for  a nwnber of yems, 

Q d  That's just  south of where John Waggoner lived? 

A. Yes. Yes. 

&. Well, l e t ' s  see. (resums reading) 

ADDERDA ITEN 129 (ref. p. 31.1) 

Q. (Interviewer reading out loud) "I i m a g h e  so.'' So, he was not the 
other director,  then? 

A .  I don't think so. I dont t  believe Ripley was i n  there ,  I thinlc tha t  
Knotts jus t  f e l l  In love wlth the girl. She was a nllce arl, too, nlce look- 
h g  girl and he m i e d  her. And I never mew what become of them. Do you? 

Q. No, sir. 1 don't remember h i m  a t  a l l .  I never knew him at all. 

A. No, of course, that  was before your tZme. J thought mybe through your 
relationships with the Waggoners that you would know something about it. - 

This question was asked t o  make cer tain whether M r .  Ailanan was refer- 
ring t o  M r .  Wagoner or  t o  &. Knotts. The rererence i s  t o  Nr. Wagqoner. [Ed. ] 



&. No, sir. I never hewd . . . 
A. O f  c o m e ,  Knotts wasn't re lated t o  the Waggoness. He was an in- 
dependent. But mdln Ripley cam Into Waggoner as a barber and I got 
t o  how him quite well because of going t o  get the haircuts and so on, 
you how. 

Q. Was that  a brother of th i s  Ripley, the one tha t  was w i t h  the bank? 

A. That was the old man Ripleyls son. I think he was his oldest boy. 
Hardin. He had another boy but I can I t  recall  h i s  m. But I knew 
HwdZn real well because, when 1 was i n  the  hospi tal  that t b  d t b  tha t  
kidney trouble, I wanted a haircut pre t ty  bad. SomboW to ld  Hardin and 
he st i n  a r i g  and c a m  rimt d m  there and cut nly hair  for m.  So, 
I appreciated it. 

Q. Yes, sir. Let's see, tha t  was before M r ,  H a r t  had opened up his 
barber shop, I guess, wasn't it? 

A .  Yes. That was before Hay.t had--and then Billy Thomason f~ l lowed  
Hwdln .  Harm . . . I don I t  know where %din went. Me went someplace . 
I think he contbued t o  barber but I don't know where he went. I don't 
remrrber, I man, And Billy Thomason got h i s  shop and then Hart; opened 
up on the other slde. The= was two shops there fo r  a while. Well, 
there wasn't business enough for  two of them, sa Hart e v e  it I@ and 
went t o  dohg sorething e lse  but B i l l y  stayed on un t i l  he fled. 

Q. On the north s ide,  where was the basber shop located? 

A. Well, rirght west of Kennyls second mom there.  

Q. Bulldlng. Oh, I see. Mght where the post off ice i s  now, then? 

A. No, It was t h l s  slde of tha t .  That was before the town had burned 
down, you how. 

Q. Oh, I see. 

A. It was a little building I n  there tha t  was made f o r  a barber shop. 
It was so r t  of between buildings. B i l l  Lewis's store was on that side, 
on the west of it, and these other buildings on t h i s  slde.  

ADDENDA ITEN 130 (ref. p. 312) 

Q. (Intemiewey reading out loud) "There was l o t s  of c a t t l e  . . . 11 

A. Had a big t e r r l to ry  . 
Q. Yes, sir. (resumes reading) "There was l o t s  of c a t t l e  fed In this 
country and l o t s  of E n  borrowing money . . . 11 

A. I t h o w t  of another man tha t  was a. cattle-feeder out there, HIS  
name was Gl l rnan.  I bet you've heard of' hlm, the G i l r r a n s  , They lived 
r ight  around that Dmkasd church. Right out i n  tha t  par t  of the country. 
He fed ca t t l e  a l l  the time. 
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Q. I see. Strikes a bell, but I can't  place them. What was his first 
m? Do you reca l l ?  

A. Hc w a s  an old man when I come up here. I don't how, but I h o w  
tha t  he was a great cattle-feeder because they a l l  went t o  h i m  f o r  
advice. Fellows tha t  were young men . . . and feeding ca t t l e .  

Q. They'd just drive the c a t t l e  in t o  the stock pens there by the 
elevator fo r  loading, would they? Just dr lve them along the road? 

A. Yes. matts the way they mved them those days, from the famn Jn 
t o  load into the t r a ins ,  you know, and then they'd get a car  set Tn and 
load them in to  the car. They had t o  picked up pret ty  quick, you know. 
That was called perishable -eight . You had t o  move tha t  s tuf f .  You 
couldn't l e t  livestock s e t  around because there was som of them would 
die. 

Then they got so they had t o  build t racers  on corn, If it was shelled 
in M a y  o r  June. Corn w a n '  t used t o  being blnned up in bins In them days 
and, If they'd she l l  a carload of corn and put It i n  a car and it set, on 
the t rack very long, why, i t ' d  get hot and they wouldn't handle it down 
at the cormrLssion houses. So, we had t o  put tracers on every carlo3.d of 
corn we shlpped out of a place. 

Q. What do you man tracers? 

A. Every conductor had t o  t e l l  how far he handled it and what hours he 
handled It and they could go and get those t racers  and see i f  there was 
anybody t o  blame fo r  It not being there on tiw . I never had one of them 
traced. 'Ihey alwws took care of them, I'll t e l l  you, (chuckles) when 
there was a t r ace r  on there.  

Q. me corn would get hot.  Would It mold o r  s o m t h h g ?  

A .  Yes. Ruin i t .  And t h a t ' s  so  fhny. Nowadays, they she l l  corm and 
put It i n  the elevators, load i k  time of ye= they want  t o ,  you mow. 
Why they've had tha t  old place down there with seven o r  e i @ t  thousand 
bushels h it. Put In i n  the wlnter and go tkrougn un t i l  next f a l l ,  mybe. 

Q. Wonder i f  tha t  has anything t o  do with the drying equlpmnt they use now? 

A. Well, I think t h a t ' s  the secret .  I t h h k  tha t  they dry It down to 
the ri&t place and it won't heat. 

Q. Yes. Get that m l s t m  out of i t ?  

ADDFmA ITEN 131 (ref. p. 315) 

A.  Well, they dumped it in to  a spreader. 

$. Oh? 

A. I don't remenber, at a l l ,  holw tha t  thing-I was a t r y h g  t o  thlylk how 
they did work it. It had a way of taklng down the end of-me end of the 
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car, I think, and they spilled It Into a trough and the trough had an 
elevator that took it up into the spreader and then that spreader 
spread It on the roadbed, you bow, level, and then the E n  followed 
that spreader with the . . . What Md they c a l l  them? They had long- 
I guess they were levelers. They had long bomds, s t r a l e t  edge, and 
a handle on each end and a mayl would work on each side and scrape 
that all until it was  perfectly level, and then they would trowel it, 
too. As quick as it was set  e n o w  t o  be  troweled, they would trowel 
i t .  And they really b d l t  a nlce road there. I tho@t we had a road 
for  the-but It wasn't no tlme mti l  she was just mocked a11 t o  pleces. 

Then they didn't have s tee l  l ike they have these days, When they put 
the new one In, they put s tee l  a l l  t h m m  it, you h o w .  Steel rods 
about that far apart .  

Q, Every s i x  Inches o r  so. (pause) Well, the one going i n t o  town 
is s t i l l  i n  pretty good shape, the extension there that runs In  town. 

A. Yes, and that . . . I never hew who was responsible for  that but 
I just s d s e  that John Waggoner and John Gerlach . . . 
Q. Yes, you have that here. 

that that in to  

Q. Let's see. ( r e s m s  readlng) 

ADDENDA ITEN 132 (ref. p. 3 

Q. (Interviewer reading out 

A.  Cap Wil l imon . . . and 

Q. Yes. Yes. Here, l e t  me 

loud) ' I .  . . klnd of believe they . . . 11 

John . . . and Wlnf'ield Kessler. 

see here. (resws reading) I t .  . . was the 
head of it. And I klnd of believe they had one of the Ripley boys i n  
there as c a ~ h i e r . ~ '  But It was Winfleld Kessler, instead of the Wpley 
boy. 

A. Yes. 

Q, Okay. (resums reading) "Seem t o  m like it was . Naybe Knotts was 
s t i l l  there. I c m l t  remerrber when Knotts left the bank." 

A. No. Knotts was gone. When Cap Wi1liarru;orl went In, he took Knottls 
place. 

Q. Oh,  I see. Yes. 

A. So . . . Knotts was gone for som tine before that .  

Q. Okay, l e t ' s  see. ( r e s m s  r ead& 
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ADDENDA ITEN 133 (ref. p. 316) 

A. And P@rk Waggoner was i n  there.  I should have mntioned him* He 
learned enou@ there t o  go out as a bank examiner. 

Q. Yes, sir, we mntioned tha t  l a t e r  on. 

A ,  Did we? 

Q. We referred t o  M a r k  belng In there. Yes, slr. 

ADDEHDA ITEM 134 ( re f .  p. 316) 

Q. And actually he ' s  . . . the d l m a n .  Dellvery , nm. 

A. J i m i s ,  yes, but the boy Is down south someplace. 

Q. Well, thls i s  sombody else, then, not Jim. 

A. No, i t ' s  Jimts boy. Jim and Normats son. 

Q. Oh, I see. I see. 

A. They just had the one chi ld.  

Q. Yes. Well, I misunderstood tha t .  Okay, good. This is J i m  Crabtree 
and Norm Long's son? 

A. Son. Yes. 

Q. Okay. And, l e t ' s  see, I guess Harold Warner hadn't c o w  into the 
bank at tha t  t i m ?  

A. Not yet ,  but he did along about tha t  t im . I think . . . I think he 
followed Kess. 

Q. I see,  

A. When Kess . . . Kessts health falled. He had too much. He was carrying 
the burden of the s t o ~  and the bank and he just had too much, so I think he 
jus t  qul t  and l e t  Warmer step in.  Tom Taylor wanted Wmer in there, If he 
could have him, and Warner made a good man. 

Q. Yes, he 's  quite a fellow. L e t  's see. (resums reading) 

Q. Si r ,  I was wondering. Here, at t h l s  point, you indicate tha t  there 
was a townshlp tha t  you were looking at and then l a t e r  on you said there 
were t@e townships, I thilnk it w a s  . . . 
A. There was mre than tha t .  There was three rrrllllon acres. It had been 
Indlan t e r r i to ry .  It had been thrown open for  s e t t l e m n t ,  you know, and 
it had been range country f o r  a nwrbcr of yews but there were a few squatters 



and there Were a few fellows that; had mmled squaws were livlrlg out 
there,  too. !There w a s  just  a few--a favm now and then i n  there. Well., 
you could get a l i t t l e  idea of what thin@ was l i k e  t o  go t o  those 
places, you how, and see. 

We had t o  have provisions for a full week and we ran out on Pdday night. 
We just  barely had breakfast Saturday rrmrmlng. 

Q. Yes, sir.  Yes, you mntloned tha t  here In a l i t t l e  b i t .  Let ' s  see.  

ADDEJ\IDA ITEM 136 (ref. p. 318) 

A. We left  tha t  up t o  him. I to ld  him, I says,  "Now, you how the best 
land tha t  's i n  here. You've been all over it, " and I says, "take us t o  
the best land. Jut skip the kind you wouldn't buy yourself." And he 
said, ! ' A l l  right, I'll do it." So, he took us down and s t a r t ed  w in .  
It really wasn't a very b ig  creek but it drQhed a leve l  valley and he 
took us in and s t w e d  us i n  on tha t  and that was, looked t o  r r ~  lilce, 
good land. O f  c o m e ,  there was no way of t e l l l n g  anything about it. 
They'd burned the grass off  of it. It d been pass tha t  he@ and they'd 
se t  f i re  and . . . 
Q. Two o r  three fee t .  

A. . . . burned the whole thing off  and it was clean. You could see 
the soil. See how the grass had grown on it. You knew there W a s  some 
good In it. 

Q. There weren't any trees or  forest  i n  there? 

A .  No. Nothing at a l l .  So, he s tas ted  i n  that way and he showed us 
m u n d  and he says, l'You've had a l o t  of experfence on farrnlng, haven't 
you?" and I says, llYes, I'm a f m r .  I t  I says, ItI've got stock at home. I' 

he says, "1 want you t o  help with the team and the wagon. I ' m  
going to choose you for that  and these other fellms can help With the 
ten ts  and so on," and he arranged all of: it before we even got t o  a carrrp- 
gourlrl, you krlc3w. 

Then we camped md s ta r ted  i n  the next mrming. He went to readlng stakes 
t o  us. Ileld come t o  a corner stake and held say, "Now, t h i s  is section 
so-and-so and township so-and-so. If you waYlC t o  b id  on a section here, 
why, write It down i n  yom book." So, we each had a book--a notebook, you 
how, and wrote l t  down. And tha t  ' s  what I bld--I bid on sixteen pieces, 
but I was way below the Oklahomlms. They mew the land and I dlldn't. I: 
don't even t h b k  tha t  schoolteacher got any. 

Q. C h ,  is that r%@t? (pause) Letts see, 

ADDENDA ZTEDI 137 ( r e f .  p. 320) 

Q. Okay. b e s  that  sound a l l  r i @ t ,  s l r ?  
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A. Yes, I t ' s  a11 right .  I don't think I'm l i ab le  fo r  anything in there. 
But I w a s  uneasy about tha t  other when I got t o  thlnklng about how rrany 
people had died slnce. 

Q. Yes, sir. Yes, 1'11-as a m t t e r  of fact, 1'11 get on tha t  as soon 
as I get horn and get tha t  s t ra lmtened out. (pause) 

A. You know, I can't hardly ~ a l i z e  I ' ve  l ived so  long. It just don't 
seem possible. When you go t o  thinking back over the people you knew 
and so rrany_ of them s e  dead. 

Q. Yes. Yes, I h @ n e  it i s  kind of an odd feeling. 

A. Either dead o r  mved away, you h o w .  

Q. Yes, sir. 

A. You haven't heard any word f'rom them f o r  y e w  and So on. S o ,  I 
just  . . . 

Q. Sir, t h i s  is the last of the r e m l a r  sessions. Now, l e t ' s  See, you 
said you rriL&t be leaving i n  October. 

A. Yes, i f  we go. 

Q. Okay. Well, on t h i s  narration tha t  I'm collecting here as I yead, 
you how, we'll want t o  redew tha t ,  o r  at l eas t  par ts  of it. Sam of 
it tha t  a r e  just footnotes o r  just explanation probably wouldn't have 
t o  [be]; but  SOB of the additional subjects tha t  you brlng up, we pro- 
bably would llke t o  have them reviewed and I won' t have them ready for 
review u n t i l  about Noveder. So, maybe I can send them t o  you If you 
p on out there. I could send them t o  you and then you could work with 
Nel, perhaps, o r  sombody and s l t  down and go through them and see what 
you think on them and then send them back t o  me. So . . . 
A. I don't think t h e y ' l l  need reviewing. I think you've @t it as I 
told it . . . 
Q. Yes. 

A. . . . and just l e t  it @ at t h a t .  

Q. Well, we could do t ha t .  Yes, sir, I . . . 
A. Yes, just l e t  her go. 

. A l l  rI@t, s l y .  

A. I t ' s  a navrzltfve of d n e ,  anyway, pract ical ly ,  I s n ' t  it? 
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&. Yes, sfr. Yes, we don't change it a b i t .  We t r y  t o  keep it exactly 
the  way . . . 
A. Well, tha t  s what I say and i f  there ' s  any fau l t  t o  flnd wlth it, 
It can rest on m. 

Q. Well, 5: don't knm what f au l t  there would be tha t  . . . 
A. Oh, there ' s  plenty of fellows tha t  know more about the early history 
of machinery than I did. A l l  I knew was the prac t ica l  use of it, you b o w ,  
and tha t ' s  what I'VE: t r i e d  t o  give you a l l  tQe way thmu.@. I didnlt know 
anythbg about the m u f a c t u r e  o r  anything about the . . . 
&. Well, see--I thlnk we touched on tha t  before. If a person wants t o  
know exactly what one looks llke and how ilt worked, he could go t o  m u -  
facturing records and tha t  sor t  of thing and probably f ind drawings of 
them and tha t  so r t  of thing, but where would he go I f  he wanted t o  find 
out what it fe1.t l l k e  t o  use one o f  those things? 

A ,  You bow, back . . . back i n  the e a r l i e r  days, I heard old men t e l l  
about them; the f'irst plows didnt t have s t e e l  mldboarrds . They were 
wood and they sald It w a s  the awrulest Job t o  go In  the tirrber t o  find 
a t r e e  tha t  had a t w i s t  i n  it that  they could cut out t o  get t ha t  shaped 
moldboard. 'Ihey would search t;hem out, then they'd cut off  a block and 
make a rimer of mldboards f r o m  It, you know, and polish It. 'They sald 
tha t  a f t e r  tha t  got hand polished, It was pret ty  near as good as a s t e e l .  
. . .  Then the s t e e l  people-they didn ' t  wear as long, you know, they 
wore out-the steel people cam out--Hapgood at Alton came out with the-- 
it was jus t  a plow factory, a foundry. PQ fa ther ' s  brother worked i n  it 
and he used t o  t a l k  t o  IE about the different things they did t o  W e  a 
plow. In fac t ,  I think he had a l i t t l e  t o  do wilth the shaping of shares. 

Q. This was down at  Al.ton, you say? 

A, Yes, but t h a t ' s  a l l  long gone. I haven't heard of Hapgood in ,  oh, not 
In f i l r ty  yeam. 

So, those e a r l i e r  things tha t  really were dfscoveries-you bow,  somebody 
had an idea and worked it out and then you wonder why they didn't think of 
it sooner. And why don't w e  think of a l o t  of things sooner, nm? 

Q. I don't know. I t ' s  rea l ly  somthlng, Isn't i t ?  O f  course, thlnklng 
of something and actually putting it in to  production o r  gettlng the design 
accomplished and gettilng It so It . . . 
A. It i s n ' t  everybody tha t  can do tha t .  Have t o  have a rrQ.n with the 
genius of a McCormlck o r  som of those E n  t o  be able t o  do it. 

Q. Well, l e t  get s ta r ted  reading here. We were--this is  the start of 
sesslon t en  and we  wpm i n  Lawton, Oklahoma, you lmm. 

ALIDENDA ITIN 139 (ref. p. 333) 

A. But they d ldn t t  belong with the mchine. They belonged t o  the nei&bors 
tha t  they threshed for .  



Q. So they weren't rea l ly  par% of the crew, they weE just--I see. 
Yes, slr. 

A. Every man furnrlshed h i s  own bandcutters, you mow. When he called 
the machine In, he had picked out who he wanted t o  cut bands. Who to 
pitch and who t o  haul bundles. 

ADDENDA ITEN 140 (ref. p. 337) 

Q. (Intepvlewer reading out loud) "Well, then, when . . . I I 

A. There had t o  be a man run tha t  thlng, t o  turn It. 

Q. I see. Where would he stand? 

d l d n v t  put that  In. 

Q. Yes. Where would he stand? On the gmmd o r  . . . 
A. On the ground. He had a blg pole t o  the bottom of tha t  upright pole 
so he could have Leverage t o  handle a load of hay, see, a d  he would 
swing it. You always had t o  have an extra  man i n  stacking i n  the f i e l d  
for that  reason, t o  take care of tha t .  

Q. So then the horses would help him sometims when you weye swlnglng 
it back over, when they  'r l  pulled 1.t out-I see. Yes, sir. Okay. 

ADDENDA ITEN 141 (ref. p. 346) 

Q. So, t h a t ' s  session No. 10.  That's a l l  the r e g u l m  sessions, sir. 

A. So, you got a l o t  of junk. (laughs) 

Q. Well, we got a l o t  of words. I don't know, I'm going t o  have t o  w a i t  
u n t i l  l a t e r  t o  figure out how much, whether it's junk or  not. f d ldn t t  
b r h g  a t ab le t  with m,  (posltloning the t ranscr ipt  fo r  M r .  A i b m ' s  
signature) 

A. Oh, tha t  s a l l  r l @ t .  

9. Is tha t  f i rm @no@? (Mr.  A l l r m a n  signs t ranscr ip t )  

A. I just hope it gets you your diploma. 

Q. Oh, yes , s i r .  It'll do tha t .  Oh, I got an A out o f t h e  course. The 
course 1s all Mished,  I got an A out of it, yes, sir. 

Q. Yes. 

A. Good enough! 

Q. Oh, I mew I'd do tha t .  



A. You went back in while you were s t i l l  able t o  concentrate, you see. 
I You didn  l t  lose the-that a b l l l t y  . That 's a great factor.  I can1 t ~ concentrate. 

I ~ Q. Oh, i s  tha t  rimt? 

~ A. Don't do m m y  good. I can read a thin&-last n i@t ,  I looked up 
a telephone n&er herr and got it i n  my head, I t h o m t ,  and turned 
around t o  get a pencil t o  write it down and it w a s  gone. 

8.  Well, I do tha t .  Half the t h e  when I go look up a nmrber like 
1 t h a t . . .  

A. Well, it wasn't always tha t  way. You know, In  telegraphing you had 
t o  copy behind and you had t o  learn t o  remrrber a word o r  two that had 

1 already gone. So, when I qui t  t ha t ,  why, I could concentrate very good. 

A. But . . . Yes. Then, f i f t y  years, or s i x t y ,  o r  seventy makes a 
difference . 

1 Q. Y e s , s i r .  I g u e s s s o .  

A. Are you a Chrfstian? 

1 Q. Yes, sir. Methodist. 

A. Good for  you! That makes m l ike  you better. 

Q. Well! (laughs) Yes, I 've  always belonged-all nly t rave ls  a d  every- 
thing, I ' ve  stayed r i @ t  with the Methodist church there i n  Waggoner. 
Actually, nly family, a l l  of them and rr~y gmndmother, especially, she . . . 
A. Well, I h e w  h e l a  a d  and Freela was strong. I thought a l o t  of Freela. 
We used t o  visit, t a l k  about different  thlngs. (pause) So, I'm ,just ml*tty 
glad t o  know tha t .  

I 
I Q. Yes, I miss G m d m .  You know, I always, living In t ha t  house where she 

l ived so long, you how, you have a feel lng ewry  once In  a while tha t  she's 
sittine; there next t o  you o r  looking over your shoulder o r  smthlne; ,  you 

1 how. It 's ldnd of a cozy feel ing sornetlms. 

A. (chuckles) Why, you a re  p repz ing  t o  M e  tha t  a home for the future? 

Q. Yes, slr. Matter of f ac t ,  t h i s  evening we 're putting in new baths-- 
, the place has never had a r ea l  bath, you mow. Just  a comer had been 
I cut off  and mde in to  one. This evening I want  t o  get the 2-by-4's, *om 

the old--you know, we 've taken out som sections and are putting in new. 
Well, the old 2-by-4 s are  different s h e  from the new ones, they ' r e  biggey. 
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A. Yes. 

Q. Yes, qulte a b i t  bigger. 

A. !They were - 2-by-4'sl - 

Q Yes, sir. Well, almost--not qui te ,  but almost. But; they won't f i t  
with the others. I took what used t o  be the old main door--you know, 
s i n g  out t o  the southwest, towards town. I took tha t  out. That ' s  where 
we1Pe b u i l l h g  the baths In  and I 've  pt t o  b u l l d  tha t  wall back i n .  So 
t h i s  evenhg I 've  got t o  go through b ig  woodpile out there and f ind 
enough 2-by-4's of tha t  old stuff to--because the other won't be wide 
e n o m ,  you see. 

A, But you've got somethhg t o  work with in, t ha t  old s t u f f .  

Q. Oh, yes sir, t h a t ' s  good wood. 

A, If you can keep fl-orn h l t t i n g  nails, i t ' s  still wonderrul. 

Q. Well, I was pmt ty  c;rrefil. Where I could salvage it, any that I 
salvaged, I just  went throu* and cleaned out every n d l  I could find. 
O f  course, I dildnlt get them a l l  but,  you know these new blades you 
have on these circular saws? They'll just go r ight  thm@ a d l ,  it 
wmtt hurt them a b i t .  They're d e s i ~ e d  for it and they have . . . 
A .  On a circular? 

Q. Yes. 'They have a chromlum edge on--well, not a l l  the blades. They 
have blades tha t  m e  designed fo r  tha t  and they ' 11 Jus t  cut right throug23 
the s t e e l .  

.A. Well? 

Q. They have a chmm edge blade . . . 
A. I ' d never hewd tha t .  

&. Oh, yes. Sparks w i l l  f l y  a l l  over everything. 

A. I 've  hocked the points off of a saw m n y  a tire, pip h t o  an old 
rlall, you know. 

Q. Yes. I can't saw wodh a domone with a regular saw. Always curves 
on m, I don't know why. (lams) I just can't do it. Well, I 've  never 
done it enoum, I g u ~ s s ,  t o  get t o  I could. 

A. While we were talking about accomplishnents of f m r s  back there,  I 
thouffht of sowthing e l se .  A l l  of them were jacklemed carpenters, too, 
Practically a l l  of them. They could build thlngs, you h a w .  Thinp they 
needed about the place. If they couldn't, they had a nel@bor tha t  could, 
tha t  they coul-d trade work with and get it done and get it done without 
paying the exorbitant price you'd have t o  pay for a mion m. Nowadays, 
it i s  not -- so. (lams) 



Bert Allman 

&. No, sir, sure not. ( l a w t c r )  Uke  tha t  chicken house and that 
hog house tha t  you b u i l t ,  dld you bu3.ld them yourself or  . . . 
A. No, I hired a carpenter. Thwe was a capen te r  i n  town there,  at 
tha t  tlme, and he belonged t o  the d o n .  When I went to him t o  h i r e  
him, I says, l 1 1  want you t o  do t h i s  work f o r  rn . And he says, "Well, 
Bert, I ' m  a union m. I 've got t o  charge you mion wages." I says, 
tlThat's what I expected." I says, "I don't ask you t o  cut your waes 
a t  a l l .  " So, when he come out here and went t o  work, he didn't  q d t  
at  eight hours. He says, "I have t o  charge you d o n  wages, but,  he 
says, "there 's nothing sa id  about how mny hours I can put In. l1 He 
put I n  t en  and twelve hours l o t s  of days. 

Q. And just  charged you for  e i @ t ?  

A. Yes, and charged fo r  eight,  you know, because we were good fkiends. 
He and I worked together. He could m k  of f .  I: could saw fairly* good. 
I could cut lwrber and he could rneasm it and t e l l  what was wanted. 

Q, What was h l s  nam, sir? Do you rernerrbcr? 

A.  H i s  name was Barrm. 

Q. Barrow? 

A. I?-A-R-R-GW. Charlie Barrow. He was a f ine,  Christian gentlemn, 
He mved away f?om here and went t o  Granite Crlty. Oh, I don't think he 
l ived very long down there.  I never dild know, I los t  track, you how, 
after he mved away. But he had a son tha t  p w  up I n  the Sunday school 
there, while I was act ive In Sunday school work, t ha t  is  a Baptist preacher 
i n  the Association now and he 's  working out of Springfield there, at present. 
He's a fine fellow, too. O f  the  two, MY. and M r s .  B m  w e r e  f b e  people. 
Mi&ty fbe. 

Well, before he went t o  Granite City, he w a s  out of work fo r  quite a whil-e 
and he says, you think I could run tha t  elevator?" He says, " I ' m  
pret ty  sure I can keep the books." He says, ''1 h ~ m  enou@ about tha t ,  
but , ' I  he says, Itdo you t h U r  I could bqy gain?" And I says, 'Well, ChwUe, 
you buy on a gmde . I f  you buy it by grade, why, tha t  I s  all that ' s  nrces- 
sary. " I says, "SelVng w i l l  be the hard thing fo r  you. I t  I says,  "You'll 
have t o  get i n  touch with c o d s s i o n  rrm and make them understand tha t  you're 
going t o  h a w  t o  depend on them and show them t ha t  you're honest and you ex- 
pect them t o  be." 

So, he went in and worked i n  the  elevator for one whole season md it 
was a w r u l  hard on him because that was out of his l ine,  you lolow. Different 
f'rom carpentering. Worklng with a bunch of E n ,  a l l  the t im, every day, 
you how. You'd have a bunch of men you worked with, especf a l l y  when grain 
was mvlng. And he made a blg mistake right on the st&. I t r l e d  t o  stop 
him but couldn ' t . He jus t  thought he saw a dividend fop the compmy. At that  
tlme it was a co-op. There was a l o t  of corn stored In the country, I n  the 
ew, and he could she l l  it a l l  r l @ t ,  but we  couldn't get cars t o  ship It. 
I knew tha t ,  and he d idn ' t .  He went out and b o w t  several of those cr lbs  
and glve them a good price fo r  it. b d  It i n  h i s  hands thel'e and had t o  



s h i r t  it and shif't It t o  keep it f'rorn heating, you know. So, I t e l l  
you, he l e m e d  t o  be cautious f m m  tha t  t im on. 

Q. Couldn't get It moved out. He could s e l l  it a l l  EL&;, but he . . . 
A. Couldnlt move it a t  a l l .  There's a l o t  of t h i n g  tha t  you got t o  
how in grain business, I ' ll  t e l l  you. 

Q Was t h i s  before Rome Vignos got in? 

A. Yes. That was before Rome was taken in .  Afterward, they took i n  
Rome and Rome just had a h i @  school education but he had e n o m  book- 
keeping tha t  he was a p o d  bookkeeper. Rome had a f e t i s h  fo r  accuracy. 
Boy, I never worked with a man tha t  was crankier about accuracy than Rome 
Vi@;nos. I worked wlth those fcllows in the banlr; where you had t o  be 
accurate, but Rorremkcz you show why. If you d idn ' t  come up wlth t h e  
r lght  answer, "Well, why? You be t t e r  g~ back and do It over." So, I 
soon learned t o  work with ROE Vignos on an accuracy basis .  

I weighed fo r  him two f a l l s .  Of c o m e ,  you had a cer tain amount of the 
books t o  keep, o r  help wlth. Then, i n  coming t o  s e t t l e  up, why, we had 
a machine there-it i s n ' t  a comptomter, It Isn't  an addlng mchine, I 
don't know what they did c a l l  it. Cost a l o t  of money. You can run figures 
through It just as accurate as they do these machines today, but he wouldn't 
use the thfng a t  al l .  You had t o  do every bit of it wlth a pencll. ( l a q b t e r )  
Ilc jus t  woulctnlt do it. He'd use it for making out t lcke ts .  For Instance, 
you cone in  with a load of corn. We weighed it and, why, he'd $0 and get 
It on tha t ,  v w i o  the weights and the t a r e  on that t h g ,  and put on the 
t i cke t .  He'd use it tha t  mch, but tha t  was the  extent.  

Q. So, every evenlng you had t o  . . . 
A. You had t o  sun your books careful.  

&. And you had t o  do It a l l  by hand. He wouldn't use the . . . 
A. Yes, sir! Wj-th a pencil. And, you know, a l l  to ld ,  tha t  was what 
got wife on her e m  so. I had t o  work d & t s  so rmny tirtles and she 
f ina l ly  decided tha t  I wasn't t o  work away f r o m  hone at a l l .  I just  quit. 
Rome wanted m back so  bad he even COW t o  see her. He says, "Just have 
a l i t t l e  p i t y  on me." She says, 'Well, you haven't had any on me!" She 
says, " I ' m  not l e t t i n g  him go. " ( l aumte r )  But he got along just as well. 
He got Charles Hampton, a boy right out of high school that was quick in 
figures. He got him In there and he done just as well, o r  be t t e r ,  than 
he did with me and I could stay a t  home and take care of the stuff here. 

&. Was t h i s  Dorothyls boy? 

A ,  Yes. He's working fo r  the S ta te  now. I don't r e d l y  know what h i s  
job i s ,  He's an inspector of the places where trucks are  Inspected and 
he has t o  pp i n  and see tha t  those fellows keep up t o  snuff, tha$ they 
have the proper equipmnt and so on. He drives as much as two hun&ed 
miles a day. He  has seven countiles around here t ha t  he visits, so he 
has a pret ty  b l g  job. 
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I never worked for  the State. Railroad and bank and elevator is 
the extent of-and then the farm. And I llked f d n g  beat  of all 
of it. I f  I was a young mn and could go back on a f a ,  I sure 
would be t ickled pink. 

Well, I wanted t o  ask you,. also. You own the land where the high 
school buildlng stands, dont t you? 

Q. No, sir. 

A. Well, I man east of It? 

Q. No, A m t  Estell. Estel la  Kessler, 

A. Oh, I s  that Stell's? Well, do you own it across the ~'oad? 

Q. No, that  's Bob and Roy and Dan. They m that. 

A. Where's you- land? 

Q. I don't have any land, other than the two acres there around the 
house . 
A. Oh, I thomt you had a fm, too. 

&. No. No, slr. I can't  take care of ny U t t l e  two acres there mound 
the house. What would I do with a famn? (lamter) 

A. Yould rent it. 

Q Yes. Yes, probably would. No sir, I don't own any of the land. 

A. Well, I declare. I thought tha t  was your land. 

Q. No sir, t h a t ' s  Amtles nofih of the road and Bob and Roy and Pan south 
of the  . . . 
A. Well, l e t l s  see, who was Stell? I've t r i e d  ta think. 

Q. Aunt S te l l ?  

A. Yes. 

&. Well, she was Winfield Kesslerls wife, of c o m e  . . . 
A. Yes. 

Q. . . . and she was . . . 
A. I knew her f'rorn a girl. 

Q Yes, well, she's my aunt. She was grand$atherls second da@ter. 
There w a s  an older girl tha t  i s  dead now. 
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A. Oh, Sport;'s d a w t e r  then, huh? 

Q. Yes. Right. 

A. A sister to Wayne? 

Q, That's right. Yes. 

A. Oh, now I ve got her straight . 
Q . She Is a little b i t  ol.der than Uncle Wayne was. 

A. Yes. 

Q. You h e w  Uncle Wayne. There was--Florence was the older girl, and 
then Aunt % t e l l ,  then Wayne, and then father,  Horace. That was the 
four children. Then there was an adopted girl, a girl tha t  lilved with 
them, In addit lon t o  that. She i s n ' t  living, either. She mved to 
Indhna very easly in--I've forgotten her name, now. She m i e d  a Hayes, 
her last m was Hayes, but I . . . 

A. Well, I didn't know her, I guess, but I did know tklose others. A11 
of them. No, I don't believe I: knew that o l d ~ s t  0 1  you mntianed. I 
thf rk  she was aww fYom  he^ when I mved up here. 

Q. Yes, she m r r l e d  a P e t i t .  

A. A Pe t i t ?  

Q. Yes, and 7: don't how where they llved. 

A. I think she was away k . o m  here when I mved up here, but I remrker 
Wayne and Stell and your dad, real well. But I ' ve  been trying t o  place 
S t e l l .  I just  couldn't do it. 

Q. Yes, she ' s  Sport; s . I ' d never heard tha t  he was called that .  Sport;, huh? 

A .  Yes. 'Ihat w&s a n2cknam they had for him womd town there.  Sport;. 

E;ND OF TAPE 

END OF VOLUME: m ADDENDA 


